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[Case Called at 9:13:45]

THE COURT: Okay. 8o, just for everybody's information, you
plan to call who today?

MS. LYNCH: Today I have Mr. Chaghouri's continuation.

THE COURT: Mm-hmm.

MS. LYNCH: I have Mr. Randall, Mr. Oxtiz, Dr. Shah, Trooper
Gagne -- who was the other one? -- Trooper Perxy.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. LYNCH: If I might just have one minute, Your Honor.

THE -COURT: That's okay.

MS. LYNCH: Dr. Shah will be at two o'clock. Oh, Hari
Arisetty.

THE COURT: All righty.

MS. LYNCH: And possibly Anthony Perrotti.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. LYNCH: And I alsc have Alisha Zimmermann on call.

THE COURT: Okay. Are any of the witnesses outside that I
need to give a seguestration order to at this time?

MS. LYNCH: Possibly Mr. Randall, but I think he's by
himself.

THE COURT: Okay. All right. Well, then we can continue
with Mr. Chaghouri.

[TALAL, JOSEPH CHAGHOURI, Sworn.]
CONT. DIRECT EXAMINATION OF WITNESS, TALAL JOSEPH CHAGHOURI

BY MS. LYNCH:
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Q Good morning, sir. For the record, would you please state
your full name and spell your last name for the record. -
A Talal J. Chaghouri, C-H-A-G-H-O-U-R-I.
Q Now, Mr. Chaghouri, your testimony -- I'm going to go back to
your testimony from the last hearing date. On Friday, the first
time you saw -- you spoke to Alan Greenough that day was when he
called you in that evening to report misconduct by Devin; is that
right?
A That's right.
0 And when he called you, you thought he sounded like he had a
couple of glasses of alcohol, just from his voice; is that right?
A Yeah, his voice wag & little different, yeah.
Q Now, you had talked to Anthony about that that evening and
the following day as well, is that right, that --
A That's correct.
Q -~ whole incident?

And Anthony told you that he didn't sound that drunk to him;

is that right?

A Yes. Yes, ma'am. I did --

Q And --

A -- mention that, and he said that.

Q And that wag because Alan was usually more raging and angry

when he was drunk; is that right?
A I -- I don't know if that was the reason or not. I'm not

sure.
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Q Did you gay that, though, --

A He would. Yeah, he would -~- - -

0O -- to the police?

A -~ be raging at some points but not every time.

Q Okay. But during your interview with the police, that's what

yvou told them: that Anthony didn't think he was that drunk because

he's usually ranging when he's drunk.

A Did I mention that? Can --

0 Yes.

A -- I read it? Can I see 1it?

O Sure. I just want to get that interview book. Yeah, I'll
bring this up. Direct your attention to -- "But to his brother,

he did not sound like normal. Like, you know, he would be more
ranging and more -- But I could tell that he had a couple of
alcohol glasses or -- from the voice."

A Yes, yes. Okay.

Q So, you told the police that night --

A Mm~hmm.

Q ~- that when Alan was drunk he would be more raging.

A I've seen him, yes. I've seen him more raging, s;reaming.

You know, he was quiet when he talked to me that night on the
phone. But his voice sounded little bit, you know, different.
But he was not raging. He was calm.

Q And that was on Friday night.

A Yes, ma'anm.
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6-7
0 And you told the police that Alan had had some problems for --
he had not been stable for about two years; is that fair to say?
A Yes, yes.
0 Now, that particular evening, you did not go and do anything
with respect to what was going on according to Devin or according
to Alan Greenough.
A No, I stayed home.
Q Now, the following day when you arrived at work, that was in
the afternoon; is that right?
A Yes, ma’'am.
Q And at that time Anthony had been working as the manager
during the course of that day, prior to your arrival; is that
right?
A That's right.
0 Had you had any telephone communication with Anthony prior to
arrival at the office concerning what had taken place the night
before?
A No, no.
Q Okay. When you arrived at the building that day, the office

that day, Alan was not yet there; is that right?

A He was not seen to me.

Q Okay.

A He was not seen to me.

0 Were you aware of when he was on scene?

A I was aware after I talked to Anthony while I was still
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6-8
parking that, yes, Alan‘'s inside the apartment and his roommates
are going to leave because he had an argument with them.

o] Okay. So it was around the time that Devin and Kim Bellino
were going to leave that you arrived and realized that the --
A Yes, ma'am. They were in the car. They were talking to

Anthony outside. And very shortly after, they took off.

Q Okay. $So you then go into the office; --

A Yes.

Q -- is that right?

A That's correct.

Q Now, when you came -- when -- while you were in the office,

how did you first become aware that the police were there?
A That's a good question. Let me try to recall that. I think
I was deoing some work behind the desk and one of the emplovees

says, "The police cruiser is out here."

0 Was it Anthony that told you about the police being there?
A There was, like, 3-4 guys around me, ma'am, s0 I'm not really
sure. Bubt we were -- You know, it was a commotion. I know I came

out, I see the cruiser pull in front of me and make a U-turn and
come in. So -~

Q Okay. Well, do you recall telling the police on the night of
February 3rd that Anthony came in and said that the police had a
warrant and that they were there?

A I had no knowledge about any warrant. If I did say that,

it's probably just my English trying to explain --
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Q Okay.
A -- that they're coming from Al.
Q Well, I'm going to put your transcript in front of you and

ask you some questions about it.
A Sure, ma'am.
0 I'm going to direct your attention to page 22. I'm going to
have to use this.
A That's fine.
Q Twenty-two, I'm going to start all -- line 22.

"Trooper Connolly: Okay. So who got -- who alerted the
police to come into the house?”

"7 reckon is was Devin, his roommate, maybe. But we didn't
know. To be hones with you, we thought there's a warrant.®

This is continuing on page 23.

A OCkay.

Q "Anthony says, 'The cops are here.'"

A Okay.

Q " They got a warrant on my brothex. '

A Okay.

Q "So I say, 'Warrant is simple. Just let him go with it and

we'll bail him out no problem.'?

A Okay.

Q "But he was, you know, in psychic [sicl situation where he
did not want to go with nobody. Plus he opened the window and he

was telling the officers, 'Fuck you.' He was talking bad
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language.”

A Yes. I did say that.

o) And so, you told the police that it was Anthony that alerted
you that the police were there to arrest him.

A Sounds -- Yes, sounds correct. OCne of the four guys, as I
told you, told me. But I couldn't remember.

Q So, when you learned that during the business day there are
police officexrs there to arrest one of your tenants, what do you
do? Do you go outside? Do you stay in the office?

A Well, you know, whenever any police are present, the owner
really should be outside. So I -~ I tried. They had already
mentioned to me that the police came Friday night for Alan, very
shortly before. 8o I assumed that they're coming for the same
reason. And, yvou know, I did not make a big deal out of it. I --
I opened the door. If I remember correctly, I met the officers
halfway after they knocked on the door and they could not get a
response. And that's when they asked we for the keys and for the
other exit doors and the entrance doors and all the information.
0 8o you came out for a little while and talked to them, right?
A I believe so, because I was -- at some point, I was outside
seeing when Al opened the window and when they were knocking on
the door. I was outside and inside, outside and inside.

6] Now, in your memory of events, it was shortly after, like
within 20 minutes of the police officers arrival, that you

witnessed an incident between Alan inside the apartment and the
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6~-11
police outside of the apartment, where they talked through the
window. i
A Yeah. When -~ About 10-15, maybe, I would think. Or maybe --
maybe later. Maybe half an hour later.

Q Do you recall saying to the police during the course of your

interview that it was about 20 minutes, that it was a while?

A Okay .
Q That he didn't -- That he hid for a while.
A Yes. And they were waiting. And then, you know, they got

more backup, you know, as we go along.

o} I'm going to direct your attention to the book before you,
page 15, line 7: "I saw Alan after the police came. There were
just a couple of cruisers in the beginning. And they were talking
to him through the window. Well, not right away. Right away, he
was hiding."

A Yes, in the beginning he was not show -- he did not show
himself for, like, a few minutes until they found out he was
there.

Q And there was a period of time where there was an exchange
between Mr. Greenough and one ?f the officers.

A Yes, correct.

o} Now, during that time did you see Mr. Greenough with a stick
or a table leg in his hand?

A No, ma'am.

Q So you were present outside the window but you did not see
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6-12

him or hear him say that he had a stick and he was going to use
itg?

A No, I just see him pull the window with both hands. Both
hands were kind of occupied with the window getting pulled up.
And he screamed at the cops; they screamed back. They were
laughing little bit. And then he closed the window.

0 He said more than that, though, didn't he?

A Yeah. He -- You know, he said, "If you come get me if you

can,® and stuff like that. And, you know, there was some "FU

language.
0 There was lot of ¥F" language, wasn't there?
A T don't know about a lot. I mean, I 8 -- I've heard a few

words, you know.

0 In terms of what you witnessed, he told the police that he

that they were not going to arrest him, "PFuck you, " things of that

nature.

A Yes, yes.

Q He was angry at them.

A Yez, he -- he seemed that way.
Q He was using a lot of profanity.

A Yeah, he did use it. I don't know if '"a lot" a lot. But,

you know, he did -- You know, he was mad. You could tell that he

was, you know, --
Q So you witnessed this whole exchange outside between Mr.

Greenough and the police.
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6-13

A That thing -- Really, that exchange toock, like, 10 seconds.
That -- It was not really long-long exchange. He just opened the
window for, like, maybe 10 seconds and closed it.
0 Was that incident before or after Mr. Greenough came in and
threatened you with the stick?
A That was before.
Q Now, -~

MR. KOUFMAN: Objection, Your Honor. He did not say that
Alan Greenough came in and threatened him with a stick.

MS. LYNCH: Okay. Well, I will --

THE COURT: That's --

MR. PASCIUCCO: Objection. He did say that.

THE COURT: Yeah, that's overruled. I heard the testimony.
Thank vyou.
BY MS. LYNCH:
0 I'm going to direct your attention, sir, to page 19:

"Did you think he was going to hit you?"

"I was really afraid in the beginning because he was not
himgelf. "

"Yeah?"

"You could see that his eyes were going in all directions.
He was kind of threatening, but he did not really come too close
to me, to the counter. Like, you know, he stopped maybe four fee
away."

A Yes, yes.
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Q So you felt threatened.
A I did. I did feel threatened the moment I look up and seen a

guy with a big stick. Absolutely, I did, yes. But then when I

said -- As I told you, when I said, "Lower the stick, Al, please,6"
he did lower it. BAnd you ¢ -- the video would show that.
Q Now, you had testified at your last appearance that it was

Anthony who discovered that the door was unlocked; is that right?
A Yes.
Q And that Anthony saw the -~ Alan in the office with the stick
in his hand.
A Anthony g -~ saw him? No, he did not, ma'am.
Q Did you tell the peclice that you believed that his brother
and a police officer saw Alan with the stick?
A I don't recall that.
Q Okay. Directing your attention to page 20.

Detective Fitzgerald: "So, once he said that to you and you
said he had the stick raised in the air ---*

"Yeah."

"Okay. Where were the officerg?®

Mr. Chaghouri: "Officers were outside, across the ~- of the
door of the apartment.”

"Yeah.*

Mr. Chaghouri: "They had a little angle from that waiting
room. "

"Sure, " Detective Fitzgerald said.
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A Mm-hmm.
0 Mr. Chaghouri: "I think they saw him and his brother saw him,
too. Then when he went back inside, he must have forgot to lock
the door.™"

So when you were interviewed by the police that night, you
told them that it was your belief that Anthony and a police

officer saw your brother assault you with the stick.

A My --
) Or threaten you.
A My brother? No, my brother wasn't there.

0] Alan’s brother.
A Well, you just s -- I'm reading this, really, and I'm very
shocked reading it. I'11l tell you why: because I know Anthony was

outside that room.

Q Okay.

A And those two police officers --

Q Does -~

A -- that I mentioned, with an angle, they were looking like

this, straight. And we were, like, at the 30-degree angle. So if
I said that, I would like f£o hear me say that, because --
Q Okay.
A -~ because really I -- I would be, you know, --

MS. LYNCH: With the Court's permission, there is a recorded
intexrview.

THE COURT: Sure.
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MS. LYNCH: I'd like to play it for --

THE COURT: Yeah, absolutely.

MS. LYNCH: I think it's 1544.

THE COURT: Is there a section of this also depicted on the
video? Somehow it got --

MS. LYNCH: Of the interview?

THE COURT: No, of when the -- when he had the stick.

MS. LYNCH: Yes, the stick.

THE COURT: Yeah, okay. I might want to see that again, too.

MS. LYNCH: Yeah.

THE COURT: Okay? So maybe after you play this, if you could
have Mr. Chaghouri just go through that section on the video and --

MS. LYNCH: Yes.

THE COURT: Mm-hmm.

{Audio Playing at 9:32:08]
BY MS. LYNCH:
A See? See, ma'am?
[Andio Playing at 09:34:05 a.m.]

BY MS. LYNCH:

Q So, first you said to the police --
A Misspcken, ma'am.

Q -~ that the officer -~

A Yes.

Q -~ said that?

A Substance was not there. It was mis -- mis-language, mis --
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It was fear,

get my turn.

Q

A

Q

A

did not see him.

Why would they let him stay,

I'm not asking you for an explanation,
No, but I -~-

-- Mr. Chaghouri.
I s --

I'm asking you -~
I explained it.
-- what you said.
Ma'am,

I explained it 10

If they saw him,

something --

Q Exactly.

A -- that stupid?

0 Exactly.

A Why would I say something that stupid?
0 Exactly. But that's what you said the
A Ma‘am, it's -- it's wmis-smoke {gic] --
substance.

Q Now let's ~-

A I -- I've gaid that --

0] ~- look at --

A -~ many times.

Q

seconds later,

if they saw him?

6-17

it was six hours of waiting from 5:00 until 11:30 to

saying they probably

they would've arrested him.

Why would I say

last time.

It's not the

Let's look at the timeframe when Greencugh was in the room
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with you.

MS. LYNCH: And if I could just get the timeline exhibit.
BY MS. LYNCH:
Q Direct your attention to the video at -- This would be Camera
Angle C1, timestamp 1644:35, 4:11:45 p.m. Now maybe you'll -- it
would help if you --

[Video Playing at 09:35:35 a.m.]

BY M5. LYNCH:
A Okay. I'm on the phone here with Devell.
) Now, who is the person that entered?

A That's Alan.

Q So that's at --

A Yeah.

Q ~-- 1644:37 or thereabouts?

A Yeah. He's waving the -- He's showing me the two cops that

were standing in front of that apartment.

Q Oh, so he's telling you about the cops.

A When he -- Yes, with the stick. When he --

Q Sure.

A -~ went with the stick like this, he saw them. I said,
"Lower the stick. Don't let -- Al, lower the stick. Keep it
down." 8o he did, aftexr that.

THE COURT: And where are the two officers that --
THE WITNESS: The two officers were standing in front of his

apartment window. But you really can see them really clearly when
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you go to that section where I was.

BY MS. LYNCH:

Q Okay. Now let's go to the other camera angle and see what's

going on outside.

A At 1644 was --
Q Yeah.
A Sixt -- Okay.

[(Video Playing at 09:36:53 a.m.]
THE COURT: And where was Mr. Perrotti at that point?
THE WITNESS: He was outside the office.

THE COURT: Outeside.

THE WITNESS: He -- He was making phone calls and, you know,

{Video Playing at 09:37:31 a.m.]

BY MS. LYNCH:

Q S0, 1644:35 is when that's seen. And --
A Yeah,

9} -- do you see Mr. Perrotti now?

A Yeah. Now he's walking, I think, closer.

[Video Playing at 09:38:03 a.m.]

BY MS. LYNCH:

Q And then he walks back towards the police officers; is that
right?
A Yes, ma'am.

Q And the police officers only made it as far as the ice,
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beginning of the ice --
A Yes.
0 -~ separating that.

A Yes. That's why I said they have a 30-degree angle from that

window.

Q But you would agree that this area here is where the ice
began.

A Yeah.

Q And the officer only made it to the first threshold of ice --
A Yes.

Q -- before Anthony turned around and walked back towards him.

Would you like to see it again?
A No, I lost the substance. So, the officers walked to the ice
when Anthony what?
0 Anthony starts walking --

MS. LYNCH: If you could just back that up just a few
seconds.

{Video Playing at 09:39:07 a.wm.]

BY MS. LYNCH:

Q All right. So do you see Anthony just beginning to walk up

at 457

A Yes, ves.

Q And he's -- walks the extent of the ice.
A Ice, and then he goes back to 1t.

Q and then the officer's just standing on the edge.
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A Yes, they don't come.

Q They don't come close.

A No, they don't.

Q And it's your testimony that from that perspective that you
believe the officer saw --

A Could have.

Q Could have.

A Could have seen him if they turned their head 30 degrees to
the left.
0 So, just want to show you this picture, which for the record

is Exhibit 8. So, this is the area separating the pavement where
the iceway is; is that right?

A Exactly right.

0Q So the officer is about here, right?

A Right across of Al's window. If you see the --

Q Right.

A -- window there to the left, yes, they wexe right -- I could
see them.

0 Right there.

A Yes. Yesg, ma'am, right there.

Q So it's your testimony that you believe the officers saw it

in that window, which is located --
MSE. LYNCH: If I wmight just have one moment, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Bure.

BY MS. LYNCH:
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6-~22
A It's an -- 8-feet away from the other window. So I don‘t
think they saw it, ma‘am. They had to make an effort to turn
their head to the left to see.

Q Okay. SO now ~-

A Th -- That was the scary part for me.

Q Now you are revising your testimony.

a No, that was the testimony I've always said, wma'am.

Q So you never saw an officer looking through that window at

the time that Mr. Greenough was there.

A I -- Yes, I did see two officers looking at Al's window, not
the window to the left, ma‘am. There's -- Al's window ig right
here. And the window of the shop is right here. [Indicating.]

And the police officers standing right here, two of them. And Al
was doing this thing with the stick. 8o I was afraid if they
turned their eyes this way, they could see him. And then, guess
what? I'1ll be in the line of fire. So that was my concern, to
tell him, "Lower the stick, please, and get the hell out of here,
back in the apartment.®

Q But, Mr. Chaghouri, the blinds were drawn in the apartment,
with the exception of the window that Alan was talking to the
police through; is that right?

A I don't know. I wasn't examining no blinds, tc be --

Q Okay. So you --

A -- to be honest.

0 So you have no idea whether the officers could've even looked
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through that window to see Mr. Greenocugh coming in from that

office.

A Of course not. They're not going to see him.

Q Okay.

A Of course not.

Q So when you say the officers saw him and Anthony saw him,

you're just speculating.

A No, I just misspoken, as I told you because, 10 seconds
after, I corrected that by saying there's no way they could've
seen him, because if they seen him they would’'ve apprehended him.
Why would they leave him there threatening me with a stick? Their
job there was to arrest him, right?

0 Now, Anthony then came in after that happened. And that is
when -- And you indicated that it was approximately five minutes
later that Anthony came into the office.

And I'm going to bring this up to you. So, continue on page
20 to line 24:

Detective Fitzgerald said, "Forgot to lock the dooxr?"

"Yes. "

"Okay."

Mr. Chaghouri: "Because Anthony comes in about five minutes
later. And he says to me, ‘The door is open.' I said, 'Great,
bring the officers. Let them go in.! He said, 'Dude, I don't
want to do that right now 'cause I'm afraid. You know, he doesn't

want to come out. Just let me -- let me wait it out. Let me see
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what we can do.' And I guess he was looking for hig brother.
When he went inside, he didn't find him.®

"When Anthony went inside to try to look for Alan, were there
any police officers that went with him?"

"No, no. He went by himself."

"Ckay."

"Because the officers were still at the other side, outside.
They were, you know, at the main door. They were not -- They
probably did not have a clue that Al walked in for 10 seconds,

waving that stick, and then went back in there.®

A I agree. I still stick --

O Okay.

A ~-- to that, vep.

Q But you agree that your version of events is inconsistent.

A About what?

THE COURT: Can I just asgk one thing. Because then the --

After Detective Fitzgerald says, "Okay,"™ then Mr. Chaghouri
says, "But I think one officer seen him, the tall guy. The tall
guy. Tall guy, I think he seen him. The one -- one of the first
ones that was on the site.®

"Okay. You think he saw Alan with the stick??

"Yes, he probably did. And I mentioned that to them, too.®

What does that mean?

THE WITNESS: I don't know.

BY MS. LYNCH:
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Q Well, that wasn't the tall guy that walked up to the
threshold of the ice, was it?
A How do ~- I mean, I can't see really anything from here,
who's the tall guy and who's not. I mean, they were all tall if
you ask me. But, I mean, I xeally -- From -- From my angle, I
cannot really know for sure if they saw him oxr not. If they saw
him, that means they didn't do their job, because no one came in.
So -~
0 And when you said you did mention it teo them, that was after
Mr. Greencugh was shot.
a Yeah, at the end. O0f course.

THE COURT: Okay.

BY MS. LYNCH:

Q So you didn‘t --

A 'Cause I never got --

Q -- mention it to them --

A No, at the invest --

Q -~ at all.

A No, at the end, at the end, you know, when the guys -- Before

he took us I think I mentioned that.

Q So, continuing on, it was after Mr. Greenough came in the
office that the incident with the -- at the window, talking to the
officers, took place; isn't that right? Alan comes into your
office, he goes back into the apartment, and it was after that

that the window incident happened; isn't that right?
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6-26
A No, that's wrong.
Q Okay. Well, in terms of what was going on, --

MS. LYNCH: For the recoxrd, Your Honor, I would like to
reference the Reading Police radio transmissions concerning -- If
I might just get to the -- Okay. So, this would be Track 30,
Reading Police dispatch, 4:21:52. I'd play that.

THE COURT: Yes.

[Audio Playing at 09:46:53 a.m.]
BY MS. LYNCH:
Q Now, 1f the officers first wmentioned that there -- that Mr.
Greenough had a pole -~- happened at 4:21:52 p.m. accoxrding to the
recorded call, that would be 10 minutes after 4:11 when the
incident with the stick happened; is that right?
A This conversation was taking place between who? I'm sorry;

I'm lost, ma'am.

0 The radio transmission, the police radio transmission, did
you see it -- hear a man say, "He's got a pole," in that
transmission?

A So, that means they saw him, if they --

Q At 4:21.

A After he left my a -- After he left the office, you mean?

0 My point is this: you could be wrong on the sequence of
events; is that right?

A Not with the window, wma’am, because I never -- when he opened

the window, I wasg outside. And then I went to the office for a
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good 35 wminutes; I never left after. So I know --
Q Oh, you say you were outside of the office?
A Yeah, when the first -~ when the police came. When the

police came, we were in and out, in and --

0 Well, -~-
A -~ out periodically, every 5-10 minutes, you know, to go
check out what the progress -- And at one of the --

0 A1l right. Let me just --

A -~ events --

Q -~ ask vou this, though: --

A Yeah.

Q ~- 1f the tape showed Mr. Greenough in your office with that
pole -~

A Yeakh.

Q ~-- at 4:11, --

A Okay.

Q ~-- you would agree that 4:21 is 10 minutes later?

A Yeah, yeah, I agree. But can I hear that conver -- What was

THE WITNESS: What did you understand, Youxr Honor, from this
conversation? I don't know what I heard there. Two officers --
BY MS. LYNCH:

Q That's all you need to say. I'm asking you whether your
understanding -- 4:11 happens before 4:217?

A It's obvicus, vyes.
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Q

A

Now, vyou said that --

But something does not make sense, though. Something ig --
Well, --

-~ really not adding up here.

Exactly. That's what we're trying to get at: your statements

Mm-~hmm.
-- and why they don't add up.

Well, my statement has a video that shows you proved the time

that I said Al came in and when he walked out. And you have other

outside videos seeing me in front of that window when Al opened

the window. So, I don't know why -- you know, why vyou're

confusing me. I'm confused right now. I don't know what you're

trying to get.

Q

A

Q

So, you indicate that Mr. Perrotti --
Mm-hmm.

-- came in and you had a conversation with him about the --

Al coming into the office with a stick.

A

8!

door,

A

Q

A

Yes, I did tell him.

That after that, Al [sic] went into that room, tried the
found that it was unlocked, and came out and told vyou.
Yeah, he -- he -- he told me. He sald the door is open.
So it wasn't you that discovered that the door was open.

Of course not. I never moved from behind the counter. The

video would show that, too, as well.
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6-29
Q And so, Mr. Perrotti went into the apartment in that waiting
room on more than one occasion; is that right?
A Yes. We seen three times, I think, lasgt time, when we
watched that video.
0 Okay. Bnd one of those times, at 1701:32 on the timestamp, -
And that's the timestamp 1701:32.

[Video Playing at 09;51:03 a.m.]
MS. LYNCH: Now, just 1f you could pause that for a moment.

BY MS. LYNCH:

Q That is Mr. Pexrrotti, with the baseball cap; is that correct?
A Yes.

Q That's you across the counter, --

A Yep.

Q -~ with the blue sweatshirt.

A Yes, ma'am,.

Q And at the end ig Orlando Ortiz.

A That's correct.

Q Okay .

MS. LYNCH: If you would continue, please.
[Video Playing at 092:51:41 a.m.]
BY MS. LYNCH:
Q So, at 1101:52 {sic}, Mr. Peryotti has walked into that room
where the door is; is that right?
A Yeah, vyeah.

Q Is that when he discovered that the door was unlocked?
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6~30
A I don't know if that was the first -- first time he went in
that room or the second. It locks like 14 seconds it took him,
this time. When he seen the door unlocked, I think it was more

like 4 seconds, --

Q Okay. And so, he leaves --
A -- if I remember correctly. Yeah.
Q ~- at 17:02:24.
A Yeah.
MS. LYNCH: Now I'm going to ask the -- you to go to 1703:49,

please, timestamp.
[Video Playing at 09:52:52 a.m.]

BY MS. LYNCH:

o] That's Mr. Perrotti coming in?

A Yeah.

Q Okay. And he's out of sight at 50; is that right?

A Yeah, 51, maybe but we'll -- we’ll give it to you, no

problem. Fourteen seconds, fifteen seconds, seventeen. Okay.
[Video Playing at 09:53:27 a.m.]

BY MS. LYNCH:

A Twenty-five seconds. Okay.

Q Well, -- And so, you are outside at that time; is that right?
A I'm not there but I don't know where I am. I could be -~-

Q Okay.

A -- in the bathroom. I'm not --

MS. LYNCH: If we could --
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- - Bure.

MS. LYNCH: -- go to the other camera angle at around the

same time. Maybe 1f we could start at 1703:40.

[Video Playing at 09:54:07 a.m.]

BY MS. LYNCH:

A

Okay, yeah.

Okay. If we --

You're past that already.

-~ could just continue from there.

[Video Playing at 09:54:40 a.m.]

BY MS. LYNCH:

ig;

A

So, you're among the group leaving the office, --
Yeah. We're all --

-- Qgorrect?

We're all outside. Everybody's outside right now.

And then Mr. Perrotti goes back in, right?
By himself, ves.

1703:47.

Yes.

And the officers are all down there.

Mm-hmm.

And you'‘re standing between the officers and where the window

is that right?

I'm stand -~ Yeah, I'm -- I'm near them. But I'm not trying

to stop the officers, if --
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Q Okay. But --

A -~ that's what you're implying.
Q -~ you would agree that at the point when Anthony went into
that room --

A I was outside.

0 ~- for that period of time, you were outside and no officers

came down; is that right?

A No one came down until Anthony comes out.
o] Now, you indicated to the police that night that when Anthony
came in and said he left the door open -- that you said to him,

"Bring the cops in and let's get it over.”

A Yes.
Q And Anthony said to you, "I can't do that to him." Let me
just get the page -- 25, line 10.

Mr. Chaghouri: "But Anthony comes in and he says to me, 'He
left the door open.' I said, Bring the cops in there and let's
get it --~"

Detective Fitzgerald: "Right, right.®

Mr. Chaghouri: "You know, 'Let's get it.' He says to me, 'L

can't do that to him. Let me see. Let me go in and talk to

him. "
A Yes, ves. That -~- That --
Q And then you said, "He goes inside and he doesn't find his

brother. He calls, 'Al, Al,' and he comes out. He says, ‘'Al is

not in ~-- not here,'*®
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A Ckay.

Q "He said, 'He must have split from the window, from the rear
window. '™

A Yes.

0] "I ask him -- I say, ‘Was there no problem behind -- no
police --

A No police.

O ¥ -~ behind on the back?’ He said to me, 'I didn't see

anybody waiting behind.'™

1 Okay R L]
You continue: "So, ~-- And then Anthony walks out. I'm still
inside the office. So I'm doing -- I'm counting my cash and stuff

for the shift.®

A Yeah.
o) "And an officer comes in late on the scene, little
heavyweight, --"

Fitzgerald: "Uh-huh."

Chaghouri: "-- bald. And he comes running out of hig car.®
A Yeah.
0 "He parked his car all the way at the end."®

A Mm-~hmm.

Q "And he's running.®
A Yeah.
Q "And he's going in the direction where the Hummer is, --Y

A Yes.
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Q "Where isg the Hummer?®

"-- as if he knew this guy was going to be in that

direction.”
A Okay.
0 So, that night, you told the police that the officer that

showed up late on the scene --

A Mm-hmm .

Q -~ parked down near the house and immediately started running
A Yes.

0 -- to the area where the Hummer was.

A Yes, with his hand on his gun. 2and he was a heavyset guy,

tall, and he kept running.

Q Okay. And I just want to show you the video and see if you
want to amend your testimony.

A Well, we did amend it last time when you showed it to me in

your office, ma'am.

0 I'1l get there, believe me.
A Yeah, vyeah.
Q Direct your attention to the exterior camera and the

timeframe 4:29:30 real-time, 1702:20 according to the timestamp.
[Video Playing at 09:58:22 a.m.]

BY MS. LYNCH:

Q Now, that white car at the end there, that's your car; is

that right? I'm just going to point to it right now.
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A Yes, it is. Right there, yep.
Q This is your car, right? )
A Yes, ma'am.

0 And this is a vehicle that just pulled in? Black SUV? We'll
just go back. See that?

A I mean, there was a lot of them. It was not only SUV there.
If you really -- I mean, if you could see what was on the left,
there was --

0 I'm not asking you any question right now.

A Oh, okay.

Q I‘m just asking you -~
A Okay.
Q -- to watch the videotape.

A All right. I agree.

[Video Playing at 09:59:01 a.m.]
BY MS. LYNCH:
Q See the black 80UV pull in?

A Yes, I do.

0O See that white vehicle pull in?
A Yes, ma'am.
0 1702:22? See the officers getting out?

A Mm ~hmm .
0 So, all those -~ Those two vehicles. the people, go directly
towards the front of the apartment; is that right?

A Yes, ma'am.




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

22

23

24

25

6-36

Q And Mr. Perrotti then walks into the office; is that right?
A Yes.
Q Now, as this is going on, you are inside along with Mr.

Perrotti and Mr. Randall; is that right? Just if you'd observe

the people --

A We just all came --

Q -- coming out of the office, four people, five people in
total?

A Yes. So, we were inside and we all came out.

0 And then Mr. Perrotti went back in, correct?

A Yeah, vyeah, yeah.

0 And you're standing on the edge, talking to a customer. And
the police are still down in front of the house; is that right?

A Yes, absolutely.

0 This man is a customer that's walking in tﬁe foreground; is

that right?

A Yep.

Q And you remain outside --

A Yeah.

Q -~ and then go in. And then you come out with the dog,
right?

A Yep.

Q And you're standing there on the edge --
A Mm-hmm.

o} -- closest to the door.




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

20

21

22

23

24

25

A Yeah.

0 And then Mr. Per;ott; comes out.

A He runs ouf, yeah.

0 Now, is this when he tells the police about the door being
open?

A I -- No. That's when he tells them that he's brother is not

in the apartment, I believe.
Q So you believe he said the door was open before that, but
they didn’'t respond?
A No, no. He did not tell them that. No.
Q All right. Let's just stop this for a minute. Let's get to
this. That is the point when the police first became aware --
That's the first time that either you or Mr. Perrotti told the
police that door was unlocked.
A I agree, because that's when they ran after him.
Q Okay.

MS. LYNCH: So, if you would continue, please.

[Video Playing at 10:02:13 a.m.]

BY MS. LYNCH:
0 There's one officer, two officer, three officer, four
officer, and then five officer, and then person goes in after him;
is that right?
A Yeah.
Q And then Mr. Ortiz goes in.

A And that's Ortiz right there, vep.
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Q Yep.
[Video Playing at 10:02:43 a.m.]

BY MS. LYNCH:

0 This is My. Perrotti coming out; is that right?
A Yeah.
Q Now you see an officer walking towards the foreground; is

that right?
A Yes, this guy --

MS, LYNCH: Can you just --
A ~~- that passed --

MS. LYNCH: -- stop that?

BY MS. LYRCH:

Q Now, that is the officer that you said got out of his police

cruiser and immediately ran towards the Hummer like he knew

gsomeone was there.

A No, that's not, matam. I did not see him run. This guy came

with the group inside. He did not come out of --

Q Okay.

A -~ his car.

Q But didn’'t you say that one of the last officers --

A Yes. I said --

o] ~- on the scene --

A -- one of the last arrivals on the scene, he is the one, I
saw him running. But I could ~- But then I saw the video of the

guy running and it was cowmpletely different. So, -- And I




10

11

12

i3

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

acknowledged that. I told you this is --

MS. LYNCH: If you would continue, please.

A -- this is the one I meant.

MS. LYNCH: I have no question before you.
THE WITNESS: Yeah, no. Bub, Judge, [Indiscernible at
10:03:51 a.m. - pronunciation unclear}. It's not fair.
BY MS. LYNCH:
Q It's not fair if you keep changing your answers.
A I'm not changing. I'm showing you which officer that -- I
indicated I -~
Q All right.
A -~ saw him run with his hand on his gun.
MS. LYNCH: With the Court's permission, --
A And he's in the video.
MS., LYNCH: -- may I continue --
THE COURT: Yes, you may.
MS. LYNCH: -- to play the tape?
THE COURT: Yes.
MS. LYNCH: Thank you.
THE WITNESS: He's in the video. You'll see him.
[Video Playing at 10:04:11 a.m.]
BY MS5. LYNCH:
Q Now, you gsee Mr. Perrotti running at 1706:44, in that
direction?

A Yeah. But I was nowhere to see him, ma‘am; I was inside, 1f
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you can see that.

Q

A

0

that

A

Q

A

The officers run out.
Yeah, ves, I -~ I ~-

The officers run out and they head towards the apartment; is

Ilm — -
-- right?

T'm still inside. I did not hear any shots at all. So when

these guys come back running, that's when I indicated I saw them.

I was late but that's what I saw.

Q

hand

This is the woman police officer --

Yeah. And --

~- running in that direction?

and after that, you're going to see the officer --
And that's --

-~ I saw.

~-- you, right?

That's me right there, yeah.

And that's Mr. Perrotti, coming --

Yeah.

-~ back.

And this is the officer I showed, to the xright. He had his
on his gun.

THE COURT: Can you --

Okay.
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THE COURT: -- step down and just show me which officer?
THE WITNESS: The one -- Yeg, right here.
THE COURT: Step down.
M3, LYNCH: Yeah.
THE WITNESS: The --
MS. LYNCH: You could back it up, Ms. Cunningham.
[Video Playing at 10:05:37 a.m.]
BY MS. LYNCH:
Q That's the --
MS, LYNCH: BExcuse me; i1f you could stop that for a moment.
BY MS. LYNCH:
Q The first officer to run in that direction was the woman
police officer, correct?
A Yes, yes.
MS. LYNCH: Continue.
A It would be right through right here, to the right side.
(Video Playing at 10:06:24 a.m.]
BY MS. LYNCH:
Q And you would agree by this point Mr. Greenough has already
been shot.
A Yeah, but I didn't know that. I never heard no shots. The
only indication --
6] Okay.
A -~ I had was Mr. Perrotti coming out. He said, "They shot my

brother, they shot wmy brother."* And you have --
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S0, I'm just going to go back and ask you again: --

A Mm-hmm .

0 -~ you told the police the night it happened that the last
officer that arrived got out of his car and began running towards
the Hummer like he knew where the guy was, and that's when the

shooting happened.

A Well, vyeah, but I was wrong obviously because I --
0 Okay .
A -~ did not know when the shooting took place. I did not hear

the shots. All I sgeen: commotion and guys running with their

hands on their gun. And the lady cop --

Q So, -~

A -~ had her gun in the air. That's all T saw. I was late.
And --

Q So you were wrong about that.

A T was, --

Q Now let me ~-

A -~ yeah.

O ~- ask you about something else.

A Mm~hmm.

Q You told the police that the officers never came inside and

were never in that room; is that right?
A Ingside where, the office?
Q Tnside the apartment when you were there, up until this time.

A I don't -~ I don't know what I said, ma'am. Can I see it?
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Q Yes. Page 26, starting at the top:

You say, "So -- And then Anthony walks out. I'm still inside
the officer ([sicl, sir. 8o I'm doing -- I'm counting my cash and
stuff for the shift. And an officer comeg in late on the scene,
little heavyweight.®

Officer says, "Uh-huh."

You continue: --

A Mm~hmm .

Q ~- "Bald. And he comes running out of his car. He parked
his car all the way at the end, and he's running. And he's going
in the direction where the Hummer is.®

Detective Fitzgerald: "Where the Hummer is?"

Mr. Chaghouri: "As if he knew that this guy is going to be in
that direction.”

"Yeah. "

Mr. Chaghouri: "And he was running. And he asks me how's
this guy looks like. And I tell him, 'Tall and skinny. ‘"

A and skinny, vep.

Q *And then I go back ingside for not even 40 seconds. I come
back outside, I see Anthony running, screaming, 'Okay, they killed
my brother, they killed my brother.® So I was inside. I didn't
even hear the shots.”

Now, in terms of -- I -- Continuing on, page 27:

"I didn't even hear the shots, sir. I was just inside. And

I came outside to see if they got him or they found him. And the:
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6-44
I see Anthony running from that direction, screaming and crying.
I was cyying, too."

Now, you were asked about whether the police ever came
through the door. And I'm going to direct your attention to page
27.

A Mm~hmm.
Q "So, did the police ever come in through the unlocked dooxr?”

13: "Never. Never did."

Next gqguestion, from Trooper Connolly: "Because you were in
the office that whole time, you would've known, right?"

Mr. Chaghouri: "I was in the office, absolutely.

Absolutely."

A Unlock ~-- Yeah, the door --

0 Detective Fitzgerald: "So, they did not go in Alan's
apartment?®

Mr. Chaghouri: "They could not go, siy, because he didn't

give them access. They did --

A Yeah.

Q -- not know this door on the inside was open when he came out
at me. "

A Yes, the door was locked. So, the -- You know, I'm answering

the gquestion of: "When the door was locked, could anyone go in?"
I said no.
Q Okay. So you're not saying now that the police officers

never went inside the apartment prior to Mr. Greenough getting
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shot.

A Yes, the police never got in there while the door was
unlocked. They got in there earlier, ma'am, when the door was
locked. Both doors were locked, okay? So when the door was

unlocked during that five minutes' period time before Mr. Perrotti

let -- notified the police, no one had come in.

Q No, that's not --

A That -~ That's what I was answering to. That's what I --

Q Oh.

A ~- thought I was asked about.

Q So, you were confused by the question, whether the police had

ever gone inside the apartment?
A He says, "Unlocked." You got to -- You got to read it very
specifiically. The officer says, "That locked door." Can -- Can
you read it to the Judge once more, please? Just read it exactly
how Mr. ~- how the officer asked wme the question."
Q "So, they did not go in Alan's apartment%"

"They could not go, sir, because he didn't give them access.
They did not know this door on the inside was open when he came

out of itg."

A Before -- Before that. The guestion when I -- when he said,
"Locked door." Can you give me the paper? And I'11 read --

0] Yeg, I --

A ~- I'11 read 1t?

0 -~ will be --
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A All right.
Q ~- happy to give you the paper, sir.
A Thank you. Thank you, wma'am.

Detective Fitzgerald said, "So, did the --*

THE COURT: What page are you on, Mr. Chaghouri?

THE WITNESS: I‘m on --

MS. LYNCH: Page 27.

THE WITNESS: -~ page 27.

THE COURT: Okay.

BY MS. LYNCH:
A Detective Fitzgerald says, "So, did the police ever come 1in
through that unlocked dooxr?®

Okay? “Unlocked." Was not unlocked, ma'am. This door was
locked.

So, 1 answer, "Never, never, never," because they never did
until Anthony notified them that the door was open. And then they
came in all. And you could see them, on the video.

o Oh, so now you are referxring at this point immediately after
the statement, "I didn't even hear the shots. I wasgs just inside.
I came outside," and then it's after that that you’re asked that.
So you say that you believed that they were going back to
originally when you discovered it was unlocked?

A No, the cfficer is asking me, "During this door was -- when
it was unlocked, did any of the officers txy to come in?"

I said, "No, no one came in, in that room." I won't change
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my statement.

Q

A

Okay .

Until --

Well, then let's --
Until ~-

If we could --

-~ Mr. Perrotti notified them that the door is open. And you

can see them --

Q Okay. 8o, -~
A ~-- all running.
Q You're revising yvour testimony today --
A Revising?
Q -~ to say --
Yes.
A I'm not revising anything. I --
Q You said the police never went through the unlocked door, did
you not?
A Until --
Q Do you see that in the transcript?
A Ma'am, until the end. Of course the police ~-- 10 of them -~-
0 Didn't you say -~-
A -~ went inside.
.} Until the end, you said, "No, never."
A Well, --
Q Isn't that what the transcript said?
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A Listen, you're just playing around words. I -- I don't think
that's tyrue. I mean, the substance is clear to everybody. The
video shows everything. So you can say whatever you like.
Q Well, I'11l be happy to show you the video in the timeframe of

when Mr. Perrotti came out, --

A Mm-~hmm.
Q -~ told the officers, and --
A We saw them. We saw them 20 times coming in, all of them.

Why do we need to see them again?

Q That's my point. You --

A What's your point?

0 My point is you told the police that night that the police
never went in through the unlocked door.

A That's correct, ma'am. They never went The guy fled from
his window. And no one went in. We had to report it. Of course.
I stick to that.

0 The first time you told the police that Mr. Greenocugh had
come in and assaulted you was also Mr. Greenough got shot.

A Yeah, I said it in the police statiomn.

Q And you also said it at your station when the officer, the
tall officer, came in and talked to you and Mr. Perrotti behind

the counter.

A Yes, I might have said. It's -- It‘s --
0 That was the first time --
A Yeah.
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Q

A

-~ you told anyone --

Okay .

-- in law enforcement --

That's correct, that's correct.

-~ that Mr. Greenough came out with a stick.

Okay. Where are you trying to get to? Okay, that's --
I'm -~

-- right.

-~ asking to clarify your testimony, sir.

Ma‘tam, the off -- I mean, Officer Fitzgerald asked me very

precisely, "Did any officer come in through the unlocked doors?"

While the suspect is in, I assumed he's asking, now while he fled.

Q

A

Q

So you're --

Why leave the

1
i

-~ making all these assumptions as they’re asking the

questions? You're thinking about them that --

A

Q

A

Ma'am --
-~ minutely?
Ma'am, it's a ~- it m -- it makes sense. I mean, why would

he ask the guestion if the guy's already out of the apartment?

How could they open the deor? They would have shot him ingide,

then,

right? If they opened the door and he's inside, they

would've apprehended him. I wouldn't have to testify.

Q

You indicated to the police that night after the shooting

that the police never went in that apartment; is that right?
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6-50
A Yeah. They never did until the end, until Al was outside. I

agree to that, veah.

0 Now, when Mr. Perrotti came out and told you that his brother
was not inside the night -- I'm going to direct your attention to
page 27 ~- strike that -~- 28.

Mr. Chaghouri: "Just Anthony was the only one that figured
that out.”

And I'm just going to go back to the prior page.

“They could not go in, because he didn't give them access.

They did not know the door on the inside was open when he came out

of the --"
A Yeah.
Q "Right. Just Anthony went inside.®

Your answer: "Just Anthony was the only one who figured that
out, yeah. And he came out and he told me, 'It's open and nobody
is there.' I said, 'Bring the police in there.'"

S0, you told the police that night -- is that as soon ag you
heard that there was nobody in the apartment, --

A Mm-hmm.

Q ~- you told Anthony, “Bring the police in there.”

A Not accurately, no. I said, "Let's give him a little
head's-up, couple of minutes, so we avoid big confrontation here."
Q Okay. But ~--

A I --

Q According to the transcript, what you told the police
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officers --

A Mm-~hmm.

Q ~-- who were asking you questions to find out what happened --
A Detectives, you mean, in the interview.

Q Yes, they're police, --

A Yeah, yeah.

Q ~- aren't they?

A Yeah, vyeah.

Q "And he came out and he told me it's open and nobody is
there. I said, 'Bring the police in there.'®

A Okay. And he did.

0 Mr. Chaghouri: --

A He did.

O -~ "I said, 'This is the time to fucking end it,' yvou know."
A Yes, yes.

0O And then you said, "I wish he listened to me, man. I wish.

I really wish."

A Yeah.
0 "I wish he listened to me.”
A Yeah. That's my true feeling. I want -- I didn't want this

to happen.

o) Okay. Well, let me just ask you about this.
A Mm -hmm.
0 So, you claimed on the night in question that as soon as you

realized the door was unlocked and that Mr. Greenough was not
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inside, you that night told the police that you told Anthony,

"Bring ‘em in. Let's get it over with."

A Yes, yes, yes.

Q And you were lying to the police about that.

A T'm lying? How am I lying?

Q Well, do you remember when you got the subpoena to testify in
thig inquest? Remember you were served with a subpoena?

A Yeah.

Q And you were asked to contact the District Attorney's Office?
A When I came to your office, yeah.

) Yeg, and you came to the Middlesex D.A.'s Office; is that
right?

A Mm-~hmm, vyes.

0) And you wet with me on March 15th at approximately noontime;

ig that right?

A

Q

A

Q

That's correct.
And I was there at the meeting.
Mm - hmm .

And Trooper James Connolly, who interviewed you, was also

there; is that right?

A

Q

Yeah.

Now, during that meeting you provided new information to

Trooper Connolly and myself; is that right?

A

Q

New information?

Yes.
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A I don't know what information you're talking about.
Q Okay. Well, let me ask you this: did you say that after Mr.
Greenough entered -- Mr. Greenough's brother, Anthony Perrotti,

had entered Greenough's apartment from the door in the lobby, he

told you that Greenough was not in the apartment?

he told Anthony,

it to the police"; is that right?

A

Q

Yeah,

"TLet's not talk about it --

"Let's give him head's-up."

You said that

"We should give him a few minutes and then report

* Well, you knew that he was not

in the apartment for four or five minutes before you told

police and the police entered the apartment.

A

Q

Well, the video showed last time that was not --

I'm not asking --
Yeah.

~~ about the video.

Was -- Was only 30 seconds,
I'm asking you -- Sir, --
Mm-hmm.

-- don't answer guestions,
well, so ~--

-- that are not asked.
S0, what's --
Itm -~

- - the question?

-- asking youxr view.

40 seconds.

please, --

the
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A Yes.

THE COURT: Hang on a second. Mr. Chaghouri, could you step
out for a minute --

THE WITNESS: Sure.

THE COURT: ~-- in the courtroom?

THE WITNESS: Sure.

(Witness steps down and exits]

THE COURT: Okay. Let me just remind everyone -~-

And I appreciate, Ms. Lynch, that you're trying to get the
truth, which is what we're trxying to do here. It's a fact-finding
mission.

But I just want to remind everyone about the procedural rules
for the inguest. And the Court's responsibility is to ensure that
the District Attorney remains essentially neutral and not act as
the proponent or opponent of any particular proposition or point
of view. And I'm just concerned that this is starting to feel a
little bit like a trial, little bit combative, and it's making it
difficult for me to try to get to the facts. So, --

MS. LYNCH: Sorrxy, Your Honor.

THE COURT: -- I just want to remind everybody about that.
Okay?

MS. LYNCH: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And I understand your frustration and all of
that.

Why den't we have Mr. Chaghouri come back.
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[Witness enters and resumes the stand]

BY MS. LYNCH:
Q Do you recall, Mr. Chaghouri, saying on March 15th of this
year that you and Mr. Perrotti knew that Alan was not in the
apartment for four or five minutes before they told the police and
they entered the apartment?

MR. KOUFMAN: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Have a seat. Overruled.
BY MS. LYNCH:
A Yes, I did say that.
Q And you told us at that time that you told Mr. Perrotti,
"Let's not talk about it for a few wminutes. If he is going to
flee, let him not be on the property."
A Yes, I did say that.
0 And you said that you and Mr. Perrotti felt guilty about that
and wished you had told the police about the unlocked dooxr into
the apartment earlier.
A Well, I was really talking about myself, that I felt guilty,

you know. I couldn't --

0 And --

A I could not really -~

Q And you acknowledge that you did not tell the officer that
door -- in the interviews, is that right?

A I acknowledge I did not tell the officexrs?

0 That you had been the one to suggest not telling the police.
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6-56
A Well, I s -~ I kind of said-fony said it, but it was really
mutual. Like, we -- we understand each other from just looking at
each other. We've been with each other 12 years, working with
each other. So, I could not recall, ma'am, the events. It's been
a yvear and some. And very drastic, very dramatic events took
place. So I do not remember.

And when I went to your office, we were supposed to be
refreshed over my testimony of this. And when I d -- when I did
mention that to you there, you said, "How come you never said it
to Detective Fitzgerald and Connolly?" I said, "Ma'am, I did.n"
You did not make an effort to find it in that -- in that testimony
paper that day and to show me to refresh your memory because I
couldn't remember --

Q But in that --
A ~-- from a year ago.
Q -- testimony, Mr. Chaghouri, you said it was Anthony that --

you said, -~-

A I did.
Q ~~ "Let's end it." And you did not say, "Let's end it.”"
A I -~- Listen, he was in charge. I was behind the counter.

He's the one that went to the apartment. That was his brother. I

was not going to go jump and -- over his head and go to the
police, say, "Oh, come arrest this guy." No.
Q SO: -

A I wanted his opinion. I wanted -~ You know, I said, "What




10

11

12

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

6-57
should we do? Let --" You know, we -- we agreed together. It was
not like one guy's call. 2And he did not listen to me, anyways.

He did not agree tco what I suggested to him. He went right away
and let the cops in. And you could see that.
0 But you said that you and Mx. Perrotti waited four teo five

minutes before you --

A I was wrong, --
0 -~ told the police.
A -- ma'tam. I did not see the videotape of the events of the

three times, when Anthony found out the first time the door was
unlocked. And then when I watched that video last time with you
here, I was convinced that it only was 40 seconds that he -- we
hid that fact. Only 40 seconds. You see that.

0 Well, without playing the tape again, you would agree that

you were not counting the seconds or minutes that something

happened.

A Not at that time. I was -~ You know, I was there for six
hours waiting in a small room, ma‘am, not -- no food, no hu -- you
know, no drinks, nothing. I mean, it's 1 -- long time.

Q You told Trooper Connelly when he asked on on the 15th of

this year --

A Mm-~hmm.

Q -- why you didn't tell him about that during the initial
interview of the night of February 3rd. He asked you that

question, didn't he?
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A He asked me what?
o) Why you didn't tell him on February 3rd of 2018 -=
A About what?
] -~ that it was you who suggested that the police not be
notified right away.
A I said it was mutual, if he did ask me that.
0 You don't recall saying that you did not say that because vou

were not directly asked about it?

A I could've been. Could've been.

Q But you -~

A I don't remember.

Q -- agree that that night you were asked by Detective

Fitzgerald and Trooper Connelly about what happened. BAnd on that
night you bklamed that on Anthony.

A I did not really blame it on anyone. I'm not ~-- Neither me

or Anthony did anything wrong, wa'am. We're not the one --

Q Did you --

A -~ that did this.

Q -- say that you said to Anthony, "Let's just end it," and he
gaid, "I don't want to do that. He doesn't want to come ocut"?

A But what did he do? Look at the fact.

Q I'm not --

A Doesn't matter --

Q You don't get to ask --

A -~ what he says.
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Q ~- questions, Mr. Chaghouri.

A Listen, --

0] Just answer the --

A Listen, I told you --

0 -- guestion, please.

A ~- we confirmed with each other, we looked at each other’'s
eyes. "What should we do?" It was -- It took 2-3 seconds. So, I

cannot really tell you details. He didn't even talk much, the
guy. He didn't even acknowledge what he was going to do.
Actually, I was shocked when he led the cops right away. I
thought he would give him couple of minutes. He did not.

Q So it's your testimony that when you told the police on
February 3rd that it was Anthony who wanted to give Mr. Greenocugh
gome time, and on March 15th that you were the one that wanted to

give him more time, ~-

A It was more mutual, ma'am. It was not me, --

Q But that --

A ~- it was not him.

Q But --

A It was both of us together.

Q But all I'm getting at Mr. Chaghouri, ig when you talked to

them on the 3rd it was Anthony's fault, and when you talked to
them on the 15th of March of this year it was your fault, and now
today in Woburn District Court it's both of your fault.

A Well, it makes more sense. I mean, o -- you think one person
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6-60
can make a decision? You saw the whole video. I wag behind the
counter. He's the one that opened the door. He's the one that
found the truth. He's the one that reported it. Whatever I told
him and he -- that has no meaning right now because he did the
action, he took the -- brought the cops and -- and let them in.
And that's it.

Q But that night, you told the police that you didn't tell the

police --

A Ma'am, I --

Q - - right away.

A ~- told you I was confused. I -~ Do you think it was any

easy day to go through this from morning until 11:45 at night?

It's not. I mean, I'm not accurate. I'm not a computer. Lot of

events -- I thought I saw the cfficer that --
Q I'm --
A -- started running. I saw another officer, now when I see

the video.

0 Now, I just want to ask you a few gquestions. After that, Mr.
Greenough -- After Mr. Greenough was shot, Anthony Perrotti came
back to where you were. Did Mr. Perrotti indicate to you that he
witnessed the shooting?

A No.

Q Did he tell you that he was standing at the side of the
building and that he saw the police officer shoot his brother

twice from 4-yards' distance?
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A I did not say that, no.

Q You did not say that to -- -

A No.

0 -~ the police?

A No, no. I -~ He saw ~- He saw the -- He got there after the
shot. The -- He saw the officer down at his brother. And he saw

big pool of blecod.
0 Okay.
A But he dad not get there when he shot him, no.
Q Okay. But on the night of February 3rd, you told the police
officers that he saw this and that the shooting happened at a
distance of four vyards; is that xright?
A [No audible response.]

THE COURT: I didn't hear you, Mr. Chaghouri. Was that right
or did you say --

THE WITNESS: No, no, I -- That's not the -~ I mean, that's
not what I understood. I don't know. If I said that, it would be
also mis -- misspoken, probably.

BY MS. LYNCH:

Q Page 31, line 1.
A Mm-hmm.
O "Because he was running -- Well, the first thing I noticed:

the lady cop had her gun out and she was running when I came out.
I seen that scene. And then I seen another officer behind her,

also with the gun drawn.
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"And then within two seconds Anthony was running, facing
those officers that -- running in that direction. He was running
and he must've -- he must've followed the officer when he was
going to the Hummer. And he says he seen his brother go down and
went like this in a pool of blood. He says, like, not even 4-

yvards' range he shot him, according to Anthony."

A Yeah, "He must’ve.” I say, if you notice, "He must've sgeen,"
because --

Q Okay

A -- he runs back t -- running and crying and, vou know,
grabbing his head and -- "They shot my brother, they shot my
brother,” --

Q Lane --

A ~-- twice.

Q ~- 15, Detective Fitzgerald asks you, "So, Anthony basically

stated he was right on the scene when it happened, right near
where the incident happened?™
And you said, "I believe so, sir, because he's the only one

that knew what was going on."

A Yeah.

0 "The other guys thought it was a backfire from a truck or a
car."

A That's correct.

Q Now, you and -- You spoke to Mr. Perrotti while the police

were tending to Mr. Greenough and when the officer came into the
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gstation. You and Mr. Perrvotti were together; is that right?

A I don't know. They separated us.

Q Ckay. Well, were you --

A We were not together.

0 -- in the office together with Mr. Perrotti when a police
officer came in with a --

A When he stayed guard.

Q -~ knit cap?

A Yeah. He stayed guard. He kept us for, like, five minutes

until they got the cruisers --

Q Yep.
A -- to take each one geparately.
Q Okay. And there was -- So there was a period of time that

you and Mr. Perrotti had an opportunity to talk about what you'd
seen and what had happened; is that fair to say?

A No, it's not fair at all, ma'am, because the guy was crying
and he was in bad shape. And he gtill believed his brother's
still alive. He never thought that his brother was dead. So ~-
And then when the police guard on us, he did not -- he made sure
we could not speak to each other.

Q Ckay.

A He said, "I'm sorryy, it's -- it's the rules. We have to keep
you separated until the detective interviews you."

Q And that night, you were asked about your surveillance

system; is that right?
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A Yes, I was.

Q And you were asked if you would be willing to give a consent
to search the area in connection with video surveillance tapes,

A I did.

Q And you gave the police a written consent that allowed them
to access your video system and make a copy of it.

A Correct.

Q And you signed that form at 92:02 p m. on February 3rxrd. I'm

going to show you this document now, if you recognize it.

A Mm-hmm. And the day is 2/3. 9:02, yeah. Yeah, that's my
signature.
Q Okay. So you signed this before you were even interviewed by

the police at the police station.
A Yes. I was secluded in the room. They drove me back to the
station to locate the key for the Hummer and also to get that
waiver signed.

MS. LYNCH: Your Honor, at this time I would offer the
consent form as the next exhibit.

THE COURT: Yes,

[Consent Form Marked as Exhibit No. B81]

BY MS. LYNCH:
Q And it was after that that the police brought you back to the
police station and you're -~ you were interviewed from
approximately 10:15 to approximately 10:45.

A That's not what I recall. I got out of there around 11:15, I
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believe, --

Q Okay.

A ~- or 11:40 or --

Q Well, in terms of the interview, you would agree, much like

the surveillance video in your station, the video would speak for
itself about how long the actual recorded interview was?

A Yeah.

9] Okay. Now, in terms cof your knowledge of Mr. Greenough, had
you ever witnessed him have a seizure or be taken by ambulance?

A Yes, couple of timesg, I did.

Q Did you describe for the police that when Alan was not under
the influence he was a great guy, but as soon ag he drinks
everything totally changes?

A I did, vyes.

o Did you alsc tell the police that Mr. Greenough could not do
any work with customers because he had a lot of issues with it and
he had issues with what customers said to hiw?

A Yes, he's not a customer service guy, for sure.

Q Okay. And you would agree that during the time that vyou were
with or observed Mr. Greenough briefly in your office, and what
you saw from outside, that Mr. Greenough on the afternocon of
February 3rd appeared to be under the influence of something,
because he was not in his right mind?

A He was agitated, as I repeat. And, yeah, he was -- he was

mad or scared. Something like this. I don‘t -- really don't
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know. I can't put my finger on it.
Q Now, did you say, though, that that night -- that that
afternoon he appeared to be angry?
A In the after -~ Well, with the stick?
Q Yes.
A Yes. Oh, ves, yes.
Q Okay.
MS. LYNCH: If I might just have one moment, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Sure.
BY MS. LYNCH:
0 And when you say he wasn‘t in his right mind, did you have an
opinion as to whether he was under the influence of alcohol or
drugs?
A T assume, you know, for someone to come with a stick when
police officers outside looking for him that he’'s not in his right
mind to do that. I assume that.
Q and you said that to the police?
A I did.
Q Did you also mention that you believed he had consumed

alcohol and possibly Klonopins?

A Maybe. I sald I don't know. I said -~--
Q Okay.
A -- you guys could f£ind out. But he was not himself.

Q Thank you.

A You're welcome.
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THE

COURT: So, did you tell the police that based on

observations you made of him?

THE
THE
THE
THE
speech}?
THE
THE
than the
THE
thinking
stuff.
THE
THE
THE
THE

THE

agitated,

THE

WITNESS: Yes. All --
COURT: That you thought he was under the influence --
WITNESS: Yes, all based --

COURT: -- [Indiscernible at 10:235:14 a.m. - gimultaneous

WITNESS: Yes, ma'am. But all based --

COURT: And what kind of specific observations, other
fact that he was holding the stick?

WITNESS: Just how mad he was and how -- you know,

that I called the cops on him, and all these cruisers and

COURT: Okay.

WITNESS: And he knows I'm his friend; I wouldn't --
COURT: All right.

WITNESS: -~ do that.

COURT: But -- 'cause you alsc just testified that he was
mad, or scared.

WITNESS: Yes, ves. It could be one of -- I mean, he

would react like this when he was scared, too, you know what T

mean?

THE

COURT: So, despite the fact that you told the police you

thought he was under the influence of something, either alcchol or

Klonopin ~--
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THE WITNESS: I can't -~ Yeah, I can't --
THE COURT: ~-~ you --
THE WITNESS: I can't be really the judge, you know.
THE COURT: You said that based on how he was acting.
THE WITNESS: Yes, ma'am.
THE COURT: Okay.
Mr. Pasciucco?
MR. PASCIUCCO: Thank you, Your Honor.
CROSS EXAMINATION OF WITNESS, TALAL JOSEPH CHAGHOURI

BY MR. PASCIUCCO:

Q Good morning, sir.
A Good morning.
Q My name's Peter Pasciucco. I represent Officer Exik

Drauschke. I just have a few guestions for you today.

Now, you own the property at 1462 Main Street; is that

6-68

correct?

A Yes.

Q And you own that property with vour brother?

A Yeah.

o) Okay. And Go you own it in ~-- Isg there any type of corporate
structure?

A Yeah, it'‘s a corporation, yes.

Q It's a corporation?

A Yes. It's an S-corporate. Yeah.

Q Okay. And are you an officer of that corporation?
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A Yes, I'm the president.

Q Okay. And how long have you owned that property?
A Since March of '05, 2005.
) Okay. Do you have an attorney that you consult with, with

respect to corporate matters?

A Yes. The -- The attorney that drew the corporation.
9] Okay. Is it -- Attorney Koufman your attorney?
A He's one of the group that -- you know, in the office that

represented the corporation.

Q Okay. Have you had any --

A No, I'm sorxryy; Kaufman is -- You mean this guy right here?

9] Yes.

A No, he's not; I'm sorry.

9] Okay. You expect to be sued as a result of this incident, by

the family; is that correct?
A Nev -- Really not. I never thought about it. I never really

-~ I hope not. But never thought about that, no.

0 Do you have a liability insurance for the property?

A I do.

Q And liability insurance for the business?

A Yes, I do.

0 Okay. Now, I understand that it's a gas station, there's a

residential component to it, and then there's also an auto body
shop?

A It's a repair shop, --
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Q Repair shop?

A -- not an auto body. Yeah.

O

Okay. And when customers leave their cars at the premises,
it's the policy of your business to keep those cars locked; is
that correct?

A Absolutely, vyeah.

Q Okay. How did Mr. Greenough get in the locked Hummer?

A It was not locked. We were not done working vyet, sir. We
were still -- we're still open.

Q So you were working on the Hummer that day?

A We were not working on the Hummer particularly that day, but

we did work on it that same week. 2aAnd what I do at the end of
Saturday, I go by the cars and lock every one of them when
everybody's gone, you know. One employee will do that.

0 Okay. So, all week, that Hummer was open?

a Not necessarily. It could've been worked on Friday or
Thursday. I really don't have the schedule of what we did on it.
But the policy of us is at the end of the business day to go
around all the cars and lock them.

Q Okay. So, did you give Anthony permission to give his
brother the keys to the Hummer?

A No.

Q Okay. But Anthony gave his brother the keys to the Hummer;
is that correct?

A T -- I cannot assume that, sir. I cannot. It could've been
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open. It -- As I said, we did not yet do our round of locking the
cars.
Q Okay. So you don't know whether or not it was opened or

locked when Alan Greenough --

A Yeah. I --

Q -~ went inside the Hummezr?

A -~ don't know if he had the key. But I know the key was in
the -- inside the garage when I came back at nine o'clock to give

it to the state police. So, it could not have been with Mr.
Greenough, because how could it make it inside the -- the chain
that's hanging inside the garage?

0 Well, do you know if Anthony put it back on the chain?

A No, no. I don't know that.

0 Now, a lot -- There were a lot of police officers that

responded to the scene; is that falr to say?

A Yesg, yes.

Q and the fire department at some point responded?

A Yes.

Q Okay. So there's a lot of activity around the premises when

Mr. Greenough was inside the apartment, correct?

A Correct, yeah.

Q Okay. And you would agree, as a business owner, that’s not
great for business.

A It's very bad, yeah.

0 Okay. 8o, you wanted to -- you would've liked to have seen ¢




10

i1

12

13

14

135

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

quick resolution to the problem; is that correct?

A Yes, sir.

Q Okay. So why didn't you have the police go inside? Just a
simple question.
A I did ask that. I did ask one of the officers when I came
outside after Al opened the window. I said, "Why can’'t you go
in?n

He said, "We'd rather not go and confront someone inside.
We'd rather he comes to us.”
Q Ckay. So you wished the -- Locking back on the incident now,
you wish the police had gotten inside earlier; is that correct?
A T wish I would've been able to tackle him when I saw him in
the office, and held him until the police come. Yeg, I would've
loved to save his 1life. Absgolutely.
Q Okay. But you didn‘t tackle him, because he was holding a
stick, correct?
A Yes.
0 And you indicated that you were threatened by him, correct?

A Little bit, yes.

Q And you indicated that his eyes were all over the place,
correct?

A Yeah. He was looking in different directions, yeah.

Q Ckay. So he wasn't in his right state of mind.

A No. He was agitated, as I said.

Q Okay. And you indicated that you told him to put the stick
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down because you thought you were in the line of fire.

A Yes, sir. i o

Q Okay .

A I said, "Keep it down, please, Alan.”

Q So, his behavior as you obsexved it in that waiting area, in

your opinion, would have possibly caused him to be shot by police;
is that correct?
A I was afraid of that, to be honest with you. I was afraid
of, you know, him being misunderstcod, vyou know, by acting in, you
know, a way that -- We know how he is And, you know, he's
harmlegss. But I was afraid for his safety, yes.
Q Okay. So just to sort of summarize that statement, based on
how he was acting, you were afraid that the police might
misunderstand his actions and possibly shoot him; is that correct?
A Yes, yes, yes.
Q Ckay.

MR. PASCIUCCO: No other guestions.

THE COURT: Mr. Koufman?

MR. KOUFMAN: Thank you, Judge.

CROSS EXAMINATION OF WITNESS, TALAL JOSEPH CHAGHOURI

BY MR. KOUFMAN:

0 Mr. Chaghouri, my name 1is Victor Koufman and I represent the
family.
A Okay.

Q Iz it failr to say that you and I have never wmet before the




10

it

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

2}

22

23

24

25

shooting?

A That's correct. L

o] And you never received any correspondence from me; is that
correct?

A No.

Q You never even knew I exited; ig that correct?

A I didn't even know your name until he said, "Mr. Koufman." I

honestly know nothing.

Q Now, you met Alan Greenough about 10 years ago; is that
correct?

A Yes, sir.

Q And at that time he was working for a landscaping company?

A Yes. Ram's [phonetic] Landscaping.

Q and they had a contract with your station in order to do the
landscaping?

A No. They had a contract as far as a gas account.

Q Gas account.

A We £ill up the gas for free and at the end of the month they

send a check.

0 And so, as a result of that, you got to know him; is that
correct?

A Yes, yes.

Q And as a result of that, eventually vou learned that he was a

brother to Anthony; is that correct?

A Yes, ves.
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Q And when you first met him, at some point you -- So, you
bagically knew him for 10 years; is that correct?

A Yes. Yes, sir.

Q And during that 10-year pericd, have you ever known him to

own a weapon?

A Never.

O Have you ever knocwn him to own a gun?

A No.

Q Have you ever known him to possess a gun?

A Never.

Q Have you ever known him to -- Have you ever seen him act
violently?

A No, no. But I've seen him scream and agitated. But nothing
violent.

0 Would you call him a yeller?
A Yes.
Q Okay. But you also just said in response to this attorney's

gquestions that he's harmless, did you not?

A Of course he is.

Q and you need to speak up so I can hear you.

A Yes, sir, he is very harmless. He's got a good heart. He
helps anybody that ask for help. He's a -- He's a ~-- You know, I

-~ I loved this guy. I really can say that.
Q How can he be a yeller yet be harmlesg?

A He -- You know, he has issues with his personality. We're
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not all in control of ourselves. Some people are weaker than
others. Some people have issues. I've seen that, you know, when
he drinks or -- you know, he had some kind of substance abuse once
in a while -- and will reflect on his personality. But he's a

genuinely great helper, you know, positive. Everyone loved him.

If I come to him, say, "My wife did this," -- "No, you're bad.
Your wife is r -- right. You're -- You're the bad guy.”
9] Other than the night of February 2nd -- I'm sorry -- February

3rd of 2018, have you ever seen him holding a weapon?

A Never.

0 Did you ever see him hold a weapon when you thought he might
be under the influence?

A No. Never had a weapon.

C Even when he was under the influence, did you ever see him
viclent in any way?

A No. He's always had peace at the end of his texts. *Peace,
brother. Love." He was a peace, like, follower. You know? He
loved peace.

9] Okay. Now, in December of 2016, is that when he moved into

your apartment, into the apartment on your premisesg?

A In December 2015 or '14, I believe, not '16, because that's -
Q And -~

A -- when my mom passed.

Q Okay. And at that time, he's -- how did you end up hiring

him to do work on your business?
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A He did -- He did the work before this, couple of years
before. He worked few shifts on the gas. And then he had an
issue and he had to leave away, go somewhere to another state.

So, he was familiar with the gas. He was familiar with the
repalrs, with the stickers. He did stickexrs also. At some point,
he had sticker license about five years ago. So, he was an
inspector for the state. He helped me in many ways. He used to
cut the grass. He used to, you know, -- Anything dirty that none

of us wanted to do, he would be the one to do it.

Q Now, you said that he was not a custowmer person; is that
correct?

A Yes. He's --

Q What did you mean by that?

A I mean, you know, he gets agitated quick. You know, like --

You know, he could not be, like, patient enough. If someone says,
"Oh, you did not check my oil," he will end up, like, being mad.
And he takes it personally. And, you know, that -- that's what I
meant. He's --

0 Did he ever get verbally abusive to another customer?

A No, no, nothing like this.

Q So it was mwore that he became impatient with customers.
A Impatient. And then he'll mess up. He'd start making
mistakes.

Q Now, he had other responsibilities with respect to your

business; is that correct?
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A Yes.

Q And was he able to perform those responsibilities?

A Absolutely.

0 And what were some of those responsibilities?

A You know, cleaning the turtle tank every -- every week.
Cleaning the filter. Cutting the grass. Before any inspection by
the town officials, the fire department, he would be the one that,
yvou know, makes us look good. When we're not there, me and his
brother, he would be there for us. The gas attendant will reach
him. He'll come in from his apartment, book the customer, write
the information, take the keys, call me later at home, say, "Hey,
Joe, a tow -- a car came on a tow truck." All the stuff that, you

know, he is capable of doing.

e} Was he reliable?

A He was very reliable.

0 In what way?

A He -- If he say -- If I say, "Saturday, A1, I need you to

come do my landscape,” for example, Saturday at ten o'clock at the

time we agree, he'll be calling me: "Joe, where are you?"

Q Now, you mentioned he had issues with drugs; is that correct?
A From what I heard. I really did not see him myself.

0 Okay. Did that affect the way he was able to perform on the
job?

A No. None of the landscape stuff, you know, affected him at

all. T mean, nothing physical. He loved being into physical
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stuff.
Q If he wasn't able to appear at work at his scheduled time,
did he notify you?

THE COURT: Mr. Koufman, I'm going to ask you to give me some
offer at this point, 'cause these guestions are --

MR. KOUFMAN: Here, I'll move on, Judge.

THE COURT: Yeah.

BY MR. KOUFMAN:

Q Now, at some point did he leave the apartment in 20187 Did --
I'm sorry -- Did Alan move out of the apartment and go into a drug
detox --

A Yes, he did.
Q - - program?
A He did.
0 Okay. And during that time, is that when Alan's girlfriend
moved into the apartment?
A D -~ Devin's girlfriend.
Q I'm sorry. Anthony's girlfriend? Is that correct?
MS. LYNCH: No. anthony's his brother.

BY MR. KOUFMAN:

Q No, I'm sorxy; Alan's girlfriend. Is that correct?
A Devin. Devin's girl --
0 Devin.

A Devin, vyeah.

Q Okay. Devin's girlfriend moved into the apartment when Alan
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went into the detox program; 1is that correct?
A I believe so.
Q Okay. So ~-
A I believe so, yeah.
Q -- when Alan returned to the apartment, did he have any prior
notice that Devin's girlfriend was living with him, to your
knowledge?
MS. LYNCH: Objection. Basis of knowledge.
THE COURT: Yeah. Objection's sustained.
And, Mr. Koufman, again, I'm going to ask you to -- Some of
this, the Court's already heard.
MR. KOUFMAN: If I can just get to February 2nd.
THE COURT: Sure.
BY MR. KOUFMAN:
Q On February 2nd of 2018, on that Friday, you said you have a

convergation with a Michael Randall; is that correct?

A Yes.

0 And Michael Randall works in your --

A Yes, he does.

) -- in the business?

A He's a gas attendant, yes.

Q Okay. And you said there was a conversation, that you spoke

with him when vou arrived at the property at some time with
respect to commotion in the apartment; is that correct?

A Yes.
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0 2nd what did he say about the -- And whabt time was that? Was

that --

A That was during conversation on the phone.

Q Okay. Was that before Alan had arrived at the apartment?

A Friday?

e} Yeg.

A No, that was after.

Q When was --

A No, no, no. I -- I talked to Mike after the problem, when he

was calling to report the gas situation, at nine o’'clock.
Q Okay.
A And he says to me, "Oh, there was a problem,® blah, blah,
blah

I said, "I heard. They called me. What happened before Al
came?"

He said, "Joe, they were going at it way before Alan showed

up . "

0 And who were -- When you say "they," who are you referring
to?

A Devin and his girlfriend.

0 Okay. Going at it in what way? Did he --

A He heard th -- He heard them breaking things. And he heard

screaming and stuff like that.

Q Okay. And at that point, to your knowledge, Alan was not at

the apartment; is that correct?




i2

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

A Yes, he told me --
MS. LYNCH: Objection.
A -~ before.
MS. LYNCH: I don't know how he would have a basis of --
THE COURT: Yeah, objection's sustained.
BY MR. KOUFMAN:
o) Now, on Saturday, February 3xrd, 2018, the day of the
shooting, you arrived around 1:40 p.m.; is that correct?
A Yes, sir.
O Okay. And when you arrived, I mean, typically on those

Saturdays you arrive, do your paperwork, --

A Yeah.

Q ~- do your books, and --

A Yes.

Q -~ pay the employees; is that correct?

A Yeg, ves.

Q Okay. And then when you got there you saw Devin and his

girlfriend enter the apartment and leave; is that correct?

A I saw them talking to Anthony on the right side of the
property.

Q Okay. 2and then eventually --

A And then event -~

Q -~ they left.

A Yes. And then, very shortly after, they left.

Q Okay. Then you went back to the office; is that correct?
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A Yes, sir. )

0 And then the police arrived; is that correct?

A Not right away. Like, maybe 20 minutes or half an hour

after.

Q Okay. And when the police arrived, at some point there was
conversation where you made mention to somebody -- where you saw --

Did you see the police knock on Alan's dooxr?

A Yes, yes. I met -- I come out of the dooxr. Actually,
Anthony's the first one, I think, that went to the side.

Q Okay. And then at some point, though, did you see the police
knock on ~-

A Yes. They --

0 -~ the apartment dooxr?

A They wanted -- They wanted the owners. If I remember
correctly, they checked my ID, too, if I remember correctly.

o} Okay. And when they -- When the police -~ We're talking

about Alan's door; is that coxrrect?

A Yes.
Q The apartment?
A Yes, gsirv.

Q Okay. And when they knocked on the door, were they able to
get in?

A No.

Q And at that point, did they ask for -- you for a key?

A Yes, they asked me for keys, yeah.
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Q Okay. And at that point did you give them a key?
A I did not have the keys. I said, "I'll find thewm for you."
And then I went, I checked with Anthony, and obviously Anthony had

gave them the keys later on.

Q Okay. But at some point did -- was it determined that the
front -- I'm just talking about the front door to the apartment.
A Yeah.

O The front door to Alan's apartment, i1s that locked from the
ingide?

A It -- It was. It -- You ¢ -~ It could be locked from the

ingide and the outside. We have a key, and he's got a dud --
deadbolt on the inside, as well.

Q Right. And so, the key to the outside wouldn’t necessarily
open the door, --

A No, if he's got --

Q -~ right?

A ~- the deadbolt on, no one can move in.

Q Okay. Did you explain that to the police?

A I don't remember if right at the moment. But they knew that
both doors locked. 2And then when they s -- could not open, we

told them there was this kind of lock that --

Q When you say --

A ~- cannot be o --

o] -- that they knew that both doors lock, what do you mean by
that?
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A I mean that they attempted -- You know, they -- they tried,
they knocked on the doors, and they asked wme if there's an
emergency door. I said, "Yes, it's in the office." And they were

both locked. 2and the keys that we had would not work.

Q Okay. So they ~-- So both those doors --
A Both deadbolted from the inside.
Q From the inside. And the key that you have would not work

for the front door; is that correct?

A Would not work for neither door, sir.
O For either door.
A Yeah.

Q And that's -- When you say "the door," that's the door that's

separating the business from the apartment; is that correct?

A Yeah, that's the inner door.

0 Okay .

A We call it the emergency exit.

0 Okay. Now, at some point you heard Alan at the window; is

that correct?

A Yeg, I did.

Q Okay. Now, when you heard Alan at the window, what did you
do?

A I -- I was standing next to the officers. I really did not

do much. But I witnessed Alan go up, open the window, and say,
"Come and get me if you can," blah, blah, blah. 2and, you know, -~-

0 Okay. And when -- Did you walk outside to see what was going
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on when you heard him at the window?

A Yes. I just happened to walk outside. But I was a lot
inside, too. I would periodically go in and out. Like -~ But I
was inside. I did not hear no shooting or anything.

o] Okay. And what did you hear Alan say?

A Alan says, "Come and get me if you can. I'm hexe.™"

Q Okay. And did you hear an cfficer say something to Alan?

A Yes. An officer answered and we told him, "Well, if we go
inside ~-- if we go in there, we're going to come out with broken

jaws and ribs,” and stuff like that.

0 And did the officers say anything else at that point?

A No. After that, I did not hear him say anything.

o Okay. And when the officers said that, do you recall whether
or not Anthony was present?

A I really do not recall.

Q Okay. Now, at that point during that conversation, was Alan

threatening in any way”

A No. I mean, physically, he -- You know, he had the T-shirt,
white T-shirt, skinny arms. He wag really -- You could see him,
you know, -~

Q Did he appear worked up?

A Yeah. He was mad, yeah.

0 Did he appear scared?

A Yeah.

O And what makes you -~
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A Could be.

o} ~-- say that?

A Because he -- You know, he -- There was an incident right
before I -- He did not say nothing that day about, you know, being

afraid. But I knew his --

MS. LYNCH: I would --
A ~- state of mind.

MS. LYNCH: I would ask the answer --

THE COURT: Sorry; vyou're objecting to?

MS. LYNCH: I'm objecting to --

THE COURT: Yeah.

MS. LYNCH: -- his answer.

THE COURT: Objection sustained.
BY MR. KOUFMAN:
) Now, that statement that you just said the police officer
made, when you were interviewed that evening at the police station
did you tell the police officers that the officer had said that to
Alan when he was standing in the window?
A I believe so. I did say that, yeah.
Q Okay. &And -- Now, at some point you were in the office and
did you have a conversation with a police officer about breaking
down the door?
A Not in the office. W®When I was outside, when he was trying --
You know, they were trying to open the door, and no results.

Q Okay. And when you had a conversation with the officer, were
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you -- you said you were outside; is that correct?

A Yes, I was outside the window. Right.

0 Okay. And do you -~ was it a police officer or was it a
fireman?

A No, it was a police officer.

Q And exactly was -~ did you say?

A I said, "Why don't we break the door and -- and apprehend him
that way?"

Q And what did the officer say?

A He says, "We don't do that. We don't like confrontation like

this. We don't know if he's got something," or, you know, --

o And when you say "has something, " are you referring to a
weapon?

A Probably that's what they meant.

0 Okay. And so what did you say to the officer?

A I did not say anything after that.

Q Did you assure the officer that he didn't have weapons?
A I didn't.

MS. LYNCH: Objection.
A I did not.

THE COURT: Objection sustained.
A I did not really interfere.

THE COURT: Objection sustained.
BY MR. KOUFMAN:

Q Now, when you were in the office, at some point Alan came
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you?

A

his apartment into the office; 1s that correct?

Yes.

Yes. And at that point, when he came through that door, you
that he had a leg in his hand; is that correct?

Yeah, leg of a table, yeah.

Okay. ©Now, he came in and then you had a conversation with
1s that correct?

Yes.

And after vyou initially saw him, did he threaten you in any

No, no.
And wexre you afraid of Alan doing something with the table to
To you.

No, I was initially -- So, I'm not lying, I was afraid the

first two seconds when I seen a big stick in my face. But then

when I said, "Alan come down, bring it down, please. Hide the
stick,” and then he lowered it, I was fine.
0 And did you actually make any observations with respect to

his demeanor at that time?

A

He was -- He was very mad. I can tell that he was very mad.

But I don't know what's -- why he was mad. Is it because the

Super Bowl he's going to miss? Or he doesn’'t want to get

arrested? I really don't know. But he said, "I just want to

watch the Super Bowl, Joe."

Q

Was he afraid of anything at that point?
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A He could, vyes --

MS. LYNCH: Objection.
A He could've been.

THE COURT: Objection --
A He could've been.

THE COURT: -- sustained.
BY MR. KOUFMAN:
0 And did you have conversation about what he was afraid -- if
he was afraid --

THE COURT: No, objection's --

A No, --
THE COURT: -- sustained.
A -~ we did not. No.
BY MR. KOUFMAN:
o] Okay. Now, at some point down --

THE COURT: Mr. Koufman, can you -- can -- Remember I said
you could ask questions if you gave me some offer --

MR. KQUFMAN: Yes.

THE COURT: -~- of what you were going to ask. So what is it
that you want to ask that we haven't --

MR. KOUFMAN: I -- I'd like to ask questions about the fact
that Anthony wanted to talk to Alan first. And the reason he
wanted to talk to Alan first was because he -- Anthony wanted an
opportunity to get Alan out of the apartment --

THE COURT: So, what's the guestion? What's the question --
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MR. KOUFMAN: -~ as as result of what the officer said.
THE COURT: ~- with regard to that?
MR. KOUFMAN: Okay.

BY MR. KOUFMAN:

Q So, at sowme point, did -- when Anthony asked you -- Or did

Anthony ask you, "What should we do?" at some point?

A Yes. Either --
Q Okay.
A -~ me or him. I really -~ I mean, I can go back and forth

for a year. I don't remember really how it started. But we both
conferred. We -- I -- I believe I wanted to give him head's-up so
he dees not, you know, have confrontation on the property.

Q And did -- As a result of what the officer said at the
window, did Anthony say that he wanted to do something about

checking to see whether or not Anthony was in the house, in the

apartment?
A I'm ~- I didn't understand the question; I'm sorry.
Q As a result of what the officer had said at the window about

-~ if they have to go into the apartment, he was going to hurt --

A Oh.

Q ~- Alan --

A Ribs and jaw, yeah.
o} Right.

A Okay.

o Did Anthony say what he wanted to do?
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A Anthony wasn't -- I don't know if he was there. I -- I ~-- I
was really --

o] No, no. I'm talking about when you were talking to him in
the office, when Alan had --

A Oh, no.

9] ~- exited.

A Anthony did not -- He just looked at me. He did not open his
mouth, not a single word. So I did not understand if he really
was going to give his brother slack like we agreed or not. But
then very quickly I seen the officers come. Then I knew he did
not give him slack, we agreed.

Q Okay. And what was your understanding as the reason why

Anthony wanted to go into the apartment?

A He -- I don't know. He t -~ He turned the knob on and found
it open --

Q Right.

A -~ after I reported to him that his brother came.

Q Uh-huh. And so, at some point did he want to go into the

apartment to see 1if his brother wasg there?

A Believe it or not, he did not talk to me that period. He --
He did everything out of his head, honestly, except for when he
came back and he says to me, "He's not -~-" you know, "Do you
believe the door's open?"

0 Okay. And at that point, how much time elapsed before he

went outside to tell the police to come in because the door was
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open?

A Prom what I -- I wmean, I really could not be accurate. I got
convinced last time at her office it was 20 minutes. But now when
I seen it at the video, I think it's more towards 3 minutes maybe
or 2 minutes or may -- maybe even 40 seconds. If we have the, you
know, -- the pleasure of watching it again, maybe I can pinpoint

exactly, you know

Q Well, what is your best estimate?
A According to the last time, I think it was like 40 seconds if
I ~- 1f I seen it correctly.

MR KOUFMAN: Thank you, Judge.
THE COURT: Thank you.
CROSS EXAMINATION OF WITNESS, TALAIL JOSEPH CBAGHOURI

BY THE COURT:

0O So, Mr. Chaghouri, where are the surveillance cameras on the
property?
A There is one -- There's two in the office. Let me see. One

on the outside that you saw.

Q Mm-hmm.

A And one on the office, like you saw, f -- comes from the
corner.

0 Mm ~hmm .

A And two inside the garage.

Q Okay. And there are none out in the back where the Hummer
was?
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A Unfortunately.

0 All right.

A That was wy mistake.

0 Okay. I didn't know whether there was one out in the back

that wasn't working.

A No, never. We never --
Q Never had one.
A -~ installed it. But it was suggested to me, because people

steal stuff usually from the --

Q Yep.

A -~ pack room.

O Yeah.

A But I nevey did it. I --
v} Ckay.

A I regret that.
0 All right. Now, when you first saw Mr. Greenough with the

table leg in his hand, did he open the door himself?

A Yes.
Q Okay.
A Yes.
0 So he had the table leg in one hand, and he opened the door

with the other hand.
A Well, you know, where I'm standing, ma'am, I cannot -- there
ig, like, 8 feet I cannot see off of blind vision.

Q Mm~-hmm.
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6-95
A But all I know: that when he got to the point in front of me,
he had the stick and he was going like this. [Indicating.]
Q Ckay. And back to the guestions that I think Assistant
District Attorney Lynch had asked you with regard to officers!
ability to see: --
A Yeah.
Q There's a page of the transcript that's prior to the
guestions that she was asking you. And you told Detective

Fitzgerald, "And T got surprised by him, you know, coming out.

And officers outside can see him." This is on page 19.

A Yeah.

0 And then you -- And then Detective Fitzgerald says, "Yeah.!
And then you say, "“-- can see him The tall guy that was

there on the scene can see him."

So, was that a specific officer you wexre talking about?

A Yes. There's a ~-- That's the officer that -- He stayed with
us, I believe, when we went -- escort to the police station.

Q Okay .

A They put him as a guard. I don't know his first name. He's

the tall guy. Nice gentleman.

0 Ckay. So, when you say -- So, you're talking about --

A It‘s an English -- I mean he --

Q Okay .

A -- could see. What I meant -- What I'm trying to see [sic]:

that 1f he turned his head, yes, he could've seen us.
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8} So, early you testified officers could see. But are you
gsaying that there was one officer in particular that --

A Yag, the one that wag gtanding to the left, more closer to
the window.

Q Yeah.

A He -~ All he had to do, ma’am, was go like this.

[Indicating.] But he was luckily looking straight.

) Okay. Because -~
A You know?
Q -- then Detective Fitzgerald says, "You think the officers

were able to see him with the --

And you say, "Yeah. When he came at me, I think they saw the
staick."

And then he says, "Okay.”

You say, "For sure, for sure, they must."
A T -- As I said, I'm really confused that I said that because
it makes no sense. If they seen him with the stick, why don't
they come apprehend him? I -- I tried to say, wa'am, that if they
-- You see, this is -- this is how the window of Al -- and this is

the window of the office. [Indicating.] And I'm here on the

counter.
Q Mm - hom.
A S0, I locked when -- when Al went to the back to his house.

Q Mm-hmm.

A T went to the center point, if you see, between the doors.
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And from that point, I looked and I saw those two officers
standing, looking at this window, not at this window.
{Indicating.] All they had to do, ma'am, --

Q Looking at which window?

A At his -- the window that he opened up earlier and talked to
them through, which is right to the left of his main entrance
door, ma'am. So, those two officers, they could -- what I meant
to say is all they had to do is look 30-degree angle and they
could see him. I -- There's no way I would say that they saw him
and they let him go. Why would they do that?

0 And where was Mr. Pexrotti at that time?

A He was not ain the room. Only Mr. Randall came in very

shortly, like three seconds after --

Q So when vyou --

A -- Al.

0 -~ told the police Mr. -- his brother saw him too, that's not
correct?

A That's not correct, no.

0 Okay. But that's what you told the police.

A If I did, I don't know how I did that. But there's no way he
could've seen him, because I reported to Perrotti myself that
"Your brother just came out at me with a stick.®

Q And then you said, "I think they --" So, after you said it,
"I think they saw him and his brother, too," -- and now you're

saying you weren't correct about his brother -- "Then he went back
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6-98

ingide and he must have forgotten to lock the door," you mean Mr.

Greenough --

A Yes.

Q ~- locked the door from the inside?

A From the inside.

0 And it's your testimony also that you told the police on --

when they interviewed you that there was an officer who said, "“If
I cowme in here, you're going to have some broken jaws and broken
ribs and stuff, so you don't want me to come in." Do you remember
which officer that was?

A Yes. I think it was the same guy that escorted us to the

police station, the one that guarded us.

0 The tall police officer?
A The tall police officer, yeah.
Q And where were you when you said --

A When I --

Q -- you heard him say that?

A I was right behind them. He was -- The officer was -- The
window was here. The officer is standing right here, and other
officers here, also. I was right here. [Indicating.]

0 So you were outside.

A Outside, vyes.

0 But you just testified you were going back and forth, inside
and outside.

A Yes, ma‘am.
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Q

And what was Mr. Greenough saying prior to that officer

saying that?

A

He said, "Come and get me if you can. 'F' this, 'F' that."

You know, we don't want to repeat that.

Q

fact

So, some of the cars that you work on outside, despite the

that you testified that there are keys that are kept --

Inside the garage is, is that where they're kept?

A

Q

A

Q

bald

Yes, ma'am.

Okay. Sometimes they're unlocked.

Yes.

So, the Hummer could‘fve been unlocked.

Yesg, it could've been.

And just toc clarify, the heavyset officer that you said --

officer, it's your testimony now that you didn't see him

running until after the shots were --

A

Q

A

clue

that

Yes, --

~~ fired.

~- now that I know what happened, because really I had no
that there were shots taken first.

Okay. So when you told the police when they interviewed you
that officer, a bald officer, --

Yeah.

-~ had asked you --

"How's he look like?”

T said, "Tall and skinny." BAnd he was --
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10

lady.

Q

A

6~100
Okay.
-~ running by me with his hand on his gun.
So, that didn't happen?
Yeah, that did happen, of course.
Okay. When did that happen? After the shots?

When I went to show you where that officer went, behind the

But that was after the shots.

That was after shots. But I didn't know back then that that

wag after shots.

O

So, are you saying that officer who was running stopped to

ask you, "What's he loock l1like?"

A

Q

Q

A

He did not.

Or that --

He did not stop.

Or was that the --

He -~

I'm sorry.

While he was running, --
He asked you?

-~ yes, he asked me. He said, "How's he look like®" Or he

asked someone elgse. 2aAnd I did answer.

Q

Did you see the apartment after -- Did you have any occasion

to go inside the apartment after and view the table?

A

Yes.
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6-101

[e] You did.

A Yes.
Q And when did you do that?
A Either the night -- the same night or Monday -- or Monday

night. I'm not sure. But I know we stayed away for two days.

Saturday and Sunday, we kept the business closed. Monday, 1 cane.

Q So, you didn't see the table prior to the shooting.

A No, -~-

Q You saw it after.

A -- no. But I saw the leg. I only saw the leg.

0] Okay. Had you ever seen Devin McDonald under the influence

of anything?

A Drunk, you know.

Q Drunk.

A I've seen him, vyeah.

g Ckay. You told the police, "He yeally is not a good guy. He

doesn't pay the rent. He destroys when he drinks. They smoke bad
stuff, him and his girl. They get violent. They break the walls.
If you go to the apartment, you'll see all the walls punctured.®

A Yeah.

Q "They're bad apples, you know. They're bad apples, so I
don't want to deal with them.™

A That's correct.

O Is that correct?

a That's correct. He fixed ~-
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6£-102
Okay .
-~ all the holes he punctured in the wall before he left, --
Mm-hmm.
-- just to be fair.
Mm-hmm. But you didn't have any plans to have them --
Evicted?
-~ moved out, evicted?

Yeah, not before. After the incident, yes, I went to court

and we served him.

Q But --
A And then the --
Q But that was after the incident.
)\ That was after the incident, absolutely.
Devin‘s behavior really started going downhill the last
couple of months before the incident, you know, that I -- I

started being aware of what he's doing, and screaming, and all the

music at night.

Q

ask?

Okay.

THE COURT: Ms. Lynch, do you have anything else you want to

MS. LYNCH: ©Nothing, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chaghouri.

THE WITNESS: Okay. Thank you.

[Witness steps down]
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6-103

MS. LYNCH: The next witness would be Michael Randall.
{MICHAEL RANDALL, Sworn.]
DIRECT EXAMINATION OF WITNESS, MICHAERL RANDALL

BY MS. LYNCH:

Q Morning, sir. If you would, would you please state your name

and spell your last name for the record?

A I'm Michael A. Randall. And my last name is R-A-N-D-A-L-L.
Q and where do you live?

A 340 Main Street, Apartment 206, Melrose, Mass.

Q And how long have you lived in that address in Melrosge?

A Sixteen years.

O What is your date of birth, six?

A 7/31/1950.

Q And what is your occupation?

A Gas attendant.

Q Do you work at a specific location?

A East Coast Gas Station in w -- in Reading, Mass., on Main
Street,

0 Okay. And how long have you worked there?

A Seven years.

Q And that's seven years from 2019 going back to 20127

A You got me fixed.

Q Ckay. Well, that's not --
A I don't have a good memory, there. I'm not going to lie

about 1it.
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6-104

o] Okay. In your capacity working there, did you know Alan
Greenough?

A Yes.

0 How long did you know Alan Greenough?

A Ten years.

o) Okay. And did you know --

A Yeah

Q -~ Mr. McDhonald, Devin McDonald?

A Oh, his roommate, yeah.

o] Okay. &and did you know him before he became Mr. Greenough's

roommate or only because he was Mr. Greenough's roommate?
A I knew him because that was Al's roommate.
Q Okay. And what about --

A Mm-hmm .

Q -~ Kim Bellino? Did you know hexr?

A I don't know the name.

o] Okay .

A Is that Devin's girlfriend there?

0 Okay. But did Devin have a girlfriend that was there?

A Yeah, he had --

Q Angd you knew who she was?

A Only by sight.

Q Okay. Now, direct your attention to Friday, February 2nd,
were you working that evening at the gas station at around six

o'clock?
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6-105

A I have no mewory. I ~-- If I -~ If you say I'm there, I was.
I -~

Q No, I'm ~-

A T can't remember --

Q I‘m not putting words in your mouth.

A Okay.

Q Did you -- Do you usually work Fridays?

A Oh, £ -- I work every Friday.

Q Okay.

A Yeah, okay.

Q And what hours do you work on Fridays?

A Fridays, let me see Friday night I come in at two in the
afternoon to nine at night.

o] And while you were at the gas station that day, that Friday,
did you work two to nine?

A Yeah I work two to nine every Friday.

Q Okay. Now, that afternoon while you were working the gas
station, you were the only person working the pumps at around six
o'clock?

A I'm ~~ I was the only ocone, yeah. I -~ I would say that's
correct, yeah.

Q Okay.

A Yeah, yeah.

Q Now, did you'notice shortly after 6:00 p.m. Alan Greenough

get out of a car --
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6-106

A Yes.

Q -- outside -~-

A Yes.

Q ~-- and go in the apartment?

A Yes.

Q And did you see him or did you hear or see anything between

the time that Alan got hcme and approximately 7:30 p.m.?
A Well, I seen him coming out of his friend's caxr. And he
says, "“"Hi, Mike."

T say, "Hi, ya. How's it doing?”

He says, "Good."

Q And then he went in his apartment?

A And then he went in his appointment.

0 Did you see what happened to the car that dropped him off?

A Let me see. She left.

Q Okay. And so you saw that it was a woman that dropped him
of£?

A Yes.

Q Okay. Now, during the time 6:10 to 7:30, did you see oxr hear

anything coming from the premises where people were living?

A 6:10 £ -- Truthfully, I don't remember. But I can't remember
that far back because --

Q Okay.

A -- I don't remember what I had for supper last night. You

know, --
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6~107

0 Okay .
A -~ that’s ~- I -- I don't remember.
o] Faixr enocugh. Do you remember whether after -- at any point,

Mr. Greenough leaving again with that same girl?

A Not really, no. No, that's -- Jeez. After that, that was
it. I didn't see him no more.

Q Okay. What about that evening while you were working? Did
you see police cruisers from the Reading Police Department show up
at the house, approximately 7:30/6:00 p.m. or thereabouts?

A Yeah, there was a bunch of them there.

0 Okay. And that was after Alan left or before?

A Wait a minute. He was in there -- I don't know. I -- Well,
I guess a bunch of them came. They were locking for him. 2And

they were --

Q Do you --
A ~- looking for him there now.
Q Okay. But you don't have a memory of whether Alan was still

-~ had already left or whether he was still there when the police
got there?

A Oh, far as I know, he w -- he -- yeah, he was still in there,
in the apartment.

6! So, when the police showed up at 7:30, you belisve he was
still inside the apartment?

A Yeg, that's right. Yeah, yeah.

0 Did the police --
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6-108

A He was.
Q -- come up to you and talk to you? Whether you heard oxr saw
anything?
A I don't remember. But in the police station --
Q No, no, no.
A ~- they talked --
Oh, oh.
QO I'm talking about the Friday.
A You got me fixed. I ~-- I can‘t remember.
0 Now, when the police came to the house, did you call Joe or

Anthony or Alan?

A When the police came to the house? Oh.
0 Yes, that night, that Friday.
A No. They know he -- he -- Everybody knew he was there. You

know, like, Joe knew he was there because all the policemen were

there.

o} But Joe wasn't there, wasg he?

A Yeah, Joe wag there.

0 That Friday night?

A Yeah.

Q Okay. Now, when you were at the gas station up until six

o'clock, did you ever have any conversation with Anthony Perxrotti
or call him on the phone?
A Six o'clock?

0 To tell him that the police were there?
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6~109
A Oh, a bunch of police came. He knew they were there anyway.
Everybody knew they were there.
Q Well, are you confusing the Friday night with Saturday day?

A No. What day you talking about?

Q I'm talking about Friday --
A Oh.
Q -~ night.

Y Oh, when all the g ~-
(@] When --
A -~ gtuff happened, yeah?

0 When the police -~

A Oh, no, Anthony was there. He knows.

Q So you believe that Anthony was there that night.

A Yeah, Anthony was there, Joe was there, the mechanics were
there

Q And this was all at between 6:00 and 9:00 p.m. on a Friday?
A Six? Yeah, as far as I know, everybody was there.

0] Okay. What about the following day, Saturday? Did you work

on Satuxrdays at the gas station?

A I work every Friday, Saturday, Sunday, and Tuesday.
Q Okay. And on that Saturday, what hours were you working?
A Saturday, I come in at one o‘clock in the afterncon and shift

is done at eight o'clock at night.

Q Okay. Now, at some point that afternocon did you see police

officers at the apartment?
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6-110

A On Saturday?

o] Yes, the day that Alan Greenough was shot.

A Jeez. I'm pretty -- I'm -~ I'm pretty sure I did. TI'm not a
hundred percent sure because the -- the wmemory it's just no good.

Q Do you have any specific issues with memory problems?

A Oh, I have mental illness. I have --

0 Okay .

A -~ gevere disability.

Q Okay Now, do you remember whether you spoke to Alan at any

point that day before the police got there?
A Oh, before the police got there? Yeah. He pulled up with
his friend and he got out.

I said, "Hi, Al."

He says, "Hi, Mike. How's it going?" And then he went in
the apartment. And I don't see him no more.
0] Okay. ©Now, when the police officers arrive, did you ocbserve

them knocking at the docr to the --

A Oh, jeez.

Q -~ apartment?

A You got me fixed. Jeez, I -- Knocking at the door? Think
so. I'm not -- I'm not sure.

o] Did you -~
A They might've been, but T -- I'm not a hundred percent sure.
o] Okay.

A I'm trying to answer the best I can.
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6-111

0O Sure. That'’'s all -~
A I don't want to --
Q -- we can ask you.

A Thank you kindly.

Q Do you remember Anthony being at work that day?
A Yeah. Everybody was there.
Q Okay. And do you remember Anthony telling Alan, "They just

want to talk to you"?

A Yes.

Q And then Anthony was on the phone talking to Alan, telling
him, "They just want to talk to you"?

A That's correct.

o] Okay Now, at some point did -- as you were outside, did you
alert Joe Chaghouri that the police were outside?

A That the police were outside? Did I tell Joe? I m -- I -- I

might've. I might've.

Q But you don't have a specific memory of that.

A I'm sorry. I --

0 No, that's ~-

A I'm trying to do the best I can.

0 In terms of what was going on there, do you recall being
outside and ~-- Or strike that. 2t any point did you see Alan

Greenough inside the office with a table leg?
A Yeah, he come into the -- the business with a table leg.

Q How did he come into the business? Did you see?
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6-112

A Yeah, I seen it. He ¢ -- He come in pretty fast, --

Q Was it --

A ~~ upset.

0 Did he come in from outside or inside?

A Outs -- Oh, no the -- He'd probably come in inside.

Q Okay. So he came in from inside. Were the police there at

that time?
A No. Just me and Joe were right there.

Q Okay. Now, when Alan left, did Joe tell you that Alan opened

the door with the gstick?

A Did Alan open the door with a stick? You can't open it with
a stick. You got to & ~-- turn the --

0 No, that he had opened the door and he had a stick in his
hand.

A I don't remember him telling wme that. But --

@] Okay.

A I --

Q You don't remember him telling you that.

A No, he might've. I -~ I don't remember.

0 Do you ~-~

A I don't -- My memory, you know.

THE COURT: Mr. Randall, can I ask you sir, is -- You said
you had some mental health issues and some issues -- Ms. Lynch
asked you -- with you memory?

THE WITNESS: Sure, yeah.
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6-113

THE COURT: Have those gotten worse since you were
interviewed by the police?

THE WITNESS: No.

THE COURT: Or are they same?

THE WITNESS: I'd say they're the same.

THE COURT: Okay.

THE WITNESS: Yeah.

THE COURT: Just wanted to check on that, sir.

THE WITNESS: Yeah.

THE COURT. All raght.
BY MS5. LYNCH:
0 Now, did you have a conversation with Mr. Chaghouri about Joe
being scared?
A Yeah, he was scared. He teold me.
0 And what did he say about that?
A He said, "I'm scared." He said, *I --" you know, "I -- I
thought he was going to hit me."
Q Okay. Now, during this time, customers are still coming in
and out of the gas station; is that right?
A I don't -- I -- I would say yeah. I don't remember. But I'm

-~ I'm sure there was 'cause we were still open.

Q Okay. And in terms of Mr. Greenough, in the time that you
knew him, can you generally describe for us whether you -- Strike
that.

That afternoon, were you ever in the office when it was you
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and Joe and Anthony and Orlando Ortiz that were in the office
standing near the door of the waiting room, talking about what had
happened with Alan coming out with the stick?

2 Me, Anthony, Ortiz, and -- Outside? We were outside?

o] Inside the office.

A Oh, inside talking? Inside, talking. I don't know.

O Was there any conversation that you recall today about what
they should do about the door being unlocked into the apartment,

and the police?

A I can't help you. I --

0 Okay.

A r --

Q You don't recall.

A I can't remember.

0 Okay. And at some point did you see the police attempting to

talk to Alan through a window in his apartment?

A Yes.

Q Did you hear anything about that?

A I heard Anthony talk on the telephone, saying, "They just
want to talk to you." BAnd then I think that's -- I think that's

all I heard, because then I went back inside the office.

Q Now, at some point did the police officers go into the office
and into the apartment from the inside?

A That -- That I'm -- I -- I don't think so. I'm not a hundred |

percent sure, but I don't think so.
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Q At any point did you hear any gunshots?

A I heard two.

Q Where were you when you heard them?

n Okay, give an example, T s --

Q Were you inside or outside?

A Well, I was outside.

0 And when you were outside and you heard the shots, did you

gsee anyone react to them?

A Yeah, Anthony. He ran over there.

0 So, where did he --

A And -~

Q ~- run over there fxrom?

A From right in front of the garage doors.

Q Okay. And at some point after he ran over to the area where

the gunshots were, did you see him again? Anthony? Did he come

back?

A Yeah, he was there the whole time. Like, I saw him.
Q and did he tell you that "They shot my brother”?

A Yes. He said, you know, "They shot my brother --

Q And did he tell you --

A -- and they killed him."

0 -~ that they shot him point blank? Were those your words?
A No, he just said, "They killed my brother. They killed wmy
brother," or -- or "shot my brother."

o] But Anthony was not in the area of the Hummer when the --
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when you heard the shots; is that fair to say?

A Correct, vyeah.

Q And in terms of your knowledge of Mr. Greenough, have you in
the time that you've known him ever seen him under the influence
of alcohol or drugs?

A Yes.

Q And can you to the Court, is there any difference in his
demeanor or behavior when he's sober and when he's under the
influence of those substances?

A Well, of course he's better when he's sober.

Q Okay. And what do you mean by that?

A You know, he's just -- You know, he's just calm and, you

know, doesn't act up or anything.

0 When he's sobex?

A Yes.

o] And when he is not sober, how is that different?

A He's a little bit, you know, like, m -- m ~-- more rest --
more -- I don't know how to say it. I don't know. I don't know.
T --

Q So, vyou don't know what the -- how he was different?

A He was a little different. Yeah, like a little angry or
something.

Q Did you tell the police that Mr. Greenough had disabilities?

A Did I tell the police that he had -- that Al -- Alan had

digsabilities?
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Yes.
No, I don't know. No, of course not.
Did you tell the police that you always got along with Alan?
Yeah, we always got along real good.

Did you tell the police that Alan had odd behaviors and was

on drugs?

A No, no.

Q You don't recall it, or you didn't say it?

A No, I didn't say. No.

o) Okay. Did you tell the police that Alan had gone to rehab?
A No. When I went to the -- the police station and I sat in
the police station for a couple of hours -- and I went in the

police station and he says, the cop says, you know, "What

happened??

And I thought Anthony -- I -- I just said I seen him with a s

-- with a stick. But I thought it was a leaf.

A leaf?

I thought it ~-- it was a leaf, yeah.
AN

But I guess it -~ I --

THE COURT: A leaf or a --

THE WITNESS: You know, a branch.

THE COURT: A branch.

BY MS. LYNCH:

A

And that was it. That's all the cop asked me, as far as I
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The police asked me --

0 Okay .
A -- one or two guestions, and that was it. He said okay.
Q BRut you did -- you saw Mr. Greenough with that? Or was that

just what Joe told you?

A No, Joe didn't -- No, I -- When I seen him with the table

¢

stand there, --

THE

THE

THE

THE

THE

with it?

THE

COURT:

WITNESS:

COURT:

WITNESS:

COURT:

WITNESS:

And towards Joe.

THE

THE

there.

THE

THE

THE

THE

THE

THE

THE

COURT:

WITNESS :

COURT:

WITNESS::

COURT:

WITNESS:

COURT:

WITNESS :

COURT:

You thing it was a branch.
I thought it was a branch.

And were you afraid when you saw it?
I was afraid, vyeah

You were afraid. And what did you see him do

He just raised it up like this. [Indicating.]
And then --
What did you do?

I -- I didn't do anything. I -- I just stayed

You just stayed there.
Just ~- Yes,

But you thought, at the time, it was a branch.
I thought it was a branch, yeah.

Okay. And that made you afraid for you?
Well, I was n -- nervous, too, yes.

You were nervous.
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THE
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THE

THE

THE

THE

WITNESS:

COURT:

WITNESS :

COURT':

WITNESS :

COURT:

thought

WITNESS:

COURT:

WITNESS:

COURT:

WITNESS:

COURT:

the counter?

THE

THE

THE

Joe

THE

WITNESS:

COURT :

WITNESS:

said,

COURT:

I was
Ckay .

-- gscared, vyeah.

-~ Yeah, I was -~

And -- But you didn't do anything.

No.
Okay .

was a branch?

He just put it up like that.

And how long was it up?

Just a few seconds.

And where was Joe,

at the time?

Joe was right be -- behind the counter.

Okay .

Yes.

Wag he saying anything?

Just said,

and what observations

Greenough at that time?

THE WITNESS:

THE

THE WITNESS:

THE

COURT:

COURT :

You mean how he was

How he was acting,
-~ and stuff?

-- yeah.

"Why'd you call the cops?®

"I didn't call the cops.®

did you make of Mr.

acting --

6-119

and so, what did you see him do with the --

[Indicating.]

And Mr. Greenough was on the other side of

And that
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THE WITNESS: Kind of, you know, a little scary.

THE COURT: Scary?

TRE WITNESS: Scary, yeah.

THE COURT: Did he appear to be under the influence of
anything then?

THE WITNESS: I don't -- I'd say no.

THE COURT: No?

THE WITNESS: Just -- No.

THE COURT: And why did -- why do you think no?

THE WITNESS:- Because when the cops were at Al‘s house ~-- And
it happened s -- It happened so fast. Al was conly I think in the
apartment maybe for, like, 15-20 minutes -~

THE COURT: Mm-hmm,

THE WITNESS: -- when he come out and he went to the -- in
the gas station, --

THE COURT: Mm-hmm.

THE WITNESS: -~ right with Joe.

THE COURT: Yeah.

THE WITNESS: So, it's kind of fast if he was drinking
something. But, I mean, I don't think he did because it wasn't a
long period of time that he was in the apartment before he come in
the gas station.

THE COURT: Okay. All right. And before he came into the
gas station, had you seen him before that, before he came into the

gas station?
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THE WITNESS: Yeah.

THE COURT: Yeah.

THE WITNESS: He drove up with his girlfxriend.

THE COURT: He -- A girl --

THE WITNESS: His --

THE COURT: Drove up with his girlfriend.

THE WITNESS: Yes.

THE COURT- Al did?

THE WITNESS: Al did, yeah.

THE COURT: Okay. Who's the girlfriend?

THE WITNESS: Her name was Amy.

THE COURT: Amy. Okay. And so, you saw him drive up then?
THE WITNESS: Yeah. She drove up with him. He got out.
THE COURT: VYeah.

THE WITNESS: He says, "Hi, Mike, how you doing??

I say, "Yeah, how's everything going?"

He said, "Good, Mike,"” and he went in the apartment.
THE COURT: And then went in the apartment.

THE WITNESS:

THE

COURT :

you saw him with

Yeah.

THE

WITNESS:

After the

THE

THE WITNESS:

COURT:

Yeah.
And then you didn't see him again until you say
what you thought was the tree branch.

Oh, vyeah, okay, yeah, with the tree bra --
~- Yeah, vyeah. You're right.

Is that right?

Yeah, you're right.
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THE COURT: Okay.
THE WITNESS: Yeah.
MS. LYNCH: Thank you.
BY MS., LYNCH:
Q I just want to ask you a few gquestions about the area outside
the gas station. There is a room here, and that is where there's

the inside door, where I'm pointing. Do you see this window here?

A Yeah, I see it. Yeah, yeah.

@) Okay. And that's --

A Yeah.

Q -~ the room that the door into the apartment is?

A I -- I can't -- Yeah, there's only one door. It goes right

into the apartment.

Q Okay. Now, the front of the gas station, are there two doors
in front? The area behind the pump here. I'm going to try to
find a better picture, but --

A Yeah, there's two doors out front.

Q Okay. And in terms of those two doors, does cone of them
almost have a little double door, a foyer where there's an area
where you can stand, where you're between tweo doors? You'‘re not

in the office but you're not outside?

A Two for -- Yeah, there's like a little room to the -~ Yeah,
you -- You can stand. There's, like, another room to the right.
Q Yeah, but it's very small, isn't it? It's like a fover or a
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A It's like a £ -- It's a small room, yeah. It’s not a big
room.

Q Okay. And where were you when Mr. Greenough came in with the
stick?

A T was right inside. Here's the counter. And I was just

standing right here.

Q So you were inside the office?

A I was inside -~

0 Your memory is --

A -~ the office.

Q Okay. Sc you were not in the foyer. You're saying that you

were in the actual office when this happened.
A Yeah, I was in the actual office itself.

Q And did ~-

A Correct.

Q -- Mr Greenough see you or --

A Yeah.

Q -~ talk to you?

A No, he didn't say nothing to me, just -- just says to Joe,

"Why'd you call the police?*®

And Joe said, "I didn't call the police.?

0 Now, when he went back inside the apartment, did you notice
whether the door -- he locked or unlocked the dooxr?
A Oh, no. I mean, just -- The doorknob -- There's the doorknob

and there's a little handle. BAnd you could lock and unlock it.
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But he went back inside. So, that's improbable. There -~- There's
no way.

THE COURT: It's impossible that he locked it?

THE WITNESS: No, it's improbable that I could see if --

THE COURT: Oh, that you could see it,

THE WITNESS: -- if it was locked or if it was unlocked,
yeah.

THE COURT: OCkay.
BY MS. LYNCH:
Q But at any point did anyone say to you, "Hey, he didn't lock

the doorh?

A I -- No one said that to me, no.

Q Okay. So you weren't aware that that door was unlocked?

A There's no way I ¢ -- I could know.

Q Yeah, but did -- Well, you could know if somebody told you,
right?

A Nobody said nothing to me.

Q Ckay. So you did not have any -- hear any conversation

involving Joe or Anthony that the deooxr was unlocked?
A No, I don't hear -- remember hearing anything about the door

being locked or --

Q But you --
A ~- unlocked.
Q Did you tell the police officers who were at the door,

knocking on the apartment door, that Alan had come into the office
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while they were at the police station -- while they were at the
gas station trying to get in?

A I didn't talk to any police officers.

0 Okay. So even though you saw him in the coffice, you didn't
tell the police officers that at the scene.

A No, because 1 was there and I didn't talk fo any police

officers at all.

o} Okay.

A I didn't say any. There were none inside --
Q Okay.

A -- the business, either,

Q All right. Thank you, Mr. Randall.

A Okay.

Q Oh, let me just ask you one guestion.

A Yeah, sure.

Q Do you know Mr. Dris Cuther [phoneticl?

A He's a tenant.

Q Okay.

A He lives in the apartment.

Q And does -- did he recently have a stroke, within the past

couple of months?

A Yes, vyeah.

Q Okay. 2and as a result of that, is he no longer able to
remember things and --

A I -- I'mn -- I would say maybe a ~- I'm not too sure. But
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Joe says he don't remember like he used to.

Q Okay. But Mr. Dris -- Mr. Cuther did have a --
A He had a stroke, I ~- Yeah.

Q Okay.

A It's a brain hem -- Something.

Q Ckay.

A He had something. Yeah.

e} Thank you.

THE COURT: Mr. Pasciucco, anything?

MR. PASCIUCCO: I don't have any questions.

THE COURT: No? Mr. Koufman, nothing?

MR. KOUFMAN: Just --

THE COURT: No. What's the offer?

MR. KOUFMAN: The offer is I just want to find out whether
Anthony was with him when he heard the gunshots.

THE COURT: Okay. You can ask that question.

CROSS EXAMINATION OF WITNESS, MICHAEL RANDALL

BY MR. KOUFMAN:

Q Sir, you testified that you heard two gunshots; is that
correct?

A Yes.

O And were you with anybody when you heard those two gunshots?
A I was by myself. I was outside.

o] Ckay. Was anybody around you at that time?

A Yeah, the mechanics --
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Q Do you know if Anthony was with you?

A ~- and -~ and Anthony. I was with Anthony.

Q Okay. Where exactly were you?

) Right in £ -~ front of the -- one of the garage doors.
Q ' And could you tell where the gunshot was coming from?
Gunshots?

A Yes, I could tell, yes, where they were coming from.

O And where were they coming from, to the best of your ability?
A From where Alan Greenough was.

0 Is that, if you're facing the front door, to the left?
A If you're -~ If you're face -~ If you're outside the

establishment, to the right. It's to the right, where all the

cars are parked there. You know what I mean? Like, here -~

here’'s the door. [Indicating.] When you walk out the door, you
go right.
Q Okay. So, 1f your back is to the establishment, it's to your

right? If you're leaving the establishment, it's to the right?
A Yeah, if you're leaving the establishment. If you go to the
right, that's where I heard the sounds, --

MR. KOUFMAN: Thank you, Judge.
A -~ you know, go --

CROSS EXAMINATION OF WITNESS, MICHAEIL RANDALL

BY THE COURT:
Q So, Mr. Randall, you told the police, if you recall, "I -- I

don't want to see, you know, a police officer getting in trouble.
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You know, I respect the police. But that's -- Like I said, you
know, this 18 what he gaid, you know." What did you mean by that?
A I‘m sorry; I didn't s -- I didn't hear what -~
0 So, you told the detectives when you were being interviewed,
"I don't want to see you get -- I don't want a police officer to

get in trouble. You know I respect the police.™

A I didn't say that.

Q Well, it's in -~-

A Not me.

Q It's in your -- in the transcript of the --

THE COURT: I don't know, Ms. Lynch, if you want to show him
page 14. Or I can show him.

MS. LYNCH: Do you have any issues with reading?

THE WITNESS: Yes, of course I do.

MS. LYNCH: Okay. So, just going to come up and show you the
page.

THE WITNESS: I wmean, I have d -- I have d ~- difficulties in
everything. If I go to dial somebody's phone number, it's hard
for me just to dial --

MS. LYNCH: All right.

THE WITNESS: -- seven numbers.

MS. LYNCH: The page that Your Honor was referring to, --

THE COURT: -- I have as 14.

MS. LYNCH: Okay. Thank you.

THE WITNESS: Oh, boy.
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MS. LYNCH: All right. Do you remember -- And I'm just going
to read this to you.

THE WITNESS: All right.

MS. LYNCH: A state trooper asked you, at page 13, "So, when
he said they shot him point blank, it's -~ he's speculating?"

You answered, "He's just speculating, yeah. ©Oh, yeah."®

And then the trooper said, "All right. I just want to make
sure."

And you said, "Yeah, yeah, yeah. Of course, yeah."

And Troopexr Gagne said, "All right.n"

And that's when you said, "I don't want to see, you know, a
police officer getting in trouble, you know. I respect the
police. So, -- But that's -- Like I said, you know, this is what
he said, you know. He's speculating.”

aAnd then you continued after the trooper said, “Uh-huh":

"You know, because this is how he says everything. He says
he pulled him out and point blank -- point blank -- oh, and I
forgot to tell you -- shot him twice in the chest, he said, you
know. But he's speculating, like I said. You know?"

And then Detective Fitzgerald said, "So, he wasn't anywhere
near the shooting? He was off to the right side if vyou're looking
at the gas station® You go to the right?"

And you answered, "Yeah, yeah."

Angd then Trooper Gagne asked, “So, he's further away than you

ware? "
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And you said, "He's further away than I am, yeah. Yeah,
yeah. There's no way. Yeah, no, you know."

And then Detective Fitzgerald asked you, "You didn't hear --
Before the shooting that happened, you didn't hear any yelling or
anything?" And --

THE WITNESS: Now you're talking about when I was at the
police station?

MS. LYNCH: Yes, that you're telling the police this.

BY THE COURT:

o] Do you remember saying that, six?

A No.

0 Okay. All right.

A I don't remember none of it.

o And the reason I'm asking you these questions is ‘cause
there's another section on page 18 where it says, "Hey,” you say,
"If you ever need anything I can do, you know I respect the
police. I know if somebody breaks into my house, who do I call?
The cops. Everybody forgets they call the cops."®

So, I understand a lot of people have a lot of respect for
the police. You're in a position where you've indicated the
respect that you have for the police. And you also work at the
gas station and you know Mr. Greenough and Mr. Perrotti. Thisg is
a process where the Court is trying to gather all the facts.

A Yeah.

Q And I want to make sure that you have told everything that
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you remember.
A Oh, yeah, as faxr as I can remember. I mean, I don't remembey
much. But, you know, to the best of my ability, which is not good

-~ I get that. But to the best of my ability, anyway.

Q Okay. All right. And so, this -- Do you remember -- Again,
just to get back -- Was Mr. Pexrotti with you at the time that the
shots -- you heard the shotsg?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And then Mr. Perrotti did what? Did he run to the

back? Do you remember?

A No, he was really upset, Mr. Perrotti. 2and he said that "You
killed my brother, you killed my brother.”

Q And where were you when you heard the shots?

A I was right beside him.

0 Right. But did you stay or did you go with him when he ran?

A Ch, I walked up a couple of steps, few feet with him.

Q Did you ever see Mr. Greenough, then, after he'd been shot?
A No.

Q You didn't go to where the Hummer was?

A Oh, no.

Q Okay .

A Oh, no.

Q All right. And do you work on the cars or are you just a gas
station attendant?

A I'm just a gas station --
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A I don't know anything about --

o) I shouldn't say --

A -- cars.

Q -- "just."

A Yeah.

Q But you're a gas station attendant.
A No, I -- No, yeah.

Q Okay .

A No, vyeah.

6-132

¢} All right. Okay.
A Fine.
Q All right. Thank you, sir.
MR. PASCIUCCO: Judge?
THE COURT: Yeah.
MR. PASCIUCCO: I just have one --
THE COURT: Yeah.
MR. PASCIUCCO: ~-- guick question based on the -- how he was
examined.
THE COURT: Sure.

CROSS EXAMINATION OF WITNESS, MICHAEL RANDALL

BY MR. PASCIUCCO:

0 Mr. Greenough, my name's Peter Pasciucco.

Officer Erik Drauschke.

You indicated that you heard gunshots;

I represent

is that correct?
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A Two.
0 Okay. Do you remember telling the police that you initially
thought it was cars backfiring?

2\ I thought it was -- Yes.

Q Okay. 8o, were you told that it was then gunshots?
A Find out later. Then I know, you know, what everything
happened.

Q Okay. Thanks.
A Yeah, you're welcome. Yeah.

THE COURT: Thank you, Mr. Randall.

THE WITNESS: My pleasure.

THE COURT: Careful stepping down, sir.

THE WITNESS: Thank you, kindly. Thanks. BAppreciate it.

[Witness steps down]

THE COURT: Why don't we take -- You have -- Who's the next
witness?

MS. LYNCH: Well, that was what I was going to address --

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. LYNCH: -~- with the Court. I have Dr. Shah, the medical
examiner, coming in at two, along with two troopers, Trooper Gagne
who did the phone downloads and Trooper Hari Arisetty who did the
mapping --

THE COURT: Mm-hmm.

MS. LYNCH: -~ of the area.

THE COURT: Yeah.
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I can start with Mr. Perrotti. I don't know if

we would finish with him by two o'clock. But --

THE COURT: OCkay.
MS. LYNCH: -~ I'm prepared --
THE COURT: I'm fine taking him out order,
MS. LYNCH: And --
THE COURT: Why don't --
MS. LYNCH: -- interrupting that testimony?
THE COURT: Yeah, sure.
MS. LYNCH: Okay.
THE COURT: Fine. So, why don't we just take, though, a --
just a brief morning -- maybe 1l0-minute recess. Okay?
[Court in Recess at 11:43:00 a.m.]
[Back on Record at 11:56:07 a.m.]
THE COURT: -- having some major car issues. So I either

need to wrap to get it into the dealership early by guarter to

four, or I'll have to be late tomorrow. And I know we have a

abbreviated day tomorrow. So, in terms of scheduling of

witnesses, just let me know what the preference is.

MS. LYNCH:

THE COURT:

MS. LYNCH:

Shah in at --

THE COURT:

MS. LYNCH:

Sure. I think today would probably be best.
Okay.

But I just wanted to make sure I could get Dr.

Yes.

~-- two.
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THE COURT: Yes. Yep. Okay. So, you're going to call Mr.
Perrottl now?
ME. LYNCH: Yes. Just --
THE COURT: Okay.
MS. LYNCH: -- for the hour.
THE COURT: Yeah.
[ANTHONY PERROTTI, Sworn.]
DIRECT EXAMINATION OF WITNESS, ANTHONY PERROTTI

BY MS. LYNCH:

Q Good afternocon, sir.
A Good morning,
Q Would you please state your name and spell your last name for

the record?
A anthony Perrotti, P-E-R-R-O-T-T-I.
o] and what is your date of birth, Mr. Perrotti?

A 16/19/79.

Q And whexre do you presently live?

A Wilmington.

Q And who do you live with at that address in Wilmington?
A My wife and my son.

Q Now, are you presently employed?

A Yes.

Q Aand where do you work?

A East Coast Gas.

0 And how long have you been working at East Coast Gas?
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A Approximately eight years.

o] Going back to 20117

A 2012.

Q 2012, okay.

A Approximately, yeah. Or --

Q And what is your job at East Coast Service & Gas or Gas &
Sexvice?

A Manager.

Q How long have you been the manager there?

A Probably six years, seven years.

Q Okay. From today?

A Approximately.

Q Okay. So around 2013 you became the manager?
A I believe so.

Q Or '14°7?

A Yes. I worked as a mechanic prior.

Q Give or take.

FPebruary, did you have set hours? Then, this is February of

A

Now, when you were manager at the gas station back in

Not exact -~

Or days?

Not exactly set hours, but --
What about --

But I worked -~

~-- set days?

2018.
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A Yes.
Q Okay. And what were the days that you generally worked?
A Monday through Saturday.
Q Now, do you recall whether or not on Friday, February 2nd of

2018, you had a medical procedure scheduled for that day?

A Yes.

Q And as a result of that, did you go to work at East Coast
that day?

A I did not go to work. I may have stopped by. But I don't
recall.

0 But you were not on the clock, so to speak.

A Correct.

Q Now, during the day, did you see your breother, Alan
Greenough?

A Friday?

0 Strike that. Let me ask you this: what is your relationship

to Alan Greenough?

A He's my brother.
Q And is your oldexr brother or younger brother?
A Older.

Q and how much older?

A Four years.

Q And in terms of your brother, he lived at the apartment at
1462 Main Street?

A Yes.
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Q and do you recall whether you saw your brother at all that
day?

A I do not.

Q Okay. Now, on that particular Friday after you had your

medical procedure, did you go home to your house in Wilmington?

A Yes.

o) And while you were there, did you receive a series of phone
calls®?

A Yes

0 And text wmessages?

A Yes.

Q And were they from your brother, Alan Greenough?

A I received multiple. I -- But, yes, some were from him.
0] Okay. And were some from Devin McDonald?

A Yes, I believe so.

Q And who was Devin McDonald?

A Alan's childhood friend.
Q And was -- did you know him to be also a roommate at that
apartment at 1462 --
A Yes.
O -~ Main Street?
Can you describe your brother's apartment in terms of the
layout?
A The main entrance, when you walk into the main entrance, you

got the one apartment door oun the right, other -- Alan's apartment
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door on the left. And you walk into the apartment. Straight in
is a complete kitchen area, with the fridge on the left. To the
right isg the living room/Alan's bedroom.

And then the stairs are kind of straight ahead, to the right.
You go up to the top of the stairs, the bathroom's to the left.
Aund then the bedroom is directly -- Alan's old bedroom ig directly
across from the bedroom. And then Devin's bedroom would be down
the -- at -- at an end of the hallway.
0 And you mentioned the living room/Alan's bedroom on the first
floor. Was that a recent room-change, so to speak?
A I believe so.
Q And in terms of the living rcom, was it still used as a

living room? That i1s, was there still a TV and some sofas in

there?
A I believe Alan's stuff was in there for him to watch TV.
QO Okay. ©Now, in terms of the other apartment, did you know

whether there were any other tenants back then?

A Yes.

0 In that building?

A Devell Range and Dris Couture [phonetic].

0 And did either oxr both of them work at the gas station?

A Yes, both of them.
o) Now, were you famililar with the number and location of
entrances and exits to the apartment?

A Yes.
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Q And what were the doors related to the apartment? Where were
they located?
A When you walk in the main entrance, you have the main front
door to my brother's apartment tc the left; Devell Range's
apartment to the right.
Q OCkay. But in terms of, like, your brother‘s apartment, what

were the ways that you could enter or exit the apartment through

doorways?

A The main door that is always used was a door to the kitchen.
Q Okay .

A There is another door that goes to the office, but it was

always locked, never used, and it didn't lead to the outside. So
we just kept it completely locked.
0 And how would it be locked? Did it require a key to lock it?

Or was it something with a bolt mechanism that you could turn?

A I believe it was a key.

@) Okay. 8o, someone inside would need to use a key --

A Or -~

Q -- to unlock it?

A I don't know for sure.

Q Okay.

A I'm -- I'm assuming.

Q Okay. So you den't have a memory. But someone on the

outside could also lock it or unlock it with a key?

A Yes, I remember there's a key for the outside.
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e Okay. And when you walk in the front door or.would walk in

the front door into your brother's apartment, you actually looked

straight ahead and see that door into the gas station; is that

right?
A Yes, you would see that dooxr.
Q Okay. So, the front door is on one side of that bank of

windows, and the other door is on the opposite side. You know
what I'm referring to?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And so, the whole front of the house is the kitchen.
A Correct.
Q And then there's a stairway in the kitchen that leads

upstairs to the bedrooms.

A Correct.

0] And there was a curtain that separated the kitchen area from
the room that you described as Alan's --

A Yes.

Q -~ bedroom.

and, now, who had the keys for the front dooxr?

A I'm not sure.

Q Okay. Obviously, the tenants would have keys.
A I would assume.

Q So your brother probably had one?

A Yes.

Q Do you know whether your brother had a key to the front doox?
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A I'm assuming he did.

Q Okay. And do you know who had keys to the door into the gas

station?

A I don't -~ I don't believe there was a key for the door to
the gas --

0 You don't believe there was a key for the --

A The -- We have a set of keys that we keep in the drawer. But

I don't know if there was a key to that door, though. I'm
assuming there was.
0 Okay. But I thought you said that the only way you could get

in that door was through a key.

A Yeah, from the outside.

Q Okay.

A S0 I'm assuming there's a key to the door.

9 Okay. But you were not familiar with it or --

A I can't remember.

QO And are you -- Do you know 1f your brother had a key to that
door?

A I doun't.

0 Do you know if Devin had a key to that door?

A I do not.

Q Now, in addition to those doors, was there any way to get

into the basement from your brother's apartment?
A Basement? I don't think so.

0 Okay. But there is actually, in the back of the premises,
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6-143
what appeared to be an old bulkhead-type situation, where there's

stailrs going down?

A I believe so. But I think it's got cinderblocks s --

0 Okay .

A ~~ blocking it.

Q So you don't believe that's a means of egress or access?

A I don't believe so.

0 Okay. What is the setup with the other apartment? Do you

know whether there's more than one door/exit?

A There is a back door.

Q Okay. So they have a back door.

A Yes.

0 Okay. Now, in terms of the residence of -- On February 2nd,

in your brother's apartment, other than Devin McDonald and your
brother, was anyone else living there?

A Yes, Kim Bellino.

0 And who was Kim Bellino?
A Devin's girlfriend.
Q And do you recall when it was that you first remember seeing

her or being aware that she existed?

A I couldn't give you a exact time.

Q Ckay. Did it seem to be weeks, months, a year? If you can.
A From when?

o) From the time of your brother's decease.

A I can't tell you; I'm not sure.
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Q Okay. So-you don't -- you're not sure whether it was a
long-term --

A It may --

O -~ thing or --

A It may have been a few months.

o] Okay. Do you know how long Devin lived with your brothexr?
A Possibly ~-

Q Prior to PFebruary 2nd?

A Approximately maybe a year.

0 And had Kim lived there that time?

A Not the whole time.

Q Do you remember when it was that she actually started staying
there?

A I don't. —

Q Okay. Now, your brother had a cell phone back in February of
2018; is that right?

A Yes.

0 And you had a cell phone as well.

A Yes.

Q And Devin McDonald, to your knowledge, had a cell phone?

A Yep.

Q And you would communicate with your brother using your cell

phone, and he usging his cell phone?

A

0

Yes.

And the same thing with Devin; is that xight?
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A - Absolutely.
Q Okay. And I just want to show you what has previously been
maxked as an exhibit, which are the downloads of the phones, okay?
And so with regard to the reports, the first section here is the

Devin McDonald phone and the second gection is the Greenough --

A Same thing you showed me --

Q ~-- phone.

A -- in the office?

Q Yes.

A Okay.

o) aAnd so, prior to coming in here today, you had an opportunity

to at least see the layout of the page and what it represents; --
A Yes.
Q -~ is that right

MS. LYNCH: Okay. And as I did with a prior witness, I'm
just going to for the record -- Your Honor, I have copied the
pages just because of its -~ the two sections. And I was hoping
that we could do the same thing with that, if that is a
pessibility. Okay.
BY MS. LYNCH:
Q Okay. 2And I'm just going to show you this for the McDonald
phone, page 185. And then we'll go here, just to show you what
I'm doing. Start with that. This is ~-

MS. LYNCH: I'm sorry. One moment, Your Honor.

BY MS. LYNCH:
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0 This is the McDonald phone. I'm showing you page 198 of the
McDonald phone. All right. I‘m just going to do it with this.
On the evening of -- Let me just ask you this: do you know
any of your brother's friends that he would, you know, communicate

or socilalize with at the house?

A I don't understand the gquestion.

0 Okay. Do you know somecne, a friend of your brother’'s, named
Curt?

A Yes.

0 And who wag Curt?

A Friends with my brother.

Q Okay. And you know Amy Thorn?

A Yes.

Q Do you know someone known -- referred to as Al -- A-L-B?

A Al. B.? A-L-B?
(0] "B, yeah.
A Yeah, yeah.

Q And whofg that?

A Friend of Alan.

Q Okay. But do you know what their connection is? O ijust
friends?

A Yeah.

0 What about Jim-Bo?

A Jimmy Brown?

Q That would be James Brown?
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A I believe so. I don't know. Or it could be another Jim.

Q Okay. And what about Jim Knight? Do you know who that is?
A No.

o} Ckay. Now, I'm going to --

A I've heard the name, but I don't know who it is.

QO Okay. ©Now, on the evening of February 2nd, you were home in

Wilmington after your medical appointment; is that right?

A Correct.

0 And directing your attention to the timeframe 6:19:57 p.m.,
I'm going to ask you to look at the exhibit in front of you in the

McDonald tab. 1If you would look at page 4, Entry 35.

A Thirty-five?

Q Yes.

A Yep.

Q And do you see an Entry 35 on page 4°7?

A Yes,

Q And does that appear to be a call placed from the Devin

McDonald cell phone to your cell phone for 0 seconds' duration?

A It does.

Q And directing your attention to the following -- the previous
entry, Entry 34, --

A Yep.

Q ~- at 6:24:39, does 1t appear that Devin called your cell for
42 seconds at that time?

A It does.
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0 Do you remember whether you spoke to Devin at that time?

A I do not.

Q Okay. Now directing your attention to the records for your
brother's phone, I'm going to -- Sorry. Does it appear at page 9,
Entyy 48, -~ Do you see that entry?

A Yep.

Q Does that appear to be your brother's cell phone calling your

cell phone for 36 seconds?

A Yes.

Q Do you recall whether you spoke to your brother in that phone
call?

A I do not.

Q And directing your attention to Entry 47 on that page,

8:28:54 p.m., does it appear that your brother called your cell

phone again at 30 -- for 32 seconds?
A Yes.
Q Now I'm going to ask you to refer back to the Devin Mchonald

phone records and on page 41. And that would be Entry 121.

A Okay.

0 Do you see that?

A Yep.

Q And does that appear to be an entry at 6:30:09 p.m. in which

Devin texted you, "Anthony, he is L-T-I-N-G through his teeth. He
just came home, destroyed my kitchen table and chairs as soon as

he came in. WTF?" Does that appear to be that entry?
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A Yes.

Q Now, do you remember whether you were receiving these as they
were coming in or --

A I was pretty tired. I had --

Q Okay.

A I had that procedure so I -- I ~- I really don't know.

Q Okay.

A I --

0 Now, directing your attention to page 41, Entry 120, does it

appear that Devin McDonald texted you at 6:30:34 p.m., "We wanted

to call the cops but called you first??

A

Yes.
Do you remember whether you received that real-time?

I ~-- I don't.

I -- I do remember getting texts but I don‘t remember what --
it was --

What time?

-~ about,

Whether you -~

Yeah, what time. Yeah.

-- were reading them as they were --

Correct.

-- coming in oxr -~-

Yep.
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Q -- in bulk, so to speak.

Now, at some point -- Now, in terms of your brother's
relationship with the gas station, were you aware that at one
point that evening your brother at approximately 6:31:02 walked
into the gas station and appeared to be involved in a transaction

with a customer, -~-

A I was aware when --

Q -~ accepting keys?

A I was aware when I saw the video.

Q Okay. So, at some point in preparing for today’'s hearing, we

met; is that right?

A Yes.

6] And at that time I showed you some of the video evidence?
A Yes.

Q And you recognize the person in the office --

A Yes.

o} -- waiting on the customer to be Alan; is that right?

A Yep.

Q Now, directing your attention to the McDonald records, page

40, Entry 118, 6:32:29 p.m. -~

A Yep.

Q Do you see Hntry 1187

A T do.

0 And does that appear to be Devin texting you, “Bro, he just

came in from Ronnie's wake and started smashing everything"?
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A Yep.
Q And in terms of those call records, I'm going to ask you for
the next series of guestions to refer to your brother’'s cell phone
records. And direct your attention to page 92, Entry 145.
A Page 9, 1457
Q Oh, I'm sorry, Entry -- Strike that. I'm going to ask you to
go to page 9, Entry 46.
A Okay.
Q And does that appear that Alan's cell phone called you at
6:33:35 p.m. for 7 seconds?
A Yeah.
Q Now, in looking at page 9, Entry 46, do you recognize that
phone number that the "Alan Greenough's cell" called for a minute

and thirty-five seconds to be your mom's phone?

A Forty-six? ©No, that's my number.

0 Forty-five; I'm sorxry.

A Yes, 45 would be my mother's number.

Q QOkay. ©So it appears that at 6:34:25 p.m. your brother called

your mother for 1 minute and 35 seconds?

A It does.

Q Okay. ©Now, directing your attention to -- Now I'm just going
to switch and ask you to look at page 189 of your brother's
records. And I'm going to direct you to Entry 1959. And that
would be an entry at 6:37:34 p.m. Does that ~-- Do you gee that

entry?
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A Mm-hmm.
Q 1959, BAnd does that appear to be a text that your brother's
cell phone received from your mother's number?
A Yep.
0 And that said, "Call the police. Go next-door after you take
pictures. Make sure you take pictures, okay?" Does that appear
to be accurate?
A I see that, yeah.
Q And that after that entry, 1960, on that same page, at
6:38:33 p.m., does it appear that your brother‘s cell phone
received another text from your mom: "Just keep your cool, okay?"

Does that appear --

A Yeah.

) -~ to be accurate?

A Yeah. It says it.

0 Now, directing your attention to the Devin McDonald records
at page 40, --

A Mm-hmm .

Q Entyy 111 at 6:41:16 p.m., --

A Yep.

Q Does it appear that Devin texted your phone: "Ant, sorry. Al

is in a bad way. He drank a lot with Al B. chis afternoon. I saw
it when I came back at two"? Does that appear to be accurate?
A Yep.

0 And then the following would be the next entry, 110, at
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6:41:42 p.m. Devin texted you again: "And paid Joe." Does that
appeax accurate?
A Yep.
Q Next, the entry, 109, at 6:42:10 p.m. Devin -~ It appears at

that entry that Devin texted you, "He 1s acting like a nut.®

A Yep.
0 And that at 6:48:12, Entry 107, Devin texted you again:
"Dude, your brother just picked Kim. All fuck up." Does that

appear accurate?

A Yep.

0 At 6:48B:45 p.m. on page 40, Entry 106, does it appear that
the McDonald phone texted your phone: "Tell him to stay away or we
are calling the cops"?

A Yep, looks like that.

Q Ckay. And then Entry 105, that he texted you yet again, at
6:48:51 p.m.: "Now."

A Yep.

0 Now, directing your attention to your brother's phone records
~- And I'm just going to try to do it with this, wmake it a little
bit easier for you. Sorry about that. I'm just going to direct
you to your brother's record at page 189, Entry 1962, at --

A Okay.

®) -- 6:48:53 p.m. Does it appear that your brother called your
cell for 9 seconds?

A Hold on; I'm sorry. Nine -- 18627
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Q 1962; I'm sorry.
A Nine -- On which page?
Q This would be on page 18% of your book.
A Oh, that's why, that's why; you gave me a different page.
189, 1962, vep.
o] That would be 1962, ves.
A Yep, I see that.
Q And that at 6:49:47 p.m., Entry 1963 on that page, -~- that
the Greenough phone received a text from your mother: "You can

send me the pictures if you want."

A Yep.
Q Now directing your attention to the Devin McDonald records at
page 40, 104 -- and that would be BEntry 104, 6:50:02, that Devin

texted you again: "He destroyed a $300 table and chairs and almost
kicked in the very front door because it wouldn't open right
away." Does that appear accurate?

A That's what it says, yes.

0 Okay. And at 6:50:33, another text from Devin to your phone:
"Please tell him to chill, because we are minding our own shit.”
And that would be Entry 103.

A Yep.

Q And that Entry 102 on that same page, Devin against texts
you: "I understand his buddy died, but he is trying to start
fights all around." And does that appear accurate?

A That's what it says, vyes.
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0 And at 6:52:28 p.m., Devin texted you again: "He comeg in
this room again, Y am calling the cops." Does that appear
accurate?

A That's what -- Yeah.

Q And that at Entry 100 on page 329 now, which was at

6:52:48 p.m., Devin texted you, "He's just looking for a fight.n©
Is that correct?

A Yep.

o] And in terms of the next -- the entry on page 189 of your
brothex's record, Entry 1964, --

A Yep.

Q ~~ does that appear to be: your brother's cell phone receives
a call from your mother for 20 minutes and 22 seconds?

A It does.

0 And so, 1if the call came in 6:54:35, if you add 22 minutes --
20 minutes and 22 seconds, it would appear that that call ended at
7:14:57 p.m., just by arithmetic?

A If that‘s what it is, yes, correct.

Q Okay. And that, directing your attention to page 189 of your
brother's recoxds, Entry 1970, which was at 7:29:08 p.m., does it
appear that your brother received a text from your mother's phone
number: "Hey, want to come over tomorrow after I babysit? I'll
pick you up on my way home. Then you can stay over tomorrow
night, and Sunday we will watch the game. You can stay over and

I'1l take you home Monday morning on my way to work. Let me know,
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okay?¥ Does that appear to be an accurate entry?
A Yep.
o] Now, according to the records of the McDonald cell phone that

you have been reviewing, would you agree that you did not resgpond
to Devin until approximately the time of 7:43:14 p.m.?

A Which entry?

0 And that would be -~ Excuse me. I'm sorry; that would be the

McDonald Cellebrite report, 39, Entry 97.

A Yep.

Q T:43:14.

A Yep.

0 That is your first response to all that series of texts,
right?

A I believe so.

Q Okay. And your response to him at that time was, "Dude, the

both of you need to grow the fuck up. I just got out of the
hospital from surgery. I don't need this shit. Stay the fuck
away from each other. If anything is damaged in the house,
there's going to be issues. I said the same to Al." Does that
appear to be an accurate reference?

A Yes.

Q So, from the content of that cell phone text message, do you
recall whether you actually spoke to your brother in any of those
phone calls between his number and yours?

A I may have, but I don't remember.
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Q Okay. 8o, that reference to "I told Al the same thing" does
not refresh your recocllection --
A It does not.
Q -~ ox anything like that.

Okay. Now, directing your attention to 8:05:30 p.m., which --
on the Cellebrite report for McDonald's phone, page 39, Entry 92,
does it appear that Devin McDonald texted you, "I am sorry your
brother assaulted us. Both wasted. He came out of nowhere and
freaked out. I am soxxry"?
A Yep.
Q And then at 8:07:02 p.m., which is page 39, Entry 90, that
Devin texted, "We were minding our own shit. He used like -- He
used to like the table and use it for cribbage." Does that appear
to be accurate?
A Yeah.
Q And that -- Entry 89 on that same page, at 8:10:15, that
Devin again texted your phone: "He trasher [sic] it after he left
Ronnie's service and started to fight and talk smack. I went to
my room, which he says is his -- and talked shit about wmy father.
So I said, 'I took care of my father, so fuck off. You couldn’t
do what I did for my dad.' Then he tried to fight. Sorry." Does
that appear accurate?
A Yep.
0 Now, did you know Devin to have experienced the loss of his

father within the past several months?
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A - I knew he lost his father.
Q Okay. But you weren't cognizant of when exactly.
And during this time, had you been alerted or had any

conversation with Joe Chaghouri about what was going on at the

house?

A I don't recall.

0 You don't recall that, okay.

A On Friday?

Q Yes, on Friday.

A Yeah, I don't. I don't recall.

Q Dkay. And you -- I'm going to direct vyour attention to the

records for your brother's cell phone. And that would be page
190, Entry 1998. Does it appeaxr that at 9:18:02 p.m. your brother
again tried to call your cell phone but it was 00 seconds --

A Yes.

0 ~- according to his records, and that Entry 1599 at 9:21:31
your brother texted your cell phone number, "I will be home at my
house tomorxrow, so please tell Devin McDonald to watch his p's and
g's after his shit tonight. Calling the cops was a bad idea."
"Bad idea," sorry; no "was."

A Yep.

0 Prior to receiving that message, did you have any knowledge
that police had actually responded te the East Coast Gas & Sexrvice
Station sometime between 7:30 and 8:00 p.m.?

A I really can't remember. I -- Like I said, I had -- I was in
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the hospital with -- procedure. So --

Q Okay.

A -~ I was pretty tired.

Q Had -- So had you received a sedative of some point [sic] --
A Yeah, they put me under.

Q -~ that made you tired?

Okay. So, as this was going on, though, you were ~-
nevertheless had some communication with both Devin and your
brother Alan.

A It looks so, ves.
Q Okay. So you are basing this on your review of the

Cellebrite records and not any recollection that you independently

A I remember a little bit.

Q Okay.

A Bits and pieces.

Q Yeah, no, I ~-

A But I can't be gpecific.

Q No, I -~ I'm not pushing you. I'm just trying --

A Yep.

Q ~~ for the record understand what's your memory and what's

just your accepting from the record.
A Yep.
O So, okay. Now, directing yvour attention to the next entry,

2000, on page 190, at 9:22:36 p.m., when you -- your phone
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received a text from Alan's cell- phone: "I come home tonight to

them breaking the apartment up, and he calls the cops. Joe will

be happy to hear about this.” Does that appear to be accurate?
A Yep.
Q And then at 9:232:34 p.m., Entry 2001, it appears -- does it

appear that Alan Greenough's cell texted your cell, "Just ask D.
about the crazy shot [sic] that is nonstop not my doing.? Does
that appear accurate?

Who was "D"?

A Devell Range.

Q Devell, okay.

A Yep.

Q So he was referring to Devell. Now, do you have any

knowledge about how Alan learned that Devin had actually contacted
the police?

A I don't.

Q Okay. Did you have any contact with Alan or Devin further
that evening of Februvary 2nd of 2018 that you recall?

A I don't recall, sorry.

Q No, no sorry necessary.

Now, directing your attention to Saturday, February 3rd of
2018, did you report to work at East Coast Service Station that
day?

A Yes.

Q Now, did you have set hours for a Friday? Or did you ~-- do
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you recall what time you showed up --

A I -~

Q -- that day?

A -~ may have got -- got -- On Friday or 8at -- You just --

Q I'm talking about --

A ~~ Saturday.

Q -~ Saturday now.

A On Saturday I probably got in around nine.

Q Okay. And given that it was the beginning of the month, was

that a busy time at the service station, given the inspection

sticker --
A It could be for stickers.
Q - - changeover?

Okay. And on that particular day when you arrived at work,

did you see or speak to your brother, Alan, when you got there?

A Briefly.

) In the morning?

A Yes.

Q Was that on the phone or was that in person?

A When he pulled up, getting dropped off.

Q Okay. So do you recall what time that was?
A Approximately twelve-thirty, one o'clock.
o) Ckay. Let me -- Do you recall when we met that I showed you

a series of videos?

A Yep.
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Q And I'm just going to ask you whether -- Well, let me ask you
this: the first time you saw your brother that day was when he got
dropped off?
A Yes.
0] So you had been at work for a period of time before your
brother came back to the house.
A Yes.
Q Do you know at that point whether you were aware that the
police had been there the night before?
A I was not.
Q Okay. So when your brother comes, who dropped him off?
A Amy Thorn.
Q And when Amy Thorn dropped him off, what did you do? Did you
go over there? Did you --
A I walked over to my brother. I just wanted to see how he was
doing 'cause he just buried his friend. And I said, “Hey, how you
doing?*®

He goes, "Oh, I'm bummed out.” So him and I w -- kept just

talking. And we walked into the apartment together.
o] Okay. And at that time do you remember whether he said that
~-- told you that he was actually just getting home?
A I don't,
Q Ckay. Now, I'm just going to ask you to view video, with the
Court's permission, to see if this will refresh your recollection

on the time.
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A Okay .
Q This would be Video Angle C2 and this would be timestamped
1524:39, actual time 2:51:42. I'm going to ask you to look at the
area in front of your brother's apartment.

{Video Playing at 12:33:24 p.m.]
BY MS. LYNCH:
A Yeah.
Q Do you see a vehicle pulling in?
A I see Amy pulling up.
Q Ckay. 80 that would be Amy --
A Yep.
Q -- Thorn's vehicle?

[Video Playing at 12:33:34 p.m.]
BY MS. LYNCH:
Q And then just at the time around 1525:48.

MS. LYNCH: If you could just stop a little before that.

Okay. That's good.
BY MS. LYNCH:
0 Doeg that appear to be you walking out of the front door,
over to the white vehicle?
A Yep.
Q Okay.

[Video Playing at 12:34:12 p.m.]
BY MS. LYNCH:

Q And do you see where you're golng at that point?
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A Yep. Walking over to my brother.
Q and so, would that have been the time when you first
encountered your brother that Saturday?
A Looks like it, ves.
0 Okay. And so, with the timestamp difference that would be
approximately 2:51:49 p.m.

MS. LYNCH: And then if you would just fast-forward, please,

to 1526 -- about :05 to start, which would be 2:53:18. 8trike
that. If you could just go back -- I'm sorry -- to 1526:08.
Okay.

[Video Playing at 12:35:11 p.m.]
BY MS. LYNCH:
0 And I'm just goling to ask you to lock at the area where Amy

Thorn's vehicle was.

A Okay.
Q Does it appear that that vehicle then leaves?
a Yes.
o} and turns towards Reading.
Now, were you inside or outside -- Well, strike that. Let me

ask you: deoes looking at this allow you to wmore precisely recall
that it was more like 2:50°7

A It does.

0 Ckay. Now, as Ms. Thorn was leaving, what did you and your
brother do?

A We walked into the apartment together 'cause we were still
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talking. -

Q Okay. So you walked in that front door to the apartment?

A The main entrance and then opened the door to his apartment,
ves.

] And was that outer door unlocked or open?

A Yes.

Q And when you got inside, what was the condition of the

interior door into the apartment?

A The condition of it?

Q Meaning locked or unlocked.

A I --

Q Don't recall.

A I don't recall if it was --

Q But your brothex was the one who --

A Opened the door, -~

o) -- made entry.

A -- ves,.

0 And do you have any memory of any difficulties or anything
like that?

A No.

Q Nothing at that time?

Now, when your brother opened the door, what happened next?
A Him and I both walked in and --
Q And so, you -- you'‘re in the kitchen now?

A Yep.
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Q And what happened at that point?
A We walk in and we see Kim in his bedroom. She's got a saw in
her hand.

And Alan said, "What the fuck are you doing in my bedroom?

Why you going through my stuff?"

I said the same thing. I said, "What are you doing in his

bedroom? You know, he's not home, yet you're geoing through his

stuff." I said, you know, "You need to get out of there."
Q So you --
A And --
Q Did you tell her to get out?
A I don't know if I told her to get out that moment, but --
Q Okay. But that was the gist.
A Yes.
Q Okay. And what did your brother do or say at that time?
A He kept asking, "Kim, why are you going -- why are you in my
room? Get the fuck ocut of my room. Why are you going through my
shit?"
And then they started arguing back and forth. And --
0 Okay. Do you remember what the specific words were?
A I do not.
o Do you remember whether your brother ever yelled, "Get the
fuck out of the house. Get out. Get out"?
A I don't.
o] Do you remember him saying, "Why are you touching my radio?™
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A Yes.

Q Do you remember him saying, “"Why is wmy TV unplugged?"

A Yes.

Q Now, when your brother was saying this, did he do anything,

vou know, physically or with his hands?

A No.

Q At scme point do you remember your brother grabbing a
speaker?

A Yep.

Q Where was the speaker at the point when your brother --

A On top of the TV to his right.
Q Okay. So by now he's in that bedroom/living room.
A He's at the edge of it, ‘cause the TV and the nightstand were

right at the edge of the doorway.

Q Ckay.

A So it's pretty close.

] and was it on the same stand that the TV was located on?
A I think it was on top of the TV.

Q Okay. &And I just want to try to get the picture to

understand it. I don't know if I can find a better one. But just
to give an idea of where the TV is.
MS. LYNCH: Oh, sorry; thank you.
BY MS. LYNCH:
Q So I'm just going to show you this picture and ask you ~- two

pictures. I'm just going to show you these two pictures. In
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terms of the first photo that I'm showing you, does this appear to
be a photograph that depicts the door that you and your brother

had just entered, the door into his room, the TV table, --

A Yep.

Q -- and the living room portion of the room, if you will?
A Sure.

0 Okay. and is the area in this -- where the radio was

retrieved from depicted in this photograph?

A Yeah, I believe the speaker was there.
o) So it would be on top of the TV set, -~-
A I believe so. It could've b --

Q -- on that righthand --

A It could've been here on top of the --
0 Okay .

A -- TV.

Q To the right?
A Yeah.
Q Okay .

MS. LYNCH: And I would offer this photograph.

[Photo of Living Room Marked as Exhibit No. 82]

BY MS. LYNCH:
0 And, sir, just for purposes of the record, what you had
previously shown me or pointed to, you had indicated this area
either up on the side of the TV --

A Yep.
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0 -~ or on the side of the --

A On the --

0 -~ cabinet --

A Of the cabinet, vyep.

Q -~ just next to it.

A Yep.

Q Ckay. So, when this happened, your brother actually came

into the room?
A He must've.
0 In to retrieve it?
And where was Kim? Is that area depicted in here?
A She could've been standing in the -- right in between the
room and the kitchen.
Q Okay. So she had at least approached and come to the --
A Yeah, sh --

0 -- threshold area?

A Yep, yep

Q Okay. And when your brother grabs the speaker, what happens
next?
pA He -

THE COURT: Can you --
A -~ gsmashed it on the --

THE COURT: You might've --
A -~ toward --

THE COURT: ~- already said this; I'm sorry. Can you
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describe the speaker? Or is there a picture of it?
THE WITNESS: It's a -- There is a picture of the speaker.
THE COURT: And how big --
THE WITNESS: The o -- The g -~
THE COURT: How big was the speaker?
THE WITNESS: About this big. [Indicating.]
THE COURT: Small ox ~-
THE WITNESS: Yep. Small.
THE COURT: Small speaker, okay.
THE WITNESS: 1It's like a little Bose speaker.
THE COURT: A little Bose, all right.
THE WITNESS: You can see it in the -- on top of the TV.
THE COURT: Okay.
BRY MS. LYNCH:
Q So it was identical --
A It's the same -- Yeah, same photo -- same -- same speaker.
They're two identical speakers.
THE COURT: Okay. 2and what's it made of?
THE WITNESS: Plastic.
THE COURT: Plastic?
THE WITNESS: I'm assuming.
BY MS. LYNCH:
0 Okay. 8o just ~-- This would be the twin or the pair --
A I -~ T believe so, yeah.

Q -- of speakers? Okay.
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A ‘He had multiple speakers, so I --

Q Okay .

A I have no i1dea if it was the same, but similar.
0 And I think --

MS. LYNCH: If I might just have one moment to --
BY MS. LYNCH:
Q Now, what 1f anything -- Once your brother got that speaker,
what if anything did he do with it?
A Well, he said -- he grabbed the speaker and said, "Why are
you play -~ Why are you listening to my radio? Why did you unplug
my TV?" And then he toock the speaker and he threw it to the

ground and said, "Nobody's going to listen to my stuff," oxr

"shit.®

Q Now, when he threw the speaker to the ground, where was Kim?
A Maybe in front of me.

0 And --

a Alan's to the right of me.

0] Did you at some point do something to lock or prevent the

speaker from actually hitting anyone?
A I did not.

Q You did not do that?

A No, the speaker hit me. It bounced off the ground --
Q Ckay.
A -- and hit me.

0

And that's because you placed yourself between where --
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A I didn't place wmyself anywhere.

0 Okay. Was Kim on the stairs, sitting? Or was she standing?
A I don't remember if she was sitting or standing.
0 Okay. Now I'm just going to show you what's been admitted as

Exhibit 48. I'1ll show it to you in person and then put it on the

presentex.

A Yep, speaker.

o) Okay.

A Yep.

Q And does that appear to be a fair and accurate representation

of the speaker that your brother threw and where it landed?

A I believe so.

o] Okay .

A I don't know if it landed there. It could've been moved.

0 Okay. But --

A I don't know why it would be in the wmiddle still, when people
are coming down the stairs. So, I -- I have no idea if it landed
there.

0] Okay. But the stairs are wider to the --

A Yeah, I undexrstand.

Q -- right of that?

A But I don't know --

Q Right?

A -~ where it landed.

Q Okay. But that was the speaker that was dropped, --
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A Yes. .
0 -- right?
Doeg this appear to be the saw that Kim had had in this same
picture? Can you tell that's a saw?
A I -- I can‘t tell but --
Q Okay.
A But it looks --
Q Let me --
A It looks like it --
o] ~- show you a different angle.
A -~ could be, yes.
0 Exhibit 49: does it appear to be that that ig the saw?
A I think so?
0 Okay. But it's a saw, right?
A That is a saw.
Q It might not be -~--
A Yep.
Q You don't know whether it's the same one.
A Correct.
O Okay. So just for --
THE COURT: Did he throw the speaker or drop it to the
ground?
THE WITNESS: I wouldn't say he dropped it. But he said,
"Nobody's going to listen to my & -- stereo."

THE COURT: 2and then it --
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THE WITNESS: Tt --

THE COURT: -- hit you.

THE WITNESS: -- hit -- bounced -- It hit the floor and then
bounced off of me, from what I can remember.
BY MS. LYNCH:
0] So, -~

MS. LYNCH: Sorry. If I might proceed, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You sure can.
BY MS. LYNCH:
0 Now, referring -~

MS. LYNCH: Exhibit 48, just for the people in the courtroom.
BY MS. LYNCH:
Q The area of the speaker is this -~ This is the item here,
right, that I'm circling?
A Yes.
Q Okay. And the item that appears to loock like a saw, that's
this item hear?
A Yeah.
Q And in the next exhibit, 49, does that give a wider view of

the gaw itself?

A Yep.
o] Okay. Now, as this was going on, once the speaker was thrown
to the ground, what part of -- you know, what part of your body

was struck with the speaker?

A I believe it was my, like, side here. On my right.
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0 Okay. ©So it's your --

A My -~ Like, right --

o] For purposes of the record, --
A My ~--
Q ~- it's your lower --

A Yeah, my --

Q -~ right --

A -~ hand was --

Q -~ hip area?

A Tt hit my -- hit my hand and my leg, like, at the same time.

Q All right.

A Just kind of bounced off of me.

Q And so it's your testimony that he basically smashed his own
speaker in anger?

A Yep. I -~ I don’'t know if it was anger. He just didn‘t want
anybody to listen to his music.

Q Okay. &nd in terms of -- Once that event occurred, did you
at that point tell Kim that "He's pissed off ‘cause you're in his
bedroom. Just leave®™?

A I believe I did.

Q Ckay .

A Possibly. I don't know if those exact words, but --

Q Okay. Do you recall whether you told the police that?

A I could have.

0 Ckay. And if you told the police that, it would've been
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fresher on your memory the night it happened than it is today, a

yvear-and-a-half --

A Sure.

Q -~ latexr? Okay.

A I do recall telling Kim to just leave.

Q Okay. &nd that night you told the police that his reason for
doing it was just prevent them from -- or XKim from using their --
his stuff.

A I guess.

Q Did he -- your brother ever say or did you ever tell the

police that your brother said, "Whe do you think you are, being in

my room when I'm not here?"

A I do.

Q What wag the tone of voice your brother was using at that
time?

A He was upset.

0 Okay. Do you remember describing it as he was yelling?
A Yeah, he was yelling.

Q Okay. So the volume was -- When you say yelling, does it

imply volume?

A Yelling should -- I believe implies volume, yeah.

Q Okay. 2nd does 1t -- Do you have any descriptive word for
his demeanor when he said it?

A I do not.

0 Okay. ©Now, about how far away was Kim when the speaker was
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smashed on the floor? _
A I couldn't tell you how far it was. Sorry.
Q Now, do you recall at any point Kim sitting down on the
stairs and Devin coming down?
A Yes.
Q What happened when Devin came down the stairs?
A Devin started yelling at Alan. 2Alan started yelling back.
They both went upstairs and I heard some wrestling/rustling
around.

Q And so, when you say they both went upstairs, you're

referring to Devin and --

A Alan.

Q -- youxr brother?

A Yes.

Q Okay. ©Now, you heard this wrestling sound --

A Mm-hmm .

Q -- from downstairs?

A Yes,

Q What happened next?

A Alan came downstairs and went in his bedroom.

0 Okay. And did Devin come down at any point?

A He came down after.

Q And when Devin came down -- So it's now Devin, Kim, and you

in the kitchen?

A No, I believe Kim already left.
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Q Okay. So what were the circumstances
A I had told her to go outside, --

Q And she --

A -- just leave.

Q -~ complied?

A She did.

6-178

of Xim leaving?

Q And then when Devin came down, did you say, --

A T just --

Q -- "Guys, just leave®?

A Yeah, j -- I said, "Just leave. Just --¢

Q Did you say, "This isn't going anywhere. Everyone is just

going to keep arguing,” things to that --

A If that's what T --

Q -~ effect?

A -- said, T said it.

Q You have no specific memory, though,
A I do remember --

Q -- at this point?

A - - saying --

O Okay.

A -- something similar, ves.

0 Yeah, I'm just trying to --

A If I said it, ~-
Q -~ clarify.

A -~ I said it. I'm just --
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0 Yeah, I'm just trying to clarify.
A Yep.
Q How long do you think this went on? You know, this whole --

from the point that you and your

brother encountered her in his

bedrocom to the time that both Devin and XKim were outside?

A Maybe 15 minutes.

0 Okay. And so, just approximating, understanding that it's

not a stopwatch situation, if it

sometime around 2:53:18 into the

A Yep.
Q -- then that would place it

o'clock? 3:05, 3:047

-- 1f your brother came in at

apartment, you and your brother,

scmetime shortly after three

A If the math does it, vyes.

o} Okay. You don't want to do math.

A I'm not good at math, sorry.

o] Okay. Sc, was there a problem, though, that you became aware

of with Kim and Devin actually leaving the premises, related to

their transportation?

A Yeah, Devin said his tire was flat.

0 Okay. And so, did he tell you that when he wasg inside the

apartment or when you came out?

A T believe I was ocutside.

Q Okay. So when they left, you left.

A When they left, I left shortly after, yeah.
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Okay, 'cause -~
[Indiscernible at 12:49:49 p.m. - simultaneous sgpeech] -~
-~ you were actually working.
Yeah, I was trying to work, yeah.
So, you go outside and that's when Devin says, "I need help
my tire."
Yep.
And so, you actually went and got the equipment necessary --
I did.
-- to remove the tire.
Yep.
And at some point the tire was replaced; is that right?
Yes.
And after the tire was replaced, that is when they drove off.
Yes.
Okay. Now, in terms of your leaving, I'm going to ask you to

again at your brother's cell phone records, page 1%1, Entry

Okay.

3:04:01 p.m. And does that appear to be Alan's cell phone

calling your cell phone for a minute and twenty-two seconds?

A

Q

Yep.

And so, looking at that entry, would that indicate to you or

do you recall that you were not in the apartment as of 3:04:017

A

Yes.
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0 Yeah. And when you changed the hat -- the tire, do you
recall whether you had a conversation with your brother in which
you told him, "They're gone. Just chill out”?

A I believe so.

Q And do you recall your brother saying, “They better not
fucking come home. They shouldn't be in my bedroom"?

A I think so.

Q Okay. And at that peoint you returned to your duties at the
gas station -~--

A Yep.

0 -- that day.

Okay. Now, assuming, in terms of the timestamps and the
conversions that were done, i1f Amy Thorn's vehicle drove away at
2:53:18 and if the video showed Devin McDonald's vehicle leaving
at around 3:10:36 p.m., you would agree that that is only
approximately 19 minutes that your brother and the two roommates
were in the same place --

A If it adds up, --

Q -~ at the same time?
A -- yeah.
0 Okay. Now, in terms of going back to work, did you receive

any further calls that you recall from either Devin or Alan in
that half-hour?
A I don't recall.

0 Ckay. 1I'm just going to direct your attention to your
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brother's cell phone records, --

A Mm~hmm.

Q -- page 191, Entry 2021.

A Okay.

Q And I'm going to ask you whether that appears to be an entry

at 3:10:12 where Alan called your cell phone for 33 seconds.

A Yeah, I remember we spoke briefly. But I don't remember what
the conversation was.

Q Ckay. And directing your attention to the McDonald

Cellebrite report, page 3, Entry 15, does it appear that at

3:32:19 -- that Devin McDonald's cell called your cell for 22
seconds?

A What number?

Q sorry; 15.

A Yep.

Q Do you recall whether you talked to Devin in that 22-second
period?

A I may have. I don't know. I don't remenber.

o) Now, at 3:39:56 p.m. did you receive a text forwarded from

Devin's phone that was from your brother Alan?

A If it's --

0 And I'm going to draw your attention in terms of the entry on
the McDonald Cellebrite, page 37, Entxy 47.

A What entry? I'm sorry.

Q Do you see Entry 47? Or maybe it's 45; I'm sorry.
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A It's notr -- On 37?7 Page 377

Q I'm sorxry; page 36, Entry 45.

A Yeah, I see that.

Q Okay. Does that appear to be a text forwarded to you that
says, "I have someone coming to adopt the cat. You have an hour.

Not my cat, not my problem"?

A It does. I don't know if it was forwarded, because --
Q Ckay.
A -- it decesn't show "forwarded."” 8o, I --

0 Okay. But did --

A I'm not sure.

Q Did you respond to that text?

A I don't believe I did. I was very busy trying to --

) Sure.

A -~ wrap things up for the day.

Q Sure. Directing your attention to the McDonald Cellebrite

report at page 36, Entxry 42, --
A Okay .
o) and that was at 3:43:41 p.m. Does it appear that Devin

texted you, "To [sic} your brother is trying to get rid of wy

cat"?

A Yes, I see that.

0 Did you respond to that?
A I don't believe so.

THE WITNESS: Excuse me, Judge. Not to be out of line, I
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just =- Can I ask one question?

THE COURT: BSure.

THE WITNESS: Well, you've already gone over these.
Repetitive, repetitive, you know? It's wearing my mother out.
It's wearing me out. We know. We've already heard this. Do we
really have to keep going over the specific repeating-repeating?

THE COURT: I appreciate certainly your feelings and youxr
mother's feelings. But, again, the purpose of the inquest is for
me to be able to get all the facts that I need, to be able to make
a decision.

THE WITNESS: Okay.

THE COURT: So, to the extent that this is helping the
Assistant District Attorney get to the questions that she's about
to ask you, then unfortunately we need to go through it.

THE WITNESS: Okay.

THE COURT: Okay?

THE WITNESS: Hope I wasn't out of line,

THE COURT: Nope.

THE WITNESS: Just wanted to ask, tcause
BY MS. LYNCH:
Q Now, is it fair to say that your brother had wanted them to
leave and they left? Is that right?
A Yes. Yeah.
Q Now I'm going to ask you to look at your brother's cell phone

records, entry at page 191, starting at Entxry 2023.
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A Okay.
Q Does it appear that your brother's called Devin's cell phone
for 29 seconds at 3:31:10 p.m.?
A Yep.
Q Does it appear that at Entry 2024 on page 191 at 3:36:29 your
brother's cell again called Devin McDonald for 0 seconds?
A Yep.
Q Does it appear that on page 191 at 2025 at 3:38:40 p.m. --
that your brother texted Devin, "I have someone coming to adopt
the cat. You have an hour. Not my cat, not my problem"?
A Yep.
Q Does it appear that Devin then messaged your brother, "No,

you are not," at Entry 46 on page 37 at 3:39:37? Does that appear

accurate?
A We were on 191. You want me to look at 37 now?
Q That would be Entry 2026 on 191.

A Oh, okay. Yep.

0 And does it appear that at 3:40:18 that your brother's cell
texted Devin, "You better geft her or she is going to an adoption®?
Does that appear accurate? 20277

A Yep.

Q And that your brother again texted at page 191, Entry 2028,
3:43:33, "They are coming to take her today, so figure it out"?

A Yep.

0 And at 3:44:43 p.m., does it appear that Devin texted your
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brother, responding, "Nobody is touching my cat. It isn‘t yours
and that is illegal to do"?

A Yep.

0 Now, at some point after this series -~ strike that -- after
you had received the communication regarding the cat that was -~
came to your cell phone or was forwarded to your cell phone from
Devin's cell, did you become aware that the police had responded
to your brothex's apartment at 3:51 p.m.?

A I'm sorry; say that again?

Q Okay. At some point after that series of texts at 3:51 p.m.,
did you become aware that the police were at your house? At the --
At your brother's housge/apartment?

A At some point I did become aware.

0 How did you first become aware that the police were there?

Did someone tell you or did you see them or --

A T think I saw the police car.

Q Okay .

A I can't remember where I was at the time.

Q And what was -- what did you first do once you realized the

police were there?

A I believe I went outside and spoke with one of them.
Q And was that a man or a woman?
A A gentleman, I believe. The first time? I spoke with a

woman at one point, but I don't remember if it was the first --

Q And ~-~
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-~ persor.
And do you recall what that conversation was?
I don't.
Ckay.

THE COURT: We'vre going to stop there -- it's one o'clock --

for the lunch recess. We're going to stop --

Shah

Shah

THE WITNESS: Okay.
THE COURT: -~-- with you, Mr. Perrotti, because I think Dr.
is going to be called at two o'clock.
THE WITNESS: Okay.
THE COURT: And then at some point we'll resume. Okay?
THE WITNESS: Okay.
THE COURT: Thank you,
THE WITNESS: Thanks.
[Witness steps down]

[Court in Recess at 12:59:57 p.m.]

[Back on Record at 2:04:57 p.m.]
MS. LYNCH: If I might just look outside, Your Honor. Dr.
mistakenly went to Superior --
THE COURT: Oh.
MS. LYNCH: -- where he usually testifies.
THE COURT: All righty.
MS. LYNCH: So, --

[Pause]

MS. LYNCH: He's not here vyet.
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THE COURT: Okay.

MS. LYNCH: If we want to resume with Mr. Perrotti until he
gets here.

THE COURT: Sure.

[Witness resumes the stand]
CONT. DIRECT EXAMINATION OF WITNESS, ALAN PERROTTI

BY MS. LYNCH:
Q Okay. Multiplicity of binders, here. Okay.

Where we left off, you were describing when you first became
aware of the police officers' arrival. At some point you walked

down and met with them; is that right?

A Yes.

Q And that was in front of the apartment building.

A Yes.

Q And at some point they asked you if your brother was actually

there; is that right?

A Yes.

Q And at that point you didn't know whether he had left yet.
A Corrxect.

Q Now, the police at that time asked you if you had a key to
that front door into the building nearest your brother's
apartment. You know, the front entrance outside, as well as the
interior.

A They did ask me. I don't know if -- when -- when it was.

Q Okay. At some point were you aware that somebody from
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upstairs came down and opened the exterior door for the police?
A I was not.
O You were not. Okay.

But at some point you were asked about a key. And you went

over -- you indicated that you had a key to that front door.
A Yep.

0 And that required you to go back into the office, --

A Correct.

Q -- look for the key, --

A Yes.

D -- and then go back with it?

A Yes.

o) And when you got there and tried the key, it did not work; is
that right?

A I don't remember what exactly happened.

Q Okay. ©So you don't remember that -- whether you brought a

key? Or you do remember you --

A I don't. I remewmber going to look for a key. But I don't
remember exactly what -- how it transpired.
0 Ckay. 8o you don't know whether the door was deadbolted when

you tried to open it with your key or that you didn't get a key.
A No, I don't know when or -- I don't remember the situation
that happened when I got the key, if and when I did.

Q Okay.

A I was asked for the key, went and looked for it, but I don't
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remember when it -- when did -- I went over to go and give the key

to the cfficers.

Q Okay. So by that point they may already have been in the
hall?

A I believe so.

0 And do you know whether they used a key that you retrieved to

unlock or try to unlock the door? You don't --

A I don't believe so.
Q -- just don't know that?
A I don't believe so You just saild somebody came down and

opened the door for them.

0 The outside door.

A Yeah.

0 So, you were going in and getting the inside door key, right?
A I was just getting a set of keys that have a ton of keys on
them.

e) Okay. I'm just -~

A I -- I don't know.

Q -- just asking you --

A I'm telling you --

Q I --

A ~-- that's -- I don't remember.

0 Okay. Well, I -- Like I said, --

A Yeah.

0 -- just asking you to do the best you --
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A And --
o) -- you can.
A -- I'm trying to.

THE COURT: So, you said you just were going to get a set of

THE WITNESS: Yeah.

THE COURT: -- keys. So, would that set of keys have
included keys for the outside and the inside doox?

THE WITNESS: The -- Ift's a bunch of keys. So, --

THE COURT: Okay.

THE WITNESS: -- I don't know what keys are on it. I know
some of the keys to the apartment are on there.

THE COURT: Okay.

THE WITNESS: But I don't remember which key it was. We

didn't know. We'd have to go through them and check them.

THE COURT: Okay. So you've never had occasion, then, to use

those keys occasion, then, to use those keys --
THE WITNESS: No.
THE COURT: -~ to get into your brother's apartment.
THE WITNESS: Absolutely not.
THE COQOURT: Okay.
THE WITNESS: Nope.
BRY MS. LYNCH:
Q And they were only asking you about the keys to that door,

correct? The front door into the apartment?
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A They asked for a key to -- for the door.

Q Okay .

A I don't remember if it was the front door or the door to the
outside.

Q Okay. But you never provided them with a key to the inside
door .

A Not that I recall.

Q Where were the keys kept?

A Usually in a drawer behind the desk.

Q Okay. 8o, like, 1if customers came in, you'd put the keys on,

like, a key board in the -~

A

Q

You're talking about --

-- garage area?

Talking about car keys or --

Yes, that's what I'm -~

~-- apartment keys?

-- just saying. I'm trying to distinguish. You didn't keep
keys to the premises in the same place that the keys --

No, we did not.

-~ for the cars were. S0, those keys were behind the desk, -
Yes.

-~ the ones that the officers were looking for.

Now, in terms of that afternoon, when the officers came they

at some point had a question about whether your brother was even

there, because they were not getting an answer; ig that correct?
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A - Yep.
0 And I'm going to ask you, in terms of the door being
deadbolted, do you -- don't have a memory at this point because of

the lapse of time; is that your --
A It's fair enough to say.
o] Okay. I'm just going to ask you to see if this refreshes
your reccllection.
A Sure.
Q And that would be on the transcript, page 6. And that would
start on line 3.

"So, they said, 'Do you have a key?!' and I said, 'Yeah,' so
we grabbed the key. Key wouldn’'t open the door because the
deadbolt was locked. So they kept at it for a while, yelling at

him through the door. Finally, he responded. 2nd they kept going

back.®

A Okay.

Q Qkay?

A Yep.

Q Reviewing that transcript, is your present memory refreshed

that you produced a key for that front door that couldn't open it

because you didn't have a key for the deadbolt?

A I'll be honest with you: I don't remember. I --
@] Okay.
A I remember having the interview, but I can't remember exactly

saying that. But -~
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Q Okay.
A -~ 1if I said it, I said it.
0 Now, at some point you continued to try to call your brother,

or you tried to call your brother to see if you could reach him on
the phone.

A Multiple times.

0 And initially he did not answer your phone calls; is that
fair to say?

A I don't think he answered the first few times I called, no.

0 Okay. So I'm just going to ask you to go back to your
brother's cell phone records again. And that would be on that
smaller page you can go to. And directing your attention to page
192, Entry 2036. Does it appear that at 4:05:34 p.m your cell

called your brother's cell for 7 seconds?

A It does.

0 And that would be fair to say that that was not a
conversation?

A Probably not.

0 Okay. Do you have a memory of that?

A I don't.

0 Okay. Directing your attention next to Entry 2037 at

4:05:57 p.m., you again called your brother‘s cell phone, for
17 seconds; is that fair to say?
A Yep.

0 And then at 4:08:49 p.m., which would be Entry 2038, --
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strike that -- which would be Entry 2037, does it appear -~ Strike
that. 2037 was the 17-second call; is that right?

A Yeah.

Q And that at 4:08:49 you called and reached your brother for a
period of 2 minutes and 57 seconds?

A Yep.

0 So, assuming that it's 4:08:49 and the call was 2 minutes and
57 seconds, which is almost 3 minutes, would you agree that that

call ended somewhere at 4:11°7

A Sure.

0 And seconds.

A Yep.

Q Okay. Now, do you recall what that conversation with your

brother was?

A Yeah. I called him. When he answered, I said, "Alan, the
police are here. They just want to talk to you. You know, please
come out.™"

And Alan said, "Dude, what did I do wrong? I didn't do
anything wrong." He goes, "If I come out, they are going to beat
the fuck out of me."

I believe after going back and forth about that, at maybe a
few minutes, like a -- not a minute, s -- probably seconds after,
I went over to the police officer and said, "I have him on the
phone." And I put Alan on the phone with the officer.

Q Okay. ©Now I'm going to ask you some questions about your
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observations of your brother inside the office sometime around
4:11 p.m. You saw the video this morning of when your brother is

alleged to have come into the office from the waiting room door --

A Yep.

Q -- to the apartment, holding the table leg?

A Yep.

o} Ckay. And you've seen those?

A Seen the video?

Q Yes.

A Yes.

Q Okay. 8o, I'm just going to ask you guestions about it. If

yvou need to or want to see them, please let me know,
A Okay.
Q So, --
THE COURT: Dr. Shah is here.
MS. LYNCH:- Oh, okay.
THE COURT: Okay? 8o, Mr. Perrotti, why don't we suspend
with you --
THE WITNESS: Tomorrow?
THE COURT: -- ’'cause we want to be able to get the doctor --
THE WITNESS: Okay.
THE COURT: -- on. Thank you.
THE WITNESS: Yep. Just close this?
THE COURT: Sure. Thank you, sure.

THE WITNESS: Yeah.
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observations of your brother inside the office sometime around
4:11 p.m. You saw the videco this morning of when your brother is

alleged to have come into the office from the waiting room door --

A Yep.

Q -- to the apartment, holding the table leg?

A Yep.

0 Okay. And you've seen those?

A Seen the video?

9] Yes.

A Yes.

0 Okay. So, I'm just going to ask you guestiocns about it. If

yvou need to or want to see them, please let me know.
A Okay.
Q So, --
THE COURT: Dr. Shah is here.
MS. LYNCH: Oh, okay.
THE COURT: Okay? BSo, Mr. Perrotti, why don't we suspend
with you --
THE WITNESS: Tomorrow?
THE COURT: ~- 'cause we want to be able to get the doctor --
THE WITNESS: Okay.
THE COURT: -~ on. Thank you.
THE WITNESS: Yep. Just close thisg?
THE COURT: Sure. Thank you, sure.

THE WITNESS: Yeah.
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- [Witness steps down]
[DR. ANAND SHAH, Sworn.]
THE COURT: Good afterncon.
THE WITNESS: Good afternoon.
DIRECT EXAMINATION OF WITNESS, DR. ANAND SHAH

BY MS. LYNCH:

0 Good afternoon.
A Good afternoon.
0 Sir, would you please state your name and spell your first

and last name for the record?

A Sure. It's Anand Shah, A-N-A-N-D S-H-A-H.

O And what is your occupation?

A Medical Examiner.

0 And how long have you been a Medical Examiner?

A About four vyears.

0 And where have you practiced as a Medical Examinex?

A At the Office of the Chief Medical Examiner on Albany Street
in Boston. -

Q And that's for your entire -- the past four years you've

worked there?

A Correct, yes.

Q Okay. As a Medical Examiner for the Office of the Chief
Medical Examiner in Massachusetts, what are you responsibilities?
A So, wmy oppor -~ Our responsibilities are to determine cause

and manner of death in individuals who'!'ve been accepted into our
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jurisdiction.
Q And in preparation for your work as a Medical Examiner, can
you describe generally your educational background?
A Sure. So, I graduated from undergrad in 2001, from Boston
University. I went to BU School of Medicine, Boston University
School of Medicine, from 2001 to 2005. I'm sorry; that's wrong.
I went from the college from 2001 to 2005, med school from 2005 to
2009. I did my residency in anatomic and clinical pathology at
Long Island Jewish School of Medicine in Long Island from 2010 to
2014. I did a year of a forensic pathology fellowship from 2014
to 2015 in Miami-Dade County Office of the Chief Medical Examiner.
O Okay. A&nd then after that you resumed [sic] your
professional responsibilities as a Medical Examiner in

Massachusetts; is that right?

A Correct.

Q Now, in terms of your work as a Medical Examiner do you have
any -- or pathologist, do you have any board certifications?

A Yeg., I'm board-certified in anatomic and clinical pathology

as well as forensic pathology.

Q What is the difference between the three?
A Anatomic and clinical pathology are more of a general
pathology, not s -- really specified. They're more

hospital-based. Forengic pathology is a subspecialty, and so it
just focuses on the forensic pathology alone.

Q And in order to become board-certified, what did you have to
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do in the field of forensic pathology?
A So, after my fellowship year, you have to take an examinat --
an examination in order to receive your board certification. And
I passed that examination.
0 And when were you board-certified in forensic pathology?

A I believe that was 2015, probably around Septembex/October.

Q And do you hold any professional licenses to practice
medicine?

A Yes. I'm licensed -~ I have my medical license in
Massachusetbtis.

Q And do you belong to any professional organizations related

to your field?
A No, not at the wmoment.
Q Now, as a Medical Examiner/forensic pathologist, in the

course of your experience have you been called upon to conduct

autopsies?

A Yes.

Q Approximately how many autopsies have you performed in your
career?

A I'd say about 200, to this point.

0 Okay. Of that %00, can you approximate how many involved

examinations involving gunshot wounds?
A Probably 60 to 70.
Q Now, in conducting autopsies, what are you responsibilities

if any regarding the determination of manner and cause of death?
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A So, that responsibility falls on us -- is to determine the
cause and manner of death.
0 and ag a result of conducting your autopsy and doing that

type of examination, do you issue death certificates under your

signature?
A Yes.
Q Now, what steps if any do you take to document youxr

examination and your findings when conducting an autopsy?

A So, we have body diagrams that we list any injuries, any
findings, defining characteristics, scars, et cetera, tattoos. On
top of that, we also have -- we take photographs. I take my own
photographs. And in the case of homicides, we usually have

photographers coming from either or own state police department,

in house, or from outside. And then we make that -- the
photographs, the -- the body diagrams, we turm that into a
readable document after there ~- after the fact.

Q And do you prepare an autopsy report --

A Yes.

0 -- that documents your findings?

A Corxrect.

0 Now, directing your attenticon to Monday, February 4th, were

you on duty as a Medical Examiner in Boston?
A Yes.
0 And on that day did you perform an autopsy on an individual

identified to be omne Alan Greenough?
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A Yes. .~
0 Can you describe the procedure by which an autopsy is
conducted, and any preliminary steps that are taken before you do
youf actual examination?
A So, beforehand the body of the deceased, depending on the
case -- in this case, the body was x-rayed just to determine if
there's any retained p;pjectiles or any other injuries, I guess.
They -- They usually x-ray them. And then they are brought to the
morgue, where we begin our examination.

First we do an external examination before we do any kind of
dissection or anything. So we do a ¢ -- a comprehensive
examination of the front and the back of the body of the decedent
-- documenting any, again, physical characteristics, any scars,
tattoos, any injuries, any evidence of natural disease. And we
photograph all of that thoroughly, especially in the case of
homicides or gunshot wounds.

After we do our external examination, ~- I mean, in the
process, I also take fingernail clippings, hair samples, in the
case of ~- in these cases, specifically, sometimes tﬁey're sent
out for DNA analysis. And then after that, we begin our extern --

internal examination, involving --

Q and ~-
A -- dissection.
Q -- before we get to that, you indicate that x-rays were taken

to determine the presence of any foreign objects, specifically
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" projectiles; is that fair to say?

A Correct.

Q And in this particular case, were there any projectiles or
foreign objects with the decedent?

A No.

o) Now, in terms of the documentation of the condition of the
body, is there any measurement of height or weight taken of the
individual that is then documented in your report?

A Yes. When the body is received by the technicians
downstairs, they usually do the height and weight.

o} Now, in the -- in this particular autopsy, was -- did you
note in your report that Mr. Greenough's height was 6 feet,

2 incheg, and he weighed 177 pounds?

A Yes.

0 And he was a white male?

A Correct.

Qo and did you indicate that his appearance was consistent with

the given age of 437

A Yes.

Q Now, in terms of your examination o©f the decedent, did you
note whether there was any obvious evidence of medical
intervention or treatment?

Py Yesg, he did have wmedical intervention.

Q and specifically what types of medical interxrvention were

indicated by the condition of the body?
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A He had a -- a thoracotomy, I believe, which is an opening of
the chest, where the gunshot wounds were, I guess in order to
evaluate and try to stop any bleeding or injury.
Q And --
A And that was the most significant one. He had other medical
deviceg, like a intraosseous catheter, a needle in his shin, I
believe he had a cervical collar on and possibly endotracheal
tube. But he did have several medical interventions.
o] Okay. And with regard to those markings, they were noted and

distinguished from any injuries to the body; is that correct?

A Correct. -
o] Now, during the external examination, can you describe for
the Court what observations if -- of injury you made during a

preliminary external examination?

A Sure. There were two entrance gunshot wounds of the left
chest and two exit gunshot wounds of the left back.

Q Now, how ~- Can you describe for the Court how you are able
to distinguish between an entrance gunshot wound and an exit
gunshot wound?

A Yes. Entrance wounds typically are very round, symmetrical,
very even. They just kind of, in ideal situations, look like a
perfect circle, in which case -- I mean, in -- in this case,
that's kind of how they were; whereas exit wounds are very
irregular, they may look like tears, they may look like flaps,

they don't have that nice symmetry to them, and that's an
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indication of the body -- of the projectile not being fast enough
anymore to cause it a really even wound.

Q Okay. And so, you were able to determine based upon your
education, training and experience, and your personal examination
of the body during the external examination that the two wounds to
the upper chest were entrance wounds?

A Correct.

Q And were you able to determine that the two wounds to the

lower back were also exit wounds?

A Correct.
Q Okay. DNow, I'm-just going to show you these photographs,
docter, and ask you if you can point out to the judge -- Now,

doctor, we do have some family members of the decedent here in
court today. And so I'm just going to ask you in looking at these
photographs to direct your explanation to the Court.

MS. LYNCH: 2and if counsel needs to see it, with the Court's
permission maybe they can --

THE COURT: Sure.
BY MS. LYNCH:
0 Showing you this photograph, do you recognize what that

photograph depicts?

A Yes. This shows the entrance gunshot wounds of the left
chest.
Q And is part of the sutures for -- from the thoracotomy

evident in this photograph?
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A Yes. -
Q And does this show the relevant -- relative location of Mr.
Greenough's left nipple in relation to the two gunshot wounds and
his neck?
A Yes.
MS. LYNCH: I would ask that this be marked as the next
exhibit.
[Autopsy Photo Marked as Exhibit No. 83]
BY MS. LYNCH:
0 And so, Dr. Shah, if you would just point out to the Court

the area of the thoracotomy sutures.

A Sure, it's xight here. [Indicating.]

0 The location of the left nipple?

A Right there.

0 The location of the entrance wounds that you've described?

A Sure. These two right here.

Q Okay. And this area here would be the neck of the decedent?
A Correct.

Q And in terms of your examination, did you distinguish in any

way by labeling these two wounds to distinguish them from ea&h
other?

A I don't remember. I don't recall if I had labeled them ox
not. Usually with only two gunshot wounds I don't typically --
Q Okay .

A ~~- go about labeling or numbering.
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Q Okay. But you do -- there is a method in which you at least
verbally explain the distinction between the two?
A Yes, I locate them specifically in my report.
0] Okay. And, again, this shows the clear circular margins of
the wound?
A Correct.
Q I'm showing you this next photograph. Does this appear to be
a fair and accurate representation of the body of the decedent,
depicting the exit wounds that you observed?
A Yes.

[Autopsy Photo Marked as Exhibit No. 84}

BY MS. LYNCH:
Q And with regard to Exhibit 84, pointing -~ these two areas,

do they depict the exit wounds?

A Correct.

0 And that is the -~ shows the irregular margins; ig that fair
to say?

A Yes.

D Okay. Now, in addition to photographing these, do you take

specific measurements that will allow you to determine where

anatomically each of the injuries is located?

A Yes.
Q And did you do that in this case?
A Yeg.

Ke Now, I don't know if you need to reference your autopsy
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report for the specific measurements, -- -

A I probably would, yes.

0 Okay. Just going to -- Okay.

MS. LYNCH: And at this time, Your Honor, I would just ask
that this item be marked as one exhibit. It's the Medical
Examiner's file provided in connection with this.

THE COURT: Okay.

[Medical Examiner's File Marked as Exhibit No. 85]
BY MS5. LYNCH:
Q And referencing Exhibit 85, do you recognize page 2 to be the

cover page of the report of your autopsy?

A Yes.

0 And this appears to be a five-page autopsy report; --

A Correct.

Q -- 1s that right?

A Yes.

Q Followed by a postmortem toxicology report?

A Yes.

0 And was that something that you requested and relied upon in

forming your ultimate opinions in this case?

A I mean, I -- Yes.

Q Okay .

A I take everything into consideration, yes.

Q Now, the -- after the toxicology report, do you recognize

this diagram and the notations on it?
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A Yes. .
0 And is -- are those notations that you wmade during the course
of the procedure that you subsequently incorporated into your full
report?
A Yes.
Q And then, the following sheets, is this additiomally a
Medical Exawminer sheet concerning the intake of this case?
A Yes.
] And does this appear to be a blank document that formed the
basis of the death certificate ultimately issued in this case?
A Correct.
Q And again do you recognize these various pieces of portions
of the Medical Examiner's record concerning identification of the
deceased and labs that Qere requested in the casge?
A Yes.
0 And in terms of your report, I'll leave it in front of you
and I will ask, having reviewed the exhibit, did you for purposes

of writing this report just distinguish the entrance wounds as "AU

and n B 1 R
A Yes.
0 ~-- on the first page?

Okay. I'm going to ask you a series of questions regarding
those measurements. What observations did you make concerning the
location and anatomical position of what you designated as Wound A

of the left upper chest?
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A Sure. So, we -measure the location of a gunshot wound based
upon the distance from the top of the head or from the bottom of
the foot ~- in this case, it was top of the head -- and distance
from the midline of the body, that is, down the center, this way.
In this case, perfor -- the Gunshot Wound A was located in 15
inches below the top of the head and 1 3/4 inches left of the
midline. And it was about 1.1 centimeter in diameter with a small
circumferential abrasion color, which is just a -- an abrasion
around the edge of the wound that's about 0.1 centimeters or about
a millimeter think. And there's about a h --

0 Aand then --

A -~ half a centimeter bruise around the entrance wound itself.
0 And what is the significance of the bruising around the
wound?

A That's just some soft tissue hemorrhage that is associated

with the gunshot wound.

0 Now, did you also track the path of the wound from its
entrance on the front of the chest to its exit in the back?

A Yes.

Q And similarly, with regard to Perforating Gunshot Wound A,
what did you observe about the path that projectile to --

A So, the -- the projectile, it passed between the first and
second ribs on the left side. 8o, it's the first intercostal
space. While doing that, it also fractured the first rib. It

then went through the upper lobe and the lower lobe of the left
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lung. The lung left -- the left lung has two lobes, and it went
through both of them. It then goes through the space between the
ninth and the tenth ribs in the back, so that’'s the ninth
intercostal gpace. 2And it also, in doing that, fractures the
ninth rib, the posterior or back aspects of the ninth rib.

And then it exited the body through a -- One of the exit
wounds in the back was located 20 inches below the top of the head
and about 4 inches left of the midline. And it was 1.5 by 1.7
centimeters. And it was just an irregular wound; that's how I
described it.

Q And so, your description was that it entered at 15 inches
from the top of the head, correct?

A Yes.

0 So, whatever 15 would be. 2and it exited 5 inches below that
in the back.

A Correct.

0O And in terms of the path within the body, it entered the

space between the first rib and the second rib?

A Yes, --

Q And it --

A -- in the front.

0 -- exited at the ninth rib.

A Between the ninth and tenth ribs, ves.

0 Okay. And so, were -- based upon that, were you able to

determine that the wound path went front-to-back?
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A Yes.,
0 Downward?
A Yes. -

Q And was there any directionality to it beyond that?

A Yes, right to left.

Q S50 it went in closexr to the midline and exited further from
the midline?

A Correct, vyes.

Q Okay. Just to be sure -~ And there was no projectile in that

wound. It had exited the body completely; is that --

A Correct.
Q ~-- right?
In terms of the -- what you described in your report as

Perforating Gunshot Wound B of the left upper chest, can you
describe where that was located?

A Yes. So, that was located slightly lower, slightly more to
the left. It was 17 1/2 inches below the top of the head and
about 3 inches left of the midline. 2And again it was 1.1
centimeters in the diameter, about the same size as the other
entrance wound. And it dcoes have the same l-millimeter abrasion
color around it. And it has about 2 centimeters' worth of
bruising associated with it.

o] And did you make note of the corresponding exit wound for B
on its position on the back of the body?

A Yes. It exited at about 21 1/2 inches below the top of the
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head and 4 3/4 inches left of the midline.
0 So that wound started at 17 1/2 [sic] inches from the top of
the head and exited at approximately -- sorry -- at 4 inches below
that in the back; is that right?
A Yes.
Q and it entered approximately 3 inches left of the midline and
then exited approximately 4 3/4 inches left of midline.
a Correct.
0 And again did you note the path of the bullet on the internal
examination as extending from the exit wound to the entrance wound

of Point B?

A Yes.

0 Can you describe what path that bullet took?

A Sure. So, in this case it perforated the third intercostal
space, so the space between the 1 ~- left third and the fourth ribs

in the front. It also in deoing so fractured the third rib. 8o, it
then -- i1t perforated the pericardial sac, which ig -- it -- the
heart is in the pericardial sac, basically; it's just a fibrous
covering. So, it perforated that. It lacerated the left ventricle
of the heart, so kind of the left side of the heart. 2aAnd it also,
after doing sco, went through the upper and lower lobes of the left
lung, just like the first projectile did.

In exiting the body, it went into the tenth intercostal space
in the back, so between the tenth and eleventh ribg. and it

fractures the tenth rib in doing so.
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Q And so, again the distance was: it entered somewhere
approximately at the third rib and exited at the tenth rib? So,
seven ribs' difference --
A Correct.
Q -~ between.

Based upon that, were you able to determine that the bullet
path had a trajectory from front-to-back, downward?
A Yes.

0 And that went slightly to the --
A Right to left.
Q -~ right. Right to left, okay.

Now, in addition to noting those gunshot wounds, did you
notice where there was any -- on the internal examination, any
bloocd located within the chest cavity itself?

A Yes. There was about 200 milliliters of liguid and clotted
blood within the chest.

Q And in terms of any other injuries, can you describe what
other injuries you observed?

A Sure. 8o, in the mid-chest there were some small superficial
abrasions, linear, like scratches, basically, they looked like.
And there were some abrasions of the left hand, right around the
knuckles, and same as the right hand. But nothing -- nothing
really major.

0 And again, forgive me if I already asked you this: did you

note his height to be 6-feet-2 on the external examination and his
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weight to be-approximately 177 pounds? I may have --

A Yes.

Q -~ asked this; I'm sorry.

A That's okay. Yes.

Q Now, in terms of doing any toxicology testing, do you take

samples from particular areas of the body that are best-suited for
doing toxicology testing?

A Yes. We usually take samples from several parts of the body.
Q And in this case, what were the areas that you took samples
of that were submitted for further analysis?

iy S0, this case, we took blood from the iliac vein. It's kind
of right by the groin. That's the vessel that we get from. We
get -~ I got blocod from the pooled cavity, the blood that was in
the chest -- chest -- the left chest cavity; bile from the
gallbladder; and vitreous fluid from the eyes.

) Now, as part of your duties as a Medical Examiner, do you
have -- do you routinely request toxicology of a common panel of

drugs or substances?

A Yes.

Q Is alcochol one of them?

A Yes.

Q And in addition to alcohol, what types of drugs are tested

for in the routine screen?

A There's a lot. It's pretty much anything you can think of.

But it covers benzodiazepines, opiates, cocaine, m ~--
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~amphetamines, a -~ just it's a very big panel.
Q Okay. And in terms of the records before you, I'm going to
direct your attention to the portion of the record of the Medical
Examiner's Office that was the toxicology report issued in
connection with this case. Do you see that as part of the record?

A The toxicology report?

Q Yes.
A Okay.
0 Now, in terms of the iliac blood, is that considered to be a

reliable means of qguantitating a person's toxicology results by
taking blood from that vein -- vessel?

A Yes. We usually take peripheral blood because it tends to be
more accurate when you're quantifying. And we usually take
centrally located blood that's more useful for gualifying, just
determining if a blood -- a drug is present or not.

0 And the ethanol results, what were they that you received in
connection with this case?

A In the iliac blood it wag about 0.25. In the vitreocus fluid
it was about 0.27.

QO Okay. And what is the -- in your experience, the distinction
between vitreous sample or testing of -- for ethanol and iliac
blood? Is one considered.more reliable or --

A I usually rely more on the vitreous fluid. It tends to
preserve the true value longer than the blood would, I think, --

The iliac blood usually goes a little bit low. But they're both




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

6-216

fairly accurate. If you have -- If you don't have one, the other
Q And --

A -- ig -- is reasonable to use.

Q Were thege two results, 0.25 and 0.27, consistent with each

other based upon your experience and the --
A Yes.
0 -- differences between that?

Now, what specifically does the result "0.25-gram percentage"
mean for each?
A So, I guess I would describe it as the -- The typical legal
blood alcohol limit is 0.08. So, this would be about three times
the normal legal limit, if I can describe it that way.
Q Okay. 8o it is correlated to the blood alcohol evidence
that's admissible in, say, motor vehicle fatality cases?
A Correct.
Q Okay. Now, in addition to testing for alcohol did they
indicate, according to the toxicology report issued at your
request on the samples taken by you, were there any positive
substances for drugs or medications that vou detected --
A Yes.
Q ~~ ox that were detected, I should say?

What were the positive results, starting with the iliac
blood?

A So, in the iliac blood it was also positive for
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benzodiazepines, specifically Clonazepam. It was positive for
fentanyl and cannabinoids, as well.

o] and what is Clonazepam?

A Clonazepam is a -- is a benzodiazepine.

Q Okay.

A So, it's a -- it's a central nervous 8system depressant.

0 Is it related in any way to Klonopin?

A T think that's the -- I think Clonazepam is the generic name

for Klonopin, if I'm --

Q Okay.

A -- 1f I remember correctly.

Q And in terms of the screen, was a screen done for fentanyl?
A Yes.

0 And what were the results of that?

A Tt was positive as a level of 3.0 nanograms pexr milliliter.
0 Now, is there any significance to that amount of fentanvyl,

3.0 nanograms per milliliter?

A It -- It depends. It -- It really depends on the context.
In cases of overdoses where there's no other findings, a level of
3.0, with the alcohol, with the Clonazepam can be a cause of
death. However, people also develop tolerances to alcochols,
benzodiazepines, and fentanyls. So, it in this case I don't
believe is a causative factor of death. He may have been
intoxicated but I wouldn't say this is an overdose, by any means.

o) Okay. But you have seen results where it would not be
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unusual to see a result in a particular case of 3.0 that would be _
an overdose, but not necessarily?

A Correct.
0 Okay. And additionally did you also note any byproducts or

derivatives indicate of marijuana ingestion?

A Yes.

Q and what did you ocbserve --

A The --

0 -- on the results, I should say?

A There's two specific d -- derivatives, Delta-9-THC at 6.1

nanogramsg per milliliter, and Delta-9-carboxy-THC at greater than
20 nanograms per millimeter -- miliiliter.

0 And are you able to derive any information concerning when
that marijuana may have been ingested?

a I don't know.

Q Okay. We -- Those results don't tell that to you; they just

tell you that it had at some point prior to death been ingested?

A Correct, because marijuana doesn't metabolize very quickly.
It may take s -~ weeks to exit a person's body. So I really don't
know ~-

THE COURT: What about the --
A -- when this was ingested.

THE COURT: What about the other substances and the alcohol
that you testified to?

THE WITNESS: Alcohol would metabolize at a faster rate.
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Fentanyl and the Clonazepam would also metabolize at faster rates,
moxre so over the course of hours to maybe a day or two, whereas
marijuana would be weeks. So, these are -- those other three are
definitely a lot faster-metabolizing. We -- In ~-- In overdose
cases, specifically where a person has lived for a while before
passing, I usually look at these numbers as probably lower than
they would've been at the time that the overdose took place.

THE COURT: So, back to Ms. Lynch's quegtion with regard to
the marijuana: are you able to tell when he digested the other
substances and alcohol, within -- in terms of --

THE WITNESS: I'd probably say within that day.

THE COURT: Within that day?

THE WITNESS: Yes, possibly a little bit longer if -~ 1f they
tock guite a bit.

THE COURT: Okay. Could it have been the day before, or
within that day?

THE WITNESS: It's possible. BRut it could also be possible
that it was consistent ingestion over several days, too. 8o, it -
it's really hard to specify.

THE COURT: Thank you.

BY MS. LYNCH:

Q With regard to the alcohol and the results that you saw,
two-seven and two-five, would it be fair to say that those results
would be consistent with ingestion within hours of the death?

A Yeg.
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Q _ Given the way alcohol --

A Yes.

] -- metabolizes, -~

A Yes.

Q -~ in contrast to drugs.

A Correct, ves.

0 Now, during the course of your examination, as a result of

reviewing the results of the tests performed at the lab at your

regquest, did you cause a death certificate to be issued in this

case?

A I'm sorry; can you repeat the question?

Q Did you cause a death certificate to be issued in this case?
A ‘Yes. '

Q And did you certify the cause of death to be gunshot wounds

of the chest?
A Yes.

MS. LYNCH: At this time, Your Honor, I would offer a
certified copy --

THE COURT: Yes.

MS. LYNCH: -~ of the death certificate.

[Death Certificate Marked as Exhibit No. 86]

BY MS. LYNCH:
Q Now, doctor, I believe you indicated this earlier, but it
was: BRased upon your examination of the body, your education,

training, and experience, and your review of all the wmaterials in
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/
this case, do you have an opinion to a reasonable degree of
medical certainty as to what the cause of Mr. Greenough's death
was?

A Yesg.

o] And what was that?

A Gunshot wounds of the chest.
Q Now, in terms of a gunshot wound to the chest, can I ask you
if -~ I'm going to ask with the Court's permission a hypothetical

question. Assume that the shooter reported that the decedent had
been charging at him, and when he got within 6 feet of the officer
-- the shooter, I should say -- he ghot the decedent twice,
causing him to the ground [sicl. 2And when I say "charging," I'd
ask you to further assume that the description was: bent at the
waist, hands in pocket, running towards the shooter.

Do you have an opinion based upon your education, training and
experience, and your personal observations at the autopsy as to
whether the location o©f the entrance and exit wounds of these two
wounds was consistent or inconsistent with that description?

A It is consistent.

0 Now, in terms of a review of the materials in this case, did
you also have available to you records frowm the Lahey Clinic as
well as from the Reading Fire Department that you considered as
part of your overall assessment?

A Yes.

MS. LYNCH: If I might just have one moment, Your Honor.
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BY MS. LYNCH: -
Q In terms of your observation of abrasions on Mr. Greenough's
chest, would those types of abrasions be consistent with the
performance of CPR in the field?
A There's two different -- There's two different, I think,
abrasions I described. There are abrasions that are consistent
with CPR and there are some linear-type abrasions, the scratches,
which may have also -- have cowe of CPR if they're being done by
hand or if someone's trying to, like, take their shirt off or
something like that.

o] Ckay. And --

A But there are --

0 -~ in terms --

A -~ definitely --

Q -~ of your description, when yéu look at a gunshot wound, if

a person is wearing a garment when they are shot, would you expect
to see stippling or markings on the body if there was clothing,
intermediate clothing between them?
A No, the clothing usually catches any sort of stippling that
would have been ejected from the barrel of the gun.
Q Thank you.

MS. LYNCH: I have no further questions.

THE COURT: Thank you.

CROSS EXAMINATION OF WITNESS, DR. ANAND SHAH

BY THE COURT:
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Q So, .doctor, you're able to tell, based on what you reviewed,
whether an individual in this case was moving at the time that he
was shot?
A I can't really tell if they're moving. I can -- I can tell
you whether or not a specific body positioning is consistent.
Q So, Ms. Lynch asked you in the hypothetical: bent over,
charging, "charging" meaning "moving."
A Sure, it could be consistent with that. But it could also be
congistent with being bent over and not charging.
O Okay .
A It could be consistent with several different positions. I --
I'm just saying that in that description it is consistent, as well.
Q Okay. So you're not abie to tell -- You're able to tell
whether somebody is standing or bent over but not whether a body's

in movement ab the time.

A Correct.
Q Okay .
A I can just give you hypotheticals on positioning of a body.

0 All right. And before you did the examination, you knew this
was an officer-invelved shooting?

A Yes.

o] Okay. Have you had occasion to do autopsies on any other
ocfficer-involved shootings?

A Several, yes.

0 Several. Approximately how wmany?
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A I'd say arcund five, give or take.
Q Are you able to give an opinion, if there is, as to -- The
cause of death was gunshot wounds. Was it the -- Are you able to

tell whether the first or the second wound was the wound that
caused the decedent's death?

A I can't really differentiate. I -- I can't tell you which is
-- came first, which came second.

9] Yeah.

A But I guess if I had to give a severity, I would say the

gunshot wound that injured the heart was the more severe --

Q The second.

A -- of the two gunshot wounds. Yes, that's -~

Q That was the --

A -~ Gunshot Wound B.

Q -~ second cne that you testified to.

A Correct.

0 Axe you able then to say whethexr the first gunshot would've

been disabling to someone? Would they have been able to continue
moving after the first shot?

A It's possible. I can't tell you how long. But, I mean, even
with the second gunshot wound, a person's momentum may carry them
still a couple of feet, a few feet, before a person collapses. If
it were just the first gunshot wound or Gunshot Wound A of the
lungs, it -~ I think he may have probably had been able to go a

little farther than if he were shot in Gunshot Wound B. I think
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Gunshot Wound B would've been much more quickly disabling.
Q Disabling.

And so, there was some testimony that you gave both -- with
regard to life-saving measures, some at the scene and then some I
assume at the ~-- in the ambulance or at the hospital; is that
right?

A Yes. In the emergency room they did the thoracotomy. And
then I guess they were just doing CPR up until that point.

0 Okay.

A And they also put little catheters, needle catheters into the
chest. Sometimes they do that for collapsed lungs just to keep
the air from accumulating between the lung and the chest cavity.

Q And the time of death was?

A The time of death I believe was 5:18 p.m. Yes, 5:18 p.m.

MS. LYNCH: May I just --

THE COURT: Sure.

M3S. LYNCH: I'm sorry. I forgot --

THE COURT: Absolutely.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION OF WITNESS, DR. AWNAND SHAH
BY MS. LYNCH:
Q That -- The time, 5:19, was when he was pronounced by the
medical personnel; is that correct?
A Correct, ves.
0 Given the type of injury to the heart that you described, in

terms of the amount of time that it would take for that injury in
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and of itself to be fatal, do you have an opinion --
A N --
o) -~ between --

2 Neot long at --

Q ~- onset and death?
A Not long at all. I -- It seems as if, reading the reports,
that he arrived kind of -- he was deceased upon arrival. He had

no pulses or anything like that on the way to the hospital, as
well. 8o, in cases where a heart is injured, you‘re looking at
seconds to minutes, maybe, if -- if you're -- if it's a very
minimal injury.
Q But this was not.
A No.

MS. LYNCH: Thank you, Your Honox, for that.

THE COURT: Thank you. Mr.:Pasciucco?

CROSS EXAMINATION OF WITNESS, DR. ANAND SHAH

BY MR. PASCIUCCO:

) Good afternoon, sir.
A Cood afternocon.
Q My name 1is Peter Pasciucco. I represent Officer Erik

Drauschke. I just really have a couple questions for you today.

A Sure.
Q Sir, you indicated that you've conducted approximately 900
autopsies --

A Yes.




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

18

20

21

22

23

24

25

6-227

Q -- in your career, coxrect?

And you approximated about five of those were
officer-involved shootings?
A Yes, give or take.
Q Okay. Prior to conducting an autopsy in an officer-involved
shooting case, are you told how many shots the officer fired?
A If it's given to me in the reports or sometimes the --

whoever is at the autopsy, whatever police officers or detectives,

sometimes they'll say -- give me that information. But not
always.
0 Do you know if you were provided with that information in

this case?

A I don't recall offhand. I'm trying to look at the intake
sheet they gave us. Sometimes it has that information on there,
too. [Reviewing document.] So, yes, okay, according to the
circumstances that was provided, it noted that he was shot twice
in the chest.

0 Okay. &and --

A That was the information I was given.

Q And that was consistent with your examination of two gunshot
wounds? -

A Yes.

Q Okay. In any of the other officer-involved shootings that
you've -~ autopsies that you've handled, were -- did the deceased

have more gunshot wounds?
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A Yes.

0 Okay. And can you give an approximate number with respect to
each?

A Anywhere from one to over forty. There was a case I think

probably a couple years ago where it was about 40-plus gunshot

wounds, probably more.

Q To the same victim?

A Yes.

0 Or to the same deceased?

A Yes. It was from numerous officers --

Q Okay.

A -~ to that person who was firing back and had, like, a

bulletproof vest. I don't know if you recall that from a couple
years ago, but that was the case.

Q All right. Now, with respect to the substances that were
recovered or that were detected in the toxicology reports, you
indicated that alcochol, fentanyl, cannaboid [sic] -~ Is that --
That's warijuana?

A Yes.

0 And benzos? Was that the -~-

A The Clonazepam, yes.

Q Okay. Now, can an individual metabolize substances
postmortem?

A No. Generally at the time that a person's deceased, those

values are stable.
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Q Okay. So, those values that were recovered from, I believe
it was, the -- excuse my pronunciation -- but the iliac and the --
Is it the vitriol (sicl?
A The vitreous fluid? Yes.
Q . Vitreous. Those were, in your opinion, congistent with the
guantity within Mr. Greenough's system at the time of death?
A Correct.
0 Okay.

MR. PASCIUCCO: ©No other questions. Thank you, sir.

THE WITNESS: Sure.

THE COURT: Thank you.

Do you have an offer to make?

MR. KOUFMAN: Yes, Judge. I'd just like to ask some
questions about the effects of some of these drugs.

THE COURT: Sure.

MR. KOUFMAN: If I may.

THE COURT: Yes.

CROSS EXAMINATION OF WITNESS, DR. ANAND SHAH

BY MR. KOUFMAN:
V] Dr. Shah, my name is Victor Koufman. I represent the
Greenough family. And I just -- You indicate that he had
Clonazepam in his system; is that correct?
A Yes.
Q And could -- Is ~~ The effects of Clonazepam, is it to

relieve anxiety?
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A It can be used for that, yes.

o] And is it also to calm a person down?

A Yes, it may be used for that, as well.

o] Okay. And it's also used as an anticonvulsant --

a Yes.

O -~ medication? So it's given for seizures; is that -~
A Correct.

O -~ coxrrect?

Okay. And you were talking about how long it takes for the

body to metabolize drugs; is that correct?

A Yes.

Q Are you talking about half-lifes? Is that what you're

talking about?

A Yeah, half-lifes are associated with that. But just
generally the overall metabolism. But that -- that's part of it,
ves.

0 And do you know, like, for -~ I'm sorry -- Clonazepam, which
is -- that's marketed as Klonopin, right?

A Yes.

Q Is that correct? Okay. Is the half-life for Klonopin 48

hours? Do you know?

y:y I don't know exactly. But it -- it is somewhere within,

like, hours-range rather than weeks. So, that sounds like it's
familiaxr. But again, I'm not -- I'm not too, too --

Q And that's how long it takes for the body to wmetabolize the




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

i7

18

19

20

21

22

24

25

6-231
drug, to get it out of the system; is that correct?
A Yes.
Q So, a person can take the drugs and the actual effect of the

drugs can have worn off by the time the test is done; is that

coxrrect?
A Yes.
Q Now, you alsco mentioned -- There's mention in your report of

7-aminoclonazepam; is that correct?

A Correct.

Q Is that just -- That's not a separate drug, is it? That's --
A That's just a metabolite of Clonazepam. That's what it
metaboli -~ That's what Clonazepawm breaks down into.

Q Okay. So that's not a -~ Okay. 2aAnd then vyou also mentioned

fentanyl; is that correct?

A Yes.

®) And fentanyl is a opiate; is that correct?

A Yes. It's in the same type of effects category.

Q And it's used to reduce pain; is that correct?

A Yeg.

0 And one of the effects is to make persons relax, again; 1is

that correct?

A Correct.

0 Okay. And that has a half-life, as well; is that correct?
A Yes. I don't know the half-life of fentanyl cffhand.

O You don't know?
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A But I know, again, it's ~- it'e on the shorter frame, more

like hours rather than days.

) Say, it could be 12 to 24 hours?
A Seems reasonable, yes, depending on the amount.
Q So he could've taken it 24 hours before the incident; is that

correct? Before the test was taken; I'm sorry.
A It depends. I mean, maybe have probably needed to take quite
a bit if it were 24 hours prior.

THE COURT: So, this may have already been asked, but do you
confirm prior to the autopsy and prior to your findings that there
was no use of fentanyl by either the -- any of the emergency room
or -~

THE WITNESS: Right. I usually try to do that. And --

THE COURT: Did you do that in this case?

THE WITNESS: In this case, I believe he was not -- because
he arrived -~ he was deceased on arrival, --

THE COURT: He --

THE WITNESS: &And I didn't --

THE COURT: But they were still working on him at the
emergency room, right? Weren't they?

THE WITNESS: Right. For --

THE COURT: And so, would --

THE WITNESS: -- a few minutes. I just -- I don't recall
them giving him fentanyl. But I'd have to --

MS. LYNCH: Your Honor, -~-
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THE WITNESS: ~- take a look.

MS. LYNCH: T do have an affidavit from the --

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. LYNCH: -- Lahey Clinic doctor.

THE COURT: Sure.

MS. LYNCH: If I can offer that --

THE COURT: Absolutely.

MS. LYNCH: -- into evidence.

[Affidavit of Dr. Exrik Wang Marked as Exhibit No. 87]

MS. LYNCH: It's a two-page document: cover letter and
affidavit of Dr. Brik Wang.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. LYNCH: Just showing you this document. Dr. Erik Wang
was one of the physicians at the Lahey Hospital; is that -- Just
show you that here.

THE WITNESS: Mm-hmm.

MS. LYNCH: And Exhibit 87 indicates that "During the course
of Mr. Greenough's treatment at the hospital he was not
administered fentanyl or any drugs or medications, which is
reflected in his medical record. Although the records reflect
than an anesthesiologist, Dr. Kaufman, was present at bedside, no
anesthesia wag administered to the patient.™

Does that refresh your recollection as to whether or not that
information was socught in connection with this?

THE WITNESS: Yes, thank you.
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MS. LYNCH: Okay. Thank you.
THE COURT: Thank you, Ms. Lynch.
Mr. Koufman?
MR. KOUFMAN: Judge, if I may, I'd like to ask some questions
about whether Gunshot A and B -- which one came first.
THE COURT: You may.

BY MR. KOUFMAN:

Q Which one came first, Gunshot A and B, or can you tell?
A I can't tell you that; I don‘t know.
0 And so -- But one of them would've been instantly fatal, and

the other one would not have been; is that correct?

A I wouldn't say "instantly." But one of them would be much
more, I think, rapidly fatal depending on the level of severity.
So, yes, I guess, the short answer. Gunshot Wound B would've been

more quickly fatal than Gunshot Wound A.

0 And yvou know the sequence as to how it happened.
A Correct.
Q Ckay.
MR. KOUFMAN: I'd like to ask some -- a couple guestions

about the hypothetical that was posed, if I may.
THE COURT: Yes.
BY MR. XOUFMAN:
Q You were asked a hypothetical; is that correct?
A Yes.

0 And the hypothetical was that if the shooter was actually --
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that the shocter was_standing there and then Alan Greenough was
bent over and he wasgs shot, whether the wounds were consistent with
that scenarioc. 2And you said that was one of the possibilities; is

that correct?

A Correct.

Q Now, Mr. Greenough was 6-foat-2; is that correct?

A Yes.

Q and if you learned that there were indentations of the

bullets in a door, at the bottom of a door, approximately 2 feet
off the ground, given his height would you feel the same way?

MS. LYNCH: Your Honor, I'm going to object. I don't know
what his basis of knowing about gunshot wounds to cars --

THE COURT: What is --

MR. KOUFMAN: I just --

THE COURT: What 1s the basis?

MR. KOUFMAN: There's going to -- I believe there's -- I
would hope there's going to be some evidence that the bullets in
this case -- well, at least, there are indentations in the door
that were barely 2 feet off the ground. And Alan Greenough was
6-foot-2.

BY MR. KOUFMAN:

Q So, my question is whether oxr not if the bullets were
entering Mr. Greenough, even if he was bent over, -- whether it's
feagible to assume that the bullets would've ended up 2 feet off

the ground.
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THE COURT: 1I'll let him ask the guestion.

You can answer.
BY MR. KOUFMAN:
A It's -- It's entirely -~ I don't know how far the door is.
Q Say within -- It's within 6 feet.
A Within 6 feet. I mean, my physics aren't really all that
great. But I -- I don't see why if would be out of the realm of
possibility if --
0 Can you state to a reasonable degree of medical cerxtainty
whether it would be likely?
A I can just say its possible. I -- I don't have the numbers,
I don't have probably encugh description of the setting of the
scene to really give you with any sort of, like, certainty whether
or not that’s consistent or not. But if I'm given a flat surface,
if I'm given the positioning as bent over and charging, with a
possibly s -- slightly downward aim, then I don't think it would

be impossible for bullet indentations to be 2 feet above the

bottom --
Q But you wouldn't -~
A -- of the ground. /
Q -~ be able to say it to a reasonable degree of medical
certainty?
MS. LYNCH. ‘'Cause it -~ Your Honor, I'm going to object

because it's not --

THE COURT: Objection's sustained.
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THE COURT: Yeah, wmm-hmm.

MR. KOUFMAN: Thank you, Judge.

THE COURT: Thank you.

Anything further for the doctor?

MS. LYNCH: No.

THE COURT: Msg. Lynch? Okay. 211 right.
Thank you very wmuch, doctor.

THE WITNESS: Thank you.

{Witness steps down]

6-237

MS. LYNCH: I don't know if Your Honor wanted to resume --

THE COURT: I --

MS. LYNCH: ~~ with Mr. Perrotti.

THE COURT: 1I'd like to recess now, just ‘cause I'm --

MS. LYNCH: Okay.

THE COURT: -- worried about making the garage by five

o'clock.
MS. LYNCH: Okay.
THE COURT: Okay? All right.
MS. LYNCH: Thank you.

THE COURT: Thank you.

THE CLERK: So, this matter will be continued until tomorrow.

MR. PASCIUCCO: Judge, excuse me. I don't know if we have

time to just set another date or --

THE COURT: Sure.
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MR. PASCIUCCO: I think --
THE COURT: We can do that. Sure.
Thank you very much, doctor. Thank you.

Okay. So, Mr. Pasciucco makes a good point about setting

another date. 80, we have June -- We have tomorrow.

1ith. I don't have my book.

We have June

MS. LYNCH: Your Honor, may we wait until tomorrow morning?

The only problem is that T am on the Forensic Science Oversight

Commission and we have a meeting in June.

THE COURT: Absolutely.

M5. LYNCH: There's a lot -- Okay.
THE COURT: We can wait until --
MS. LYNCH: And I --

THE COURT: -~ tomorrow.

MS. LYNCH: -- don't have that --
THE COURT: Yep.

MS. LYNCH: -- with me.

THE COURT: Bbsolutely. Okay? We'll do that, set the date

tomorrow. All right? Thank you everybody.

[Adjourned at 3:07:45 p.m.]
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146/14 146/15 152/21 152/22always [7] 22/7 76/16 117/3

117/4 140/9 140/12 227/10
ambulance [2] 65/9 225/5
amend 2] 34/15 34/16

alan [94] 1/17 5/6 5/22 6/19 aminoclonazepam [1]231/8
71176 7120 8/% 10/12 10/25 among [1] 31/12




amount [31217/16 225/25
232/4

amphetammes [1] 215/1
amy (9] 121/11 121/12
146/12 162/12 162/13 163/9
163/10 164/13 181/13
analysis [2]201/20 214/10
anand [8] 3/21 197/2 197/5

anybody [5]33/9 75/22
126/22 126/24 175116
anymore {1] 204/2

115/8 124/10 143/15 171/19

182/10 183/4 183/19 185/2
185/5 185/8 185/12 185/13

arrived [13] 7/8 7/19 8/4
42/4 80/23 81/4 82/8 82/10

185/18 185/20 185/25 194/1383/2 83/5 161/14 226/7
anyone [7] 44/22 49/1 58/15 195/1 206/7 208/9

appearance [2] 14/6 202/17

anything {37] 7/4 25/3 47/15 appearances [2] 1/26 2/1

58/16 77/8 86/4 86/11 86/12
88/16 89/25 101/12 102/19

197/11 222124 225/19 226/16106/6 106/20 108/3 114/18

229/18

anatomic [3] 198/8 198/18
198/21

anatomical [1]208/24
anatomically {11 206/21
anderson {1] 1/36
anesthesia [1]233/22
anesthesiologist [1] 233/21
anger [2] 175/14 175/15

116/13 118/17 119/4 119/16
120/5 124720 126/9 130/S
130/16 132/2 156/18 157/4
165/18 167/4 171/7 171/8
195/19201/11 214/24 226/8
2375

anyway {2] 109/1 131/4
anyways (1] 57/2
anywhere [4) 129/20 172/1

angle [11] 14/23 15/18 15/19178/11 228/4
18/5 19/3 20/4 25/5 31/2 97/8apartment {112] 8/1 10/25

163/2 173/10

angry [4] 5/22 12/18 66/3
116/21

another {12] 60/16 §1/24
77/3 7119 122/23 130/15
140/11 147/1 152/11 154/18
237/24 238/s

answered [5] 86/8 129/6
129/23 194/9 135/15
answering (2] 44/21 45/8
answers [1]39/8

ant [1] 152721

appeared [4] 65/22 66/3
143/1 150/3

appears {6] 151/18 153/4
160/5 174/16 182/5 207/13
apples [2] 101/21 101/2)
appoemiment {2] 106/13
14717

appreciate {3] 54/9 133/13
184/7

apprehend [2] 88/7 96/18
apprehended [2] 23/10
49723

approached {1] 169/14
approved [2] 1/48 239/3

11/1 14/21 18/16 18/2S 22/18approxmate [2] 199/21

22/19 25/24 25/1 3524 3717

22812

40/4 42/24 44715 44/25 45/12approximated {11 227/2
45/17 49/20 49/25 50/18 53/4approximately [24] 23/14

53/5 53/10 53/11 55/5 55/6
55/17 56/21 71/20 76/20

52114 64/24 64724 106/7
107/9 136/1 136/5 136/12

76/20 78/10 79/9 79/10 79/16144/9 150/4 156/5 161/22

79/25 80/5 80/24 81/4 81/25
82/18 83/13 B3/19 84/6 84/8

164/6 181/16 199/18 212/3
212/6 212/7 213/2 21411

85/13 B9/1 90/24 91/16 91/19223/25 226/23 235/9

92/13 92/19 100/23 100/24
101/19 103/9 106/4 106/12

approximating [1] 179/7
area [24] 20/6 21/11 34/11

anthony {96] 3/18 4/14 5/13 107/21 107/23 109/25 110/1564/3 73/5 115/14 115/25

5/176/6 /11 7/15 7/25 8/6

110/15 114/8 114/16 114/23

122/5122/15 122/19 133/24

8/16 8/22 9/16 10/3 14/7 14/9120/12 120/21 121/17 121/18139/2 141/15 163/4 164/13
14/11 15/6 15/13 20/11 20/14122/11 122/13 123/22 124/25168/7 168/23 169/11 169/16
20/1520/20 23/6 23/13 23/15125/19 137/23 138/19 138/22174/13 175/9 192/13 205/11

23/2124/3 32/3 32/8 32/9

138/25 138/25 139/1 139/16

32/13 32/15 33/11 43/2 43/20135/24 140/1 140/4 140/5
44/1 46/16 50/6 50/13 50/14 140/6 140/7 141/2 142/23

50/20 52/1 53/3 53/6 56/16
57710 58/14 58/16 58/19
59/13 59/22 60/19 62/1 62/6
62/15 70/20 70/23 71412

143/8 143/14 160/2 162/19
163/4 164/25 165/2 165/3
165/8 179/9 179/22 180/24
186/8 186/12 188/13 188/22

205/17

232/16

ask [73] 9/4 24/16 25/5
27710 30/9 33/5 42/1 42/19
49/20 51/22 53/2 58/6 58/24
60/18 7245 T2/S 7522 T9/4
80/10 83/24 87/8 90/17 90/19
90/20 90/21 91/6 100/12
102/20 111/3 112/22 122/5
125/14 126/16 137/16 146/3
147/10 148/17 151/2 151/6
151/22 160/6 162/1 162/1
162/23 163/3 164/13 164/20
167/24 180/16 182/5 184/1
184714 184/19 184/24 188/24
193/2 193/6 194/10 195/25
196/11 204/12 204/14 205/6
207/4 208/17 208/22 221/7
221/8 221713 229/13 234/4
234/19 236/1

asked [39] 10/17 44/3 45/10
45/16 46/20 49/10 52/9 53/21
57/20 57/24 S8/1 58/8 58/12
63/24 6412 83/25 85/2 91/5
95/4 99/23 100/20 100/21
100/22 112/24 117/25 118/1
129/4 129/24 130/3 188/15
188/20 189/4 189/25 192/1
213/24 21473 223/6 23215
234/23

asking [19] 17/3 17/7.27/23
35/9 35/11 46/23 49/9 49/12
49/15 51/3 53/13 53/17 53/25
95/8 130/14 166/16 190/19
190/25 191/24

asks [2] 43/16 62/15

areas [3] 206/13 214/6 214/9 aspects [1] 210/5

arguing [2] 166/19 178/12
argument [1] 8/2

arisetty [2] 4/12 133/21
arithmetic [11 155/17
arms {1} 86/1%

T74/24 79/18 79/19 82/19 83/9191/12 191719 191/25 192/16arcund [27] 8/3 8/17 20/11

84/3 84/3 86/14 90/22 90/23
91/591/6 91/14 91/15 51/25
92/192/7 92/13 108/11

196/5
appear {61] 79/2 86/21
86/23 120/4 147117 147/23

108/22 109/12 109/13 109/14148/4 148/7 148/14 148/22

111/5111/7111/10 11411
114/4 114/19 115/9 115/15

148/25 149/10 150/24 151/9
152/2 152/6 152/10 152/12

115/25 117/15 124/19 126/15152/21 152/23 153/2 153/9

127/1 127/2 127/2 13577
135/8 135/14 148/23
anthony's [4] 59/22 79/18
79/19 83/9
anticonvulsant {1} 230/4
anxiety {11 229/25

31/2 48/1 64/25 70/19 T1/19
82/8 104/24 105/18 126/24
136/13 154/24 161/8 163/15
177/9 179/% 181/15 196/1
199/6 209/9 209/12 209/13
211/21213/21 22411

arrest [5] 10/4 10/8 12/15

153/11 153/23 154/16 154/2423/12 56/23

155/2 155/12 155/16 155721
156/1 156/20 157/7 157/13
157/22 158/13 16073 160/6
160/8 163/19 164/16 168/1
172/10 173/3 173/12 180720

arrested [2] 17/11 89/23
arrival [6] 7/12 7/16 10/24
188/10 226/7 232/16
arrivals [1] 38/23

arrive {2] 82/11 110/16

assault [1] 15/7

assanited [2] 48/18 157/8
assessment [1] 221/23
assistant {3} 1/29 95/3
184/13

associated [3]209/15211/22
230/14

assume (8] 66/14 66/16
70/25 141/22 221/9 221/13
225/5235/24

assumed [2] 10/13 49/12
assuming {7] 140/22 142/1
142/9 142/14 170/21 181/12
195/7

assumptions [1] 49/15
assure [1 88/17

attempted {1] 85/1
attempting [1] 114/15




attendant [5] 78/9 80/21
103/15 131/24 132/7

164/9 166/19 177/7 181121
187/17 189/7 189/11 193/15

belief [1] 15/6
beheve [57] 10/20 21/5

blame [1] 58/15
blamed [1] 58/14

attention [34] 6/12 9/6 11/11194/10 195/21 201/12 203/1621/21 34/18 37/7 37/8 62/18 blank [5] 115/22 129/5

13/16 14/15 18/4 34/20 44/4 204/9 209/18 210/3 210/5
S0/4 104/23 147/9 147/20  210/7 210/15 210725 211/24
148/3 148/13 145/9 150/19  212/4 212/24 213/7 219/8
151/4 151721 152/16 153/18 228/12

154/12 155/19 157/5 158/11 backfire [1] 62/21

159/24 160/21 181/25 182/9 backfiring [1]133/3
182/22 183/16 194/12 194/21 background [1] 198/3
200121 21573 backup [1] 11/10

attorney (12] 1/13 1/29 1/30 bad {11] 9/25 63/17 71/24
1/35 2/4.2/5 52/9 54/14 6944 76/6 76/7 101/17 101/21
6916 69/7 697 75117 954

184/13 bail [1]9/21

attorney's [3} 1/30 52/9 bald [4] 33/18 43/9 99/14
7517 99/21

audible [1]161/13 bank [1] 141/6

audio {3] 16/15 16/18 26/8 barely [1] 235/19

auto [2] 69/23 70/2 barrel {1]222/20

autopsies {6] 199/16 199/18 baseball [1] 29/10

199/24 223/22 226124 22724 based [16] 67/1 67/5 67/8
autopsy [17] 3/33 3/34200/368/4 73/12 132/18 198/23
200/8 200/17 200/24 201/2  204/3 209/1 210/24 213/6
202/11205/8 206/11 206/25 216/6 220/24 221/15 223/1
207/11 207/13 221/16 227/5 23945

22718 232/10
available [1]221/2]
avenue {11 1/31

basically [5] 62/1575/2
175/13 212/18 213/20
avoid [1] 50/22 basing [1] 159/11

awave [18] 7/24 7/25 8/12  basis [5] 80/8 82/4 208/10
37/12 102/16 124/13 143/20 235/12 235/15

150/3 150/7 150/9 162/8 bathroom [1] 30/24 139/5
179/17 186/7 186/11 186/13 bathroom'’s {1} 139/5
186/14 188/10 188/25 beat [1] 195/19

away [18] 11/14 11/14 13/24 became [6] 37/12 77/21
22/1 57/3 58/5 59/10 60/10  104/10 136/13 179/17 188/9
T7/3 83/3 101/5 129/24 130/1become [6] 8/12 186/7

65/1 76/21 80/2 80/4 87/19
91/11 92/20 92/23 95/17

129/17 129/17 208/9
bleeding [1) 203/3

107/22 109/13 136/14 138/15blind {1} 94/24

139/11 139/15 140/16 142/4
142/6 143/3 143/6 14317
147/1 156/14 168/9 168/11

blinds (2]22/19 22/22
blocking [1] 143/5
blood {201 61/7 62/5213/14

170/24 172/12 174425 175/20213/16 214/11 214/13 214/13
176/21 177/25 179/23 181/4 215/9 215/11 215/12 215/14
183713 183/24 186/21 186/23215/15 215/18 215/22 215/24

190/5 190/8 190/10 195/21

101/21 152/22 158/19 158/20199/6 203/1 203/7 217/23

220/23 225/14 229/1 232/15
235/16

believed [4] 14/12 46/21
63/17 66/19

215/25 21612 216/14 216/24
216125

blue [1]29/14

bo [1] 146/23

board [6] 192/11 198/17
198/18 198/25 199/3 199/5

belhino [4] 8/3 104/15 143/16body (307 69/23 70/2 174/23

143/17

belong [1] 199/11

below [6} 209/6 210/7
210/14 211717 211725 21273
bent [7] 221/13 223/6 223/9
223/14 235/2 235/23 236/15
benzodwazepine [1]217/4

basement (2] 142/23 142/24 benzodiazepines [3] 214/25

217/1 217122

benzos [1] 228/20

beside {171 131/14

best [97 93/8 110/25 111720
127/8 131/3 131/4 134/20
190/25 214/6

better [5} 116/10 122/16
167/20 181/5 185/19
between [28] 10/25 11/20
12/24 26/14 31/22 96/25
106/6 109/16 122/20 156/24

200/9200/15 201/5 201/6
201/12 202/7 202/9 202/25
203/10 204/1 204/5 206/8
209/4 210/6 210/17 211/10
211/24 212/23 214/6 214/8
218/19 220/24 222/17 223/5
223/14 223/18 230/10 230/25
body's [1]223/14

bolt [1] 140/15

book [5] 6/11 11/11 78/10
154/3 238/6

books (1] 82/13

bose [2] 170/10 170/11
boston {5] 2/8 197/18 198/4
198/5 200122

both {23] 12/3 12/3 45/4
59120 55/24 84/20 84/24 85/4
85/5 85/6 91/10 139/21
139722 156/16 157/8 155/8

153/12 154/16 156/18 176/25186/11 186/13 186/14 198/25158/24 169/12 171/25 198/20165/23 177/8 177110 179/5

181/13
139/6 139/7 139/7 139/9
B 141/18 166/2 166/4 166/7
16712 175/19 177/20 179/5
babysit [1] 155/22 181/6
back [86] 5/412/515/3  bedrooms [1] 141/13
19/22 20/1120/16 2024  bedside [1]233/21

22/18 24/10 25/24 31/16 33/3beforehand [1) 201/5

35/5 36/10 40/9 40/21 41/6  began [2] 20/7 42/4

42/1 43/19 43/20 46/21 50/8 begin [2] 201/9 201/20
54125 60/20 62/10 64/14  beginning [6] 11/13 11/16
64/22 71/8 TU12 T2/10 82/2513/18 20/1 26/20 161/9
91/9 92/22 93/24 94/4 94/1]1 behavior [3] 73/5 102/14
95/3 96/23 97/25 98/23 100/9116/8

103/21 106/22 114/21 115/16behaviors [1] 117/5
123/22 124/1 127/16 131/6  behmd [15] 8/14 28/24 33/5
131/10 134/14 136/2 136/18 33/8 33/9 48/21 56/20 60/1
139/17 142/25 143/10 143/1161/24 98/18 100/6 119/12
144/15 148/17 152/23 162/6 122715 192/9 192/20

bedroom [15] 139/3 139/6  203/18 206/2 209/22 210/2  210/2 215/25 225/3

210/18 210/23 212/15 212/24 bottom [3] 209/2 235/9

21375215121 216/8 222/18
225112 226/3

beyond [11211/4

big [10] 10/14 14/3 50/22

236/18

bounced [4] 171/22 174/3
174/4 175/12

bowl [2] 89/22 89/24

61/7 89/15 123/1 170/3 170/5boy 1) 128/25

170/6 215/1

bile [1] 214/14

binders [1] 188/8

birth [2] 103/12 135/15
bit [12] 6/22 12/6 54/17
54/17 72/19 116/17 153/20

bra [11121/22

brain {1] 126/5

braneh [8] 117/22 117/23
118/8 118/9 118/21 118/22
115/7 121721

break {2] 88/7 101/18

159/14 215/25 219/13 219/14brealang [3] 81/22 87/21

232/8

bits [1] 159/16

black [2] 35/4 35/17

blah [6]81/12 81/12 81/13
85/24 85/24 85/24

16072

breaks [2] 130/17 231/12
brief[1] 134/12

briefly [3] 65/20 161/16
182/7




bring [8] 6/12 23/16 23(23
32/11 32/16 50716 50/20
51710 52/2 89/16

bro [1] 150/24

broken [3] 86/9 98/8 98/8
brother [117] 6/12 9/18
14/12 15/2 15/7 15/10 15/10
15/11 24/1 32/24 37/6 41/25
41/25 43/21 4321 5073 53/3
56/21 60/24 61/6 62/4 62/11
62/12 63/17 63/18 68/18

97/22 97/24 97/25 115/18

115/19 115/23 115/24 115/24buried [1] 162/16
131/12 131/12 137/13 137/18business [14] 10/7 69/20

“buddy [1] 154/23
building [5] 7/19 60/24
139/19 188/13 18821
bulk {17 150/1
bulkhead [1] 143/}
bullet {4}212/9 212/13
213/6 236/17
bulletproof {17 228/13
bullets {4} 235/9 235/17
235/22 235124

70/21 70/23 74/24 76/17 78/9bummed {1] 162/18

79/19 92/9 92/17 92/19 97/16bunch [4] 107/10 107/13

123/3 148/24 148/25 150725
152123 155/15 157/8 162/6
169/7 177/6 177/20 177/22
177/23 178/7 17918 179/22
186/6 1859/1 190/10 192/10
192/23 224/7 224(7 234/5
234/8

camera [4] 18/4 19/3 3172
34/20

cameras {1 83/15
cannabinoids [1]217/2
cannaboid [1] 228/17
cannot [7] 25/6 59/8 70/25
T0/25 84/23 94/23 94/24
cap [2] 29/10 63/8
capable [1] 78/13

137/19 137/19 137/23 138/1 70/4 70/18 71/22 71/23 76/25¢eapacity [1] 104/1

138/12 138/22 140/4 140/6  77/25 80/20 85/13 101/6
141/2 141/23 141/25 142/17 111724 111/25 125/11
142/23 143/14 143/15 143/24busy [2] 161/10 183/13
144/6 144/15 144/22 146/4 byproducts {11 218/4

146/7 146/11 148/4 148/7

148/10 148/14 150/2 150/4 C

151/3 151/18 151/22 152/2

152/10 153/8 153/18 153/21 cabmet [2] 169/3 165/4

car {18] 8/5 33/18 33/20
34/24 34/24 35/2 38/19 42/4
43/9 43/10 62/22 78112
105/25 106/8 106/14 134/15
186/16 192/14

carboxy [1]218/11

care [1] 157/20

career [2] 199/19 227/1

153/23 155/10 155/12 155/20¢call {30} 4/3 4/16 26/12 57/2 careful {1 133/12

155/21 156/23 157/8 158/12 75/15 78/11 85/16 108/10

carry [1] 224/21

158/13 158/17 15%/9 161/15 108/23 119/17 119/19 123/20cars [12] 70/3 70/4 70/13

162/2 162/6 162/11 162/15
163/4 164/1 164/3 164/24

167/4 167/7 167/10 168/2
169/7 169/18 171/7 172/11

176/10 176/11 176/14 177/13 called [23] 4/1 5/7 5/10
67/12 81/14 147/23 148/14
149/11 151/9 151/13 151/18
182/20 183/20 184/21 184/24153/23 182/6 182/11 185/2
185/6 187/9 154/9 154/14
194/22 195/4 195/15 199/15

179/4 179/8 179/9 180/17
181/2 181/5 181/16 182/1

185/2 185/6 185/9 185/12
185/18 185/22 186/1 186/8

123/21 130/17 130/18 135/1
147/17 148/11 149/11 1512
165/14 165/22 166/15 166/22152/5 155/13 155/15 155/16
158/14 194/3 194/4 195/2

70/19 71/2 99/5 127/13
131/23 132/4 133/3 192/20
235/12

case [35] 4/1 200/12 201/6
201/6 201/15 201/19 2023

causing {1]221/12

cavity [4] 213/14 214/13
214/14 225/12

cell [44] 144715 144/18
144720 144/22 144/23 147/18
147/18 147/23 148/7 148/8
148/14 151/3 151/9 151/13
152/3 152/10 153/24 155/12
156/3 156/22 158/12 158/14
158/17 160/1 160/6 160/6
180/17 180/20 180/21 182/1
182/6 182/11 182/11 184/24
185/2 185/6 185/18 186/6
186/6 186/7 194/11 154/13
194/14 154/22

cellebrite {6] 156/8 157/6
159/12 182/10 182/23 183/16
center [2] 96/25 209/4
centimeter [2] 209/7 209/12
centimeters {3} 206/9 210/9
211719 211721

centumeters' [1]1211/21
central [1] 217/6

centrally {1]1215/14
certainly [1] 184/7
certamty [5] 221/2 236/9
236/13 236/22 237/1
certificate [6] 3/36 208/10
220/9 220/12 220/20 220/21
certificates 1] 200/4
certification 1] 19973
cerfifications {1] 198/17
certified [4] 198/18 198/25

203/22 203/22 206/23 207/20199/5 220/18

208/7 208/10 208/14 209/3
209/5212/14 214/9 214/11
215/5215/17217/22 218/1
220/10220/12 221/1 221/20
223/2 227/6 227/12 228/4

certify [4) 220/14 239/4
239/8 239/12

cervical 1] 203/7

cetera [1]200/10
chaghouri [40] 3/6 4/4 4/22

186/12 188/15 188/21 191/19%calling {7] 78/19 81/10 148/7228/14 232/14 232/15 235/184/23 4124 5/3 5/4 14/20 14/23

192/24 194/3 194/4 194/11
196/1 196/2
140/4 140/6 14172 142/23

143/14 143/24 146/4 146/7
148/4 148/7 150/2 151/3

158/12 163/4 180/17 182/1

153/13 155/2 158/19 180/21
194/14 194/22 195/4 195/14 calls [7] 19/12 32/24 138/8
156/24 16012 181122 194/7
brother's [37] 63/17 138/22 calm [3] 6/23 116/12 230/2
came [89] 8/11 8/18 8/22
10/12 10/19 11/12 13/4 13/9
23/13 23/15 25/7 25/21 2713
151/22 152/2 152/10 153/18 27/4 28/10 28/17 28/21 3207
153/21 155/10 155/12 155/2032/8 32/10 36/6 36/9 38/16

cases [5] 201/19 216/15
217/19 219/5 226/9

cash {2] 33/12 4373

cat {7] 183/5 183/6 183/21
185/10:185/10 186/1 186/5
catches [1] 222/19
category [1] 231/17
catheter [1]203/6
catheters [2]225/10 225/10

42121 43/25 44/3 44/15 45/19causative {1] 217/23

15/2 16712 17/5 22/19 23/21
24717 32/15 32/19 33/18
43/13 43/16 44/11 44/16 46/5
50/6 51/12 54/2 54/25 5513
56/16 59/1 55/21 61/14 68/
73120 73/22 93/13 93/15
102/23 111/14 113/12 158/4
chaghouri's {17 4/4

chain {2] 71/10 71/12

chairs [2] 148/24 154/14

184/24 185/2 185/6 185/18  46/17 46/20 46/25 48/5 48/21cause {10] 23/24 25/15 67/18 change [2] 46/25 139/10

186/8 186/12 188/21 191/19 49/5 5073 50/10 50/15 51/9
52/10 52/11 60/19 61/23
62/25 63/6 7118 72/5 78112
81/15 88/25 89/3 89/6 92/17
92/22 96/12 97/12 97/22
101/6 107/13 108/10 108/12
brusing {2] 209/13 211/22  109/1 112/6 120/23 120/24

194/11 194/14 194/22
brought {41 60/5 64/22
189/16 201/8

brown [2] 146/24 146/25
bruise [1] 209/12

79/5 113/21 130/14 162/16
164/25 167/13 175/18 180/1

changed 1] 181/1
changeover [1] 161/13

184/19 196/20 197/24 199/25changes [1] 65/13

200/2 204/2 217/20 220/9
220/12220/14 221/2 22413
236/23 237/14

caused [2] 73/6 224/5

changing [2] 39/8 39/9
characteristics {21 200/10
201/13

charge [1] 56/20




chargmg [6] 221/10 221/12
223/7 2237 223/9 236/15
check [5] 27/774/19 77/16
113/8 191/15

checked [2] 83/15 84/3
checlang [1] 91/15

chest [21] 129/18 203/2

coliapses {1] 224/22
coliar {17 203/7
college {17 198/7

color {2] 209/8 211/21
combative [1] 54/17
comes [14] 23/21 25/23 32/8 consult {1] 69/4
32/15 32/24 33/15 33/18 37/2consumed {1} 66/19

203/16 204/6 204/23 208/25 43/4 43/9 72/9 93/20 155/1
209/18 211/14 213/14 213/16162/11
213/19 214/14 214/14 214/14commission [1] 238/9

220/15 221/6 22147 222/3
225/11 22512 22717
chief {3} 197/17 197/22
198/11

chiidhood {1] 138/17
chill {2] 154/19 181/3
cinderblocks [1] 143/3
cirele [1]203/22
circhng [1]174/14
cirenlar [1]206/4
exreumferentiai {1] 209/8
arcumstances {2 178/1
227/16

claimed {1 51/24

common [11214/17

commonwealth [3] 1/5 1/28

1/31

commotion {37 8/18 42/10
80124

communicate [2] 144/22
146/4

communtcation [3] 7/15
15978 186/5

company [1] 74/12
complete {1} 139/2

completely [3] 38/25 140/13

211/10
compliance [1] 239/9

clarify {47 49/9 99/13 178/24 complied [1] 178/5

179/1

cleaming [2] 78/5 78/6
clear {2] 48/2 206/4

clearly [1]18/25

clerk [1] 23722

chmic [2] 221/21 233/4
chneal [3] 198/8 198/18
198/21

chppmgs [1]201/18

clock {11 4/11 71/8 78/18
81/10 104/25 105/19 108/22
108/24 109/22 109/23 134/2
137/11 161/22 179/13 187/5
18719 237/17

clonazepam [12] 217/1
217/3 21774 217/8 217/20
21971 228/21 229/22 22%/24
230/17231/11231/12

close [4] 13/2221/2 167/16
196/23

closed [3} 12/6 13/3 101/6
closer [3] 19/19 96/3 211/6
closest [1] 36125

clothing [3]222/17 222/18
222/19

clotted {17213/15

clue {2] 24/9 99/1%

coast {77 103/17 135/24
135/25 136/6 137/7 158/23
160/22

cocaine (11214725
cognizant [1]158/2
collapsed [1] 225/11

component [1] 69/23
comprehensive [1] 201/11
computer [1] 60/13
concern {1} 22/16
concerned 1] 54/16
concerning {61 7/16 26/4
208/7 208/13 208/23 218/13
condition [4] 165/7 165/9
20216 202/25

conduct [11 199/15
conducted [2] 201/3 226/23

conductmng [4] 199/24 200/3 cops {201 9/16 12/5 18/15

200/8 227/5

conferred {1] 91/11
confirm [171232/10
confirmed [1] 59/6
confront [1]72/8
confrontation [3] 50/22
88/1091/12

confused {4] 28/13 45/11
60/11 96/16

confusing {2] 28/13 109/3
connection [6] 64/3 146/20
200116 215/5 215/17 233/24
connelly [2] 57/20 58/13

consistent [17] 202/17 216/5 85/18 88/1 89/1 85/4 89/7
219/18 219/24 221/18 221/1997/17 87/18 97/25 101/23

222/3222/6 223/5 223/8 101/24 101/25 105/21 11112
223/9223/11 223/12 227/20 116/2 123/15 126/20 132/25
225/5235/2236/14 137/12 141711 141/14 147/8

149723 155/7 155/18 173/19
188/19 189/8 191725 192/25
197/21 198/15 200720 202/2
202/16 203/10 203/11 204/7
204/10 205/18 206/6 206/15
207/14 208/11 210/12 216/16
211/8211/11 212/8 213/4
216/16218/3 218/18 220/6
223/16 224/16 225/22 225123
22711 22877 229122 23017

cont {2] 4/24 188/6

contact {21 52/9 160/17
contacted [1] 160/14
content {1] 156/22

context {1]217/18
continuation {11 4/4
continue [11] 4/21 23/16
25/19 31/9 33/11 37/17 39/2

39/15 41/15 43/7 224/18 230/8 230/10 230/20 231/1
continued [4] 2/1 129/15  231/5231/8 231/9 231/14
194/3 237/22 231/16 231/18 231/21 23122
continuing (3] 9/14 25/21  231/23 232/6 234/11 234/17
43123 234/23 235/4 235/5 235/6
contract {2} 74/14 74/16  corrected [1]23/9

contrast [1] 220/5 eorrectly [6] 10/15 30/6
control {1] 76/1 83/15 83/15 93/10 217/11
conver {1] 27/18 correlated [1] 216/14

conversation {22] 26/14 correspondence {13 74/3
27421 28/17 80/16 80/22 81/3corresponding {13 211/23
83/6 86/16 87/21 87/25 89/6 counsel {2] 204/16 239/13
90/8 108/22 113/12 114/7  counter {10] 13/23 28/24
124/18 158/4 181/2 182/8  29/12 48/22 56/20 60/2 96/21
187/2 194/17 195/13 119/12 119/14 123/5
conversions {17 181/13 counting [3] 33/12 43/3
copvinced [2]57/1293/3  57/15

cool [1] 152/11 county [2] 1/6 198/11

cop {41 42/11 61/23 117/13 couple {16] 5/11 6/14 11/13
117725 50/22 59/11 65/10 7171
copied [1] 145/16 102/15 117/12 125/21 131/16
224/22 226/21 228/5 228/13
18/17 32/11 32/16 57/4 59/10234/19

60/5 67/12 119/17 119/19  conrse {19} 7/12 11/5 23/3
120/10 130/18 130/18 149/1123/5 25/11 28/24 47/20 48/15
153/13 155/2 158/19 160/2  75/19 100/4 116/10 117/2

copy [2] 64/6 220/18 128/14 129/9 199/15 208/2
corner [1] 93/21 219/2 220/7 233/17
corporate [3] 68/20 68/24  court's [7] 15/23 39/13
69/5 54/13 BO/11 162/24 204/16

corporation [5] 68/22 68/23 221/8

68/25 65/6 6919 courtroom [3] 1/42 54/5
correct [133] 5/15 8/10 10/5 174/11

11/2129/10 29/17 31/14 couture {11 139/20
36/10 41/13 48/14 49/4 49/4 cover [2] 207/11 233/10

connolly [5] 9/10 44/9 52/19 52/16 62/23 64/7 68/16 69/15¢covering [1] 212719

52/23 56/10

consent [S]3/31 6472 64/5
64/18 64/20
consideration {17 2G7/23

70/5 70/24 71/20 71721 72/1 covers [1]214/23

72/11 72/16 72/18 72/21 73/7cpr [4] 222/4 222/7 222/8
73/14 74/2 T4/4 74/6 74/10 22578

74121 74/24 75/2 7711 77/25¢razy {1] 160/7

considered [3] 215/9 215/22 78/20 79/18 79/21 80/1 80/16cribbage {1] 157/13

221/22

80/24 81/25 B2/8 82/15 82/18
82/25 83/2 83/17 85/8 85/13




cross [10] 3/4 68/9 73/20
93/13 126/17 127/22 132/21
222124 226/16 229/18
cruiser {37 8/15 8/19 38/14
cruisers [4} 11/13 63/10
6712 107/8

crymg [4] 44/1 4412 62/10
63/16

cunningham {17 41/6

curt [2] 146/8 146/10
curtain {1] 141/15
customer {8] 36/12 36/15
65/18 77/10 77/19 78/10
150/6 150/17

customers [6] 65/16 65/17
70/3 77/21 113/18 192/10
cut [1]177/8

cuther [2] 125/16 12672
cutting [1] 78/6

D

dad [1] 157/21

dade [1] 198/11

damaged [1] 156/18

date [6] 5/5 103/12 135/15
237/24 238/5 238/18

day [40] 1/22 5/6 5/14 1/8
/12 7/19 7/20 10/7 56/12

60/12 64/1070/10 70/11

decedent [8]201/12 202/4
202/20 204/13 205/17 206/8
221/9 221711 22415
decedent's [1] 224/5
december [2] 76/19 76/21
decision {2] 60/1 184/10
defining {1] 200/10
definitely [2] 219/4 222/14
degree [6] 15/19 20/4 97/8
221/1236/9 236/21
degrees [1]121/8

delta [2] 218/10 218/11
demeanor {31 89/18 116/8
176123

department {6] 1/6 71/17
78/7 107/8 200/13 221/22
dependmng [3] 201/5 232/4
234/13

depends [3]217/18 217/18
232/7

depict [1] 206/14

depicted [3] 16/4 168/8
169/11

depicting [1]206/9
depicts [2] 168/2 204/21
depressant [1]217/6

determined {1] 84/5
determining {17 215/15
detox {2] 79/11 80/1

devell {6] 18/9 139/20 140/4
160/10 160/11 160/13
develop [1]217/21

devices [1]203/6

devin [70] 5/77/5 8/3 9/12
T79/17 79122 79/22 79/23

160/21 182/9 183/16 194/12
194/21 200/21

direction [9] 33/24 34/3
39/24 40/13 41/12 43/11
43/14 44/1 62/2
directionality {1]1211/4
directions {2] 13/21 72/22
directive [1]235/10

directly [4] 35/23 58/8 139/6

79124 779/25 80/6 81/20 82/17139/6

101/11 102/14 104/8 104/18
104/19 138/14 138/16 139/7
142/20 143/14 143/18 144/6
144/20 144/25 145/5 14717
147/23 148/1 148/17 148/23

dirty [1]77/8

disabihties [2] 116/23
11625

disability {17 110/8
disabling {3] 224/18 225/1

149/10 150/24 152/16 152/21225/2

153/1 153/4 153/5 153/7

discovered [4] 14/7 28/23

154/12 154/13 154/18 154/2229/25 46/22

155/1 155/6 156/5 157/7

disease [1]201/14

157/12 157/17 157/24 158/18dispatch [1] 26/6

159/8 160/14 160/17 177/4
1776 Y777 Y1/ 177121
177/23 177/23 178/7 179/5
179/18 179/20 180/5 181/14

dissection [2] 201/11 201/23
distance [5] 60/25 61/12
209/2 205/3 213/1
distinction {2] 206/2 215/20

181722 182/11 182/16 182/20 distinguish [S) 192/17

183/19 185/2 185/6 185/9

denrvatives [2] 218/5 218/10 185/12 185/19 185/25 186/7

derive [1] 218/13
describe [13] 65/11 113/23
138722 170/1 198/3 201/2

devin's {11] 79/17 79/22
79/25 80/6 102/14 104/18
139/7 143/18 182/20 185/2

70/18 82/7 87/4 105/14 109/3203/12 203/17 211/15 212/13186/7

109/4 109/18 110/2 110/10
111/5 134718 137/5 137/8
137/13 13872 160/23 161/3
161714 162/2 181/11 183/15
200/24 219/2 219/11 219/12
216/15 219/16

days [6] 101/5 136/2]
136/25137/2 219/18 23272
dead [1] 63/18

deadbolt [4] 84/12 84/17
193/13 193721

deadbolted [3] 85/6 189/20
193/3

deal [2} 10/14 101/22
dealership [1] 134/16
death [22] 3/36 197/25
199/25 200/2 200/4 208/10

213/17216/11 216/13

diagram [1] 207/25

described [6] 141/16 205/15 diagrams [2] 200/9 200/15
210/10211/13 222/6 22524 dial [2] 128/18 128/19
describing [2] 176/17 188/9 diameter {2] 209/7 211/19

description [6] 210/11

died [1] 154/23

221/13 221/18 222/15 223/12 drfference [4] 116/7 164/5

236/12

descriptive {1} 176/22
designated {11 208/24
desk [3] 8/14 192/9 192/20
despite [2] 67/23 99/5

198/20213/3

differences [1] 216/8
different [12] 5/12 6/22
38/25 72122 116/16 116720
116/21 154/4 173/10 222/5

destroyed [2] 148/24 154/14 222/5 223/11

destroys {1] 101/17
details {1} 59/8

detected {3] 216/20 216/22
228/16

detective {18} 14/16 14/25

217/21 217123 218/17 219/2423/18 24/17 32/18 43/12
22019 220/12 220/14 220/20 44/14 46/4 46/11 56/10 S&/1211/11 13/16 18/4 34/20 44/4
62/15 63/23 95/8 95/12 96/1050/4 103/3 104/23 135/8

220121 22142 224/3 224/5
225/13 225/14 226/5 22916
decease [1] 143/24
deceased [7] 201/5 208/14
226/7 22724 228/9 228,24
232/16

129/20 130/3

detectives [3] 51/4 128/4
227/8

determination {1} 199/25
determine [9] 197/24 200/1
201/6 201725 204/3 204/8
206/20210/25213/6

differentiate {13 224/6
difficult [1] 54/18
difficulties [2] 128/17
165/18

digested {1} 219/9

direct [22] 3/4 4/24 6/12 9/6

151/4 151/23 153/20 158/11
181/25 188/6 197/5 204/15
21573

direching [20] 14/15 147/9
147/20 148/3 148/13 149/9

203/18 205/19 205/20 208/18
distinguished [1] 203/10
district [9] 1/6 1713 1/29
1/30 52/9 54/14 59/24 95/4
184/13

dna {1]201/20

docket {1] 1/15

doctor [9] 196/20 204/12
204/13 220/23 223/1 233/4
237/5237/8 23813
document [7] 64/9 200/7
200/16 208/9 227/15 233/10
233/13

documentation [1] 202/6
documented {1} 202/8
documenting [1]201/13
documents [1] 200/19

dog [1]36/20

doing [25] 8/14 22/14 33/12
43/3 78/13 §9/12 102/16
106/10 121/15 145/23 160/7
162/16 162/17 166/4 166/6
176/7 200/3 209/24 210/4
212/16 212/21 212/25 214/5
214/7225/8

done [6] 70/8 109/23 181/13
217/12222/8 231/4

door {1557 10/15 10/16
10722 14/7 14/21 15/4 23/18
23/22 24/8 28/21 28722 28/23
29/23 29/25 30/3 32/10 32/16

150/19 151/21 152/16 153/1836/25 37/4 37/8 37/14 44/4

154/12 155/19 157/5 159/24

44/7 44113 44119 44/21 44122




4512 45/3 45/4 45/14 45/19
45/22 46/12 46/13 46/16

dr [21]3/21 3/37 4/6 4/11
133/19 134/22 187/8 187/18

46/23 477/7 47/16 48/13 49/21196/15 197/2 197/5 205/10
49/22 50/10 51/25 53/4 55/16222/24 225/19 226/16 229/18 easy {1] 60/12
55/23 57/10 60/2 83/7 §3/8  229/20 233/9 233/11233/13 edge {6] 20/25 36/12 36/23

83/13 83/17 83/21 84/6 84/8
84/14 85/3 85/8 85/9 85/1G
85/12 85/12 85/14 87/22
87/24 88/7 89/3 92/23 92/25
94/17 94/21 97/7 98/1 98/4

233721

dramatic [1] 56/5

drank [1] 152/22

drastic {1] 56/5
drauschke {4] 1/34 68/14

110/17 11020 112/10 112/11132/24 226/21

112/13 114/2 114/8 12217

draw[1] 182/22

122/11 122/12 122/19 123/23drawer [2] 142/7 192/9
123723 124/11 124/13 124/19drawn (2] 22/19 61/25
124/20 124/24 124125 127/10drew {11 69/6

127/14 127/14 138/25 139/1
140/4 140/9 140/9 140/11
141/1 141/2 141/3 141/5
141/6 14177 141/19 141/25
14212 142/4 142/8 142/11
142/14 142/18 142/20 143/9
143/10 143/11 152/5 154/15
163/19 165/2 165/3 165/5
165/8 165/15 16522 168/2
168/3 188/21 189/1 189/5
185/20 190/7 190/11 190/12
190/14 191/8 191/24 191725
192/1 192/3 19243 192/6
193/2 193/12 193/14 193/20
196/3 235/9 235/9 235/18
236/4

door's [1] 92/23

drinking [1] 120/19
drinks [4] 57/19 65/12 76/3
101/17

drive [1] 121/12

drop [11173/21

dropped [8] 106/14 106/16
161/20 162/3 162/11 162/13
172/25 173723

drove [6] 64/14 121/3 121/6
121/13 180/14 181/13

drug {4] 79/10 215/15 231/1
231/10

drugs [13] 66/13 78/20
116/5 117/6 214/18 214/22
216/20 220/5 229/14 230/10
231/3231/4233/1%

doorknob [2] 123/24 123/24 drunk [7) 5/17 5/23 6/6 6/7

doors [17] 10/18 10/18 45/4
49/11 84/20 84/24 85/2 85/S

6/19 101/13 101/14
dud {17 84/11

east {7] 103/17 135/24
135/25 136/6 137/7 158/23
160/22

167/13 167/14 209/9
education [3] 204/4 220724
221/15

educational [1] 198/3
effect [2] 178/14 231/3
effects [4] 229/14 229/24
231/17 231720

effort [2] 22/2 56/11
egress [1] 143/6

eight [2] 109/23 136/1
erther [12] 37/13 67/24
85/10 91/7 101/4 125/11

209/12 209/18 211/20 212/10
221117

entrances [1] 139/24
entry {69] 147/11 147/15
147/21 147/21 148/5 148/5
148/13 148/18 148/22 148/25
14979 150/20 150/22 151/4
151/6 151/7 151/12 151/23
151/24 151/25 152/9 152/19
152/25 153/4 153/5 153/7
153/11 153/15 153/21 154/8
154/13 154/20 154/22 155/5
155/9 155/10 155/20 156/1
156/6 156/8 15776 157/11
157/16 158/13 158/16 159/24
160/5 165/16 180/17 180723
182/3 182/5182/10 182/22

134/15 139/21 168/24 181/22182/23 182/24 182/25 183/2
dns {3] 125/16 126/2 139/20 200/13 232/11

eyected (1]222/20

elapsed (1] 92/24
electronic {1} 239/6
eleventh [1]212/24

else [S] 42/19 86/11 100/22
102/19 143/15

emergency [5] 85/3 85/16
225717 232/11 232/20
employed [2] 135/21 239/13
employee (1] 70/14
employees [2] 8/14 82/15

183/17 184/25 184/25 185/5
185/13 185/16 185/22 194/13
194/21 194/25 195/1
equipment [1] 180/8

erik {8] 1/34 3/37 68/13
132/24 226/20 233/9 233/11
233/13

escort [1] 95/17

escorted {1] 98/11
especially [1] 201/15
essentially [1] 54/14
establishment [4] 127/12

encountered [2} 164/3 179/4 127/16 127/17 127/18

end [21] 25/11 25/19 25/19
29/16 33/20 34/24 43/10

estimate [1] 93/8
et {1} 200/10

47/20 47/23 50/1 51/14 56/19ethano) [2] 215/16 215/21

56/19 58/19 70/12 70/18

96/25115/13 122/14 122/17 dude [3] 23/23 153/8 156/15 74/18 76/16 76124 T7/16

122/18 122/20G 127/4 140/1
142722

doorway [1] 167/14
doorways [1] 140/8
dorchester [1] 1/38

double [1] 122/19

down [39] 18/22 31/20 32/7
32/8 34/8 36/13 41/1 4173
5417 61/6 62/4 73/1 73/4
87/22 89/16 89/16 50/15
102/25 133/12 133/14 139/7
143/2 172/17 17713 17774
177/6 177/21 177/22 177/23
178/7 187/15 188/11 189/1
190/10 197/1 209/4 230/2
231/12 237/10

downhill [1] 102/14
downloads (2] 133/21 145/3
downstairs [3] 177/17
177/20 202/10

downward (3] 211/2 213/7
236/16

195/18

duration [1] 147/18
durmg [24] 6/5 7/12 10/7
11/5 11/22 45/5 46/23 52/22
57/23 65/19 75/4 79/15 81/3
86/16 106/19 113/18 137/13
158/3 203/12 203/13 204/5
208/2 220/7 233/17

duties [2] 181/8 214/16
duty [1] 200/22

E

each [14] 56/2 56/3 56/3
5674 59/6 59/6 63/12 63/20
156/18 205/20 206/21 216/5
216/10228/3

earlier [5) 45/3 55/17 72/11
9775 220/23

early [2] 96/1 134/16
easter {1] 15320

139/8

ended {3] 155/16 195/9
235/24

endotracheal [1]203/7
enforcement {1 49/3
enghsh (2] 8/25 95/22
enough [5177/15 107/3
193/5 204/1 236/12
ensure {1] 54/13

enter {2] 82/18 140/7

evaluate [1] 203/3

even [19] 22/25 43/19 43/22
43/24 46/19 59/8 S9/9 62/5
64/12 7416 7417 76/14 93/5
125/4 192/24 203/21 204/2
22420 235/23

evening [10] 5/7 5/13 7/4
87/16 104/24 107/7 146/3
147/6 150/4 160/18

event [2] 82/22 175/17
events 8] 10/23 24/14 26/23
27/9 56/4 56/5 57/9 60/14

entered [10] 18/10 53/3 53/4 eventually [2] 74/23 82/21

53/11 55/6 168/3 210/11
210/17 212/6 213/1
entermg [1] 235/23
enters [1] 55/1

entire [1} 197/19

entirely 1] 236/4

entitled {1]235/5
entrance [19] 10/18 97/6
138/24 138/24 14073 16313

ever [23] 44/3 44/7 45/12
46/11 65/9 75/4 75/7 75/9
75/11 75/11 76/9 76/11 76/14
7719 101/11 108/22 113/25
116/4 130/16 131/17 166/22
176/10 176/10

every [8] 6/4 27/6 T0/13 78/5
78/5 105/8 105/16 109/20
everybody [8] 4/2 31/15

188/22 203/15 203/18 203/2048/2 54/20 70/14 108/14

204/6 204/22 205/15 208/18




109/2 109/17 111/6 130/18
238/19

everybody's {31 4/2 31/15
70/14
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93/7 127/3 136/22 158/2

exiting {1 212/23
exits (2] 54/7 139724
expect [2] 69/14 222/16

143/13 144/8 144/15 147/6
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233/19

fentanyls {1] 217/22

few [16] 11/17 12/12 20/16
5316 5512 60/18 68/14 77/2
119/10 122/5 131/16 144/5
194/9 195/22 224/22 232/23
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113/22 116/3 116/23 118/4
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mterviewed {9] 15/5 52/19
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113/2 128/4 keep [11] 18/21 39/8 63/22
mterviews {2] 55/23 63/23  70/4 73/4 142/7 152/11
wntoxicated [17217/24 178/12 184/6 192/17 225/11
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mvest {11 25/17 99/7 101/6 140/13 162/18
involved [7] 150/5 199/21  166/16 192/8 193/13 193/14
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158/22 160/14

known {7] 44/10 75/4 75/7
75/9 75/11 116/4 146/14
knnckles [1]213/22
koufman [5172/4 2/6 3/9
3/14 3/26 13/8 55/7 69/7

7914 79/6 79/8 759/20 80/10

193/12 193/12 193/20 193/211ab [1] 220/8

labeled [1] 205/22
Iabeling [2] 205/20 205/25
jabs {1]208/14

lacerated [1]212/19

lady [3]142/11 61/23 100/7

191/11 191/12 191/17 191/171ahey {3] 221/21 233/4
191/24 192/8 192/10 192/14 233/14
192/16 192/18 192/18 192/20anded {4} 172/11 172/14

172/17 172124

killed [7] 43/20 43/21 115/211andscape [2] 78/18 78/24
115/23 115/23 131/12 131/121andscaping {3] 74/12 74/13

74/15

language (41 10/1 12/10
12/11 16/25

lapse [1] 193/4

last [19] 5/2 5/5 14/6 17/18
29/3 34716 38/20 38/23 42/3
53/12 57/11 93/3 93/9 102/14

67/9 76/3 84/21 120/1 120/19103/6 103/7 106/24 135/12

197/10

late [6] 33/15 34/6 40/10
42/13 43/4 134/17

later [10] 11/4 11/4 17/10

141/10 141/12 141/15 148/2423/15 23/22 271/17 78/11 84/4

133/6 176/4

laughing {13 12/6

law [4] 1/35 2/4 2/5 49/3
layout [2] 138/23 145/12
lead [1] 140/12

feads [1] 141/12

leaf [4] 117/16 117/17
117/18 117/21

learned [4] 10/7 74/23
160/14 235/8

least [4] 145/12 169/14
206/1 235/18

leave [15] &/2 8/4 23/11

8077 80/8 81/24 116/3 144/2049/14 70/3 7773 "79/9 82/18

175/19 176/5 178/4 178/9
178/10 184/22 208/16
leaves [2} 30/5 164/16
leaving [9] 31/12 107/4
127/17 127/18 164/23 178/}
179/18 180/16 181/14

T3/18 73119 73/21 73/22 74/7%ed [1} 59/10

left [60}21/9 21/17 22/3

223/20 223/23 227/3 22715
227123

involving [3] 124/19 199/22
201721

irregular {3] 203/24 206/16
210/9

wsiand {27 198/9 198/9

issue [2] 77/3 200/4

issued [S] 208/10 215/4
216/18 220/9 220/12

key [44] 64/15 71/7 71/7 80/12 80/14 B2/6 87/14 88/2422/11 26/21 26/21 27/1 32/10
83/24 84/1 84/11 84/13 85/7 90/7 90/14 90/16 90/18 90/2132/16 35/7 82/23 82/24 96/3
140/14 140/16 140/17 140/2491/1 91/3 91/4 93/11 126/11 97/6 102/2 106/15 107/11
140/25 141/25 142/4 142/6  126/12 126/14 126/18 127/20107/18 112/9 127/10 139/1
142/8 142/11 142/14 142/17 229/13 229/16 225/19 225/20139/2 139/5 140/4 157/17
142/20 188/20 189/4 189/5 234/3 234/4234/7234/19  177/25 179/24 179/24 179/25
189/9 189/13 1859/17 189/18 234722 235/14 235/16 235/21179/25 184/22 188/% 188/18
189/21 189721 189/23 189/25236/3 237/3 203/15 203/16 204/22 205/3
190/1 190/6 190/14 191/14 205/13 208725 209/6 209/23

L 209/25 210/1 210/1 210/8




211/5211/14211/17 211/18 lock [12] 15/3 23/18 70/13
212/1212/6 212/7 212/15  70/19 84/21 84/24 98/1

lying {4] 52/4 52/5 52/5
89/14

212/19 212/20 212/21 213/10123/25 124/10 140/14 140/241ynch [208] 1/29 3/7 3/13

213/11 213/21 214/14

leg [11] 11/23 89/4 89/5
94/17 94/21 101/10 101/10
111/23 111424 175/10 196/5

171/18

70/7 70/8 T1/4 84/3 84/10

legal [2]1216/11 216/13

Jetter [1] 233/10 124/6 124/21 140/12 140/13
fevel {31217/15 217/19 140/14 165/10 193/13
234/13 focking [1] 71/1

3/19 3/22 3/24 414 4/6 4/9

locked [25] 44/21 44/22 45/4 4/11 4/14 4/16 4/19 4/25
45/4 45(14 45/22 46/14 70/4 13/10 13/15 15/23 16/1 16/3 58/16 59/16 60/9 63/16 67/8

22/1126/15 26/24 29/15

34/17 35/3 35/20 35/25 38/16

39/25 42125 4513 4613 46/13
47/20 48/14 45/10 49/17
49/19 56/4 56/10 57/9 57/18

16/6 16/8 16/10 16/13 16/16 68/5 94/23 96/6 96/18 97/3

84/20 85/4 98/4 123/23 124/316/19 18/2 18/3 18/8 1972

19/15 19/21 20/16 20/19

9717 98/25 99/8
mad [9] 12/22 65/25 67/11

21/23 21125 24125 25/13 26/367/19 T7/16 86/22 89/20

26/% 27/22 29/8 29/9 25/19

89/20 89/21

liability [2) 69/18 69/20
license [2] 77/6 199/9
Jicensed {11 199/9
licenses {1] 199/7

lie [1] 103/24

long [23] 13/2 13/2 57/19
65/6 69/2 103/10 103/19
104/4 119/9 120/21 135/25
136/9 144/2 144/6 17913
197/14 198/9 198/9 224/20

29721 30/9 30/12 30/19 30/25man [13] 24/8 68/15 97/6
31/2 31/5 31711 34/23 35/16 103/9 103/17 137/24 138/21
37/17 37/19 38/3 38/9 38/11 138/24 138/24 140/3 140/3
38/12 39/2 39/4 39/7 39/13  140/9 165/3

39/15 39/17 39/19 39/22 41/4major [2] 134/15 213/23

life [51 72/14 225/4 230/20 226/4226/6 230/9 230/25  41/6 41/8 41/10 41/11 41/15 male [1] 202/15
231/23 231/24 longer [3] 125/23 215/24  41/18 46/7 46/10 54/9 S4/19 wman (4] 26/17 36/15 51/16
hifes [2] 230/12 230/14 219113 54/22 55/2 55/9 61/19 64/17 186/22

liked [1] 71/25
likely [1] 236/10

Jook [29] 14/2 17/23 17/25  64/21 66/8 66/10 79/19 80/8 manager [S] 7/11 136/8
24/3 58/21 78/8 97/8 99/24  82/2 82/4 87/6 87/8 87/10  136/9 136/13 136/18
bimit [2] 216/12 216/13 100/12 100/21 147/10 147/1187/12 88/19 90/2 95/4 102/19manner [3] 197/25 199/25

line [11] 9/9 11/12 22/16 151/22 163/3 164/13 174/16 102/21 103/1 103/4 112/23
23/17 32/14 61/20 62/13 73/1180/17 184/24 185/15 187/18113/11 117/24 122/3 122/4

183/25 184/17 193/10 189/9 189/18 203/21 203/24
linear [2] 213/20 222/7 203/24 219/6 222/15 227/13
hgmd [1] 213/15 233/1

list [11200/9 looked [8) 22/25 59/6 92/7
listen [8] 48/1 56/20 57/2  96/23 97/1 141/2 189/25
59/2 59/4 171/12 173/24 213120

175/16 looking [21] 15/18 22/8
listened [2] 51/16 51/19 22/10 24/1 56/2 66/15 72/10
listening [1] 171/10 7222 9617 9712 97/4 107/13
little (277 5/12 6/22 10/19  107/16 129/21 151/12 155/6
12/6 14/23 33/15 43/5 50121
54/17 54/17 72/19 116/17 226/
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163/16 170/16 170/11 215/25)oss [1] 157/24

219/13 224/25 225/10 fost {31 20/13 26/15 158/1
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fived {51 103/10 137/23
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lives [1] 125/19
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139/3 139/9 139/12 139/13
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lobe [2] 209/25 209/25
lobes {2} 210/1 212/21
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167/17 206/21209/5 210/7 tuckily [1] 96/7

211/15 211/16 213/14 215/141unch [1] 187/6

location [8] 103/16 139/23 lung [5] 210/1 210/1 210/1
205/2 205/13 205/15 208/24 212/22225/12
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love [1] 76/17
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209/25211/16 212/21 219/6
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133/24 134/1 134/4 134/6
134/8 134/10 134/20 134/22
134/25 135/3 135/5 135/9

200/2

many [6] 17/24 77/7 159/18
199/21 223125 227/6
mapping [1] 133/22

march [5] 52/14 55/3 59/14
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margins [2] 206/4 206/16
maryuana [6} 218/5218/14

145/15 145/20 145/24 145/25218/18 219/3 219/9 228/18

163/6 163/14 163/16 163/18
163/24 164/7 164/12 167/22
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168/20 205/6 205/8 206/11

167/23 168/19 168121 170/14207/5 207/8 220/21 233/9
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174/7 174/9 174/11 174/12

marketed {1] 230/18
markings [2] 203/9 222/17

184/20 187/18 187/21 187/23mass [2] 103/9 103/17

187/25 188/2 188/7 191/23
196/16 197/6 204/16 204/19
205/6 205/9 206/12 207/4
20°7/9 219/8 219/21 220/17

12/21 12/21 35/6 60/13 65/16220/20 220/22 221/25 222/1

222/22 223/6 225/15 225/17

130/19 130/19 152/22 214/24225/20 226/14 232/25 233/2

233/4 233/6 233/8 233/10
233/13 233/17 234/1 234/2
235/11 236/23 237/1 237/6
237/7237/11237/13 237/15
237/18 237/20 238/7 238/11
238/13 238/15238/17
fynch's {17 215/8

M

ma [3] 1/32 1/38 2/8 5/19
6/25 7/10 8/5 8/17 9/5 1124
14/11 16/17 16/21 17/10
17/19 19/24 21/20 22/2 22/7

massachusetts [5] 1/5 1/41
197/23 198/14 199/10
materials [2] 220/25 221/20
math [3] 179/14 179/15
179/16

matter [3] 58/23 237/22
239/5

matters [1] 69/5

maybe [28} 9/12 11/3 11/3
11/4 11/4 13/3 13/23 16/11
18/530/16 31/3 66/21 83/3
93/4 93/5 93/6 120/12 125/25
134/12 144/9 171/15 179/6
182/25 195/21 204/17 21972
226/10 23217

mcdonald [27] 101/11 104/8
104/8 138/14 138/16 143/14
144/20 145/5 145/21 146/}
146/2 147/11 147/18 148/17
149/10 150/19 152/16 153/12
154/12 156/3 156/8 157/6




157/7158/18 181/14 182/9
182/11 182/23 183/16 185/6

medonald's {3] 157/6 181/14mentioned [9} 10/12 15/18

182/11

mean [45] 12/12 24/23 25/3
25/4 25/5 26/21 3506 35/7
48/2 49/10 49/19 51/4 57/19
59/25 60/13 61/16 67/20
67/22 69/11 77/13 77/14

78/25 82/10 84/24 85/1 B6/18met {9] 10/15 52/14 73/25

91/9 93/2 95/22 98/1 116/11

119/22 120/20 123/24 127/13188/11

128/2 128/17 131/2 201/17

203/22207/21 216/10 224/20metabolism [1] 230/15

232/7236/6

meaning {3} 60/4 165/10
223/7

means [5] 25/7 26/19 143/6
215/10217/24

meant [S] 39/3 77/18 88/14
95/24 9717

measure [ 1] 209/1
measurement [1]202/7
measurements [3] 206/20
207/1 208/23

measures [1]225/4
mechanic [1] 136/16

mechanles [2] 109/14 126/25middlesex [3] 1/13 1/30

mechanism (1] 140/15
med [1] 198/7

medical {35] 3/35 133/19
137/5 138/5 147/7 197/13

197/14 197116 197/17 197/22might [13] 4/9 16/9 21/23
197/23 198/2 198/11 198/13 26/5 48/23 66/8 73/13 76/11 135/11 155/25 161/17 196/2

198/16 199/9 199/14 200/22
202/21202/23 202/24 203/5
203/8 207/5 207/8 208/7
208/13214/16 215/3 221/2
225/22 233/20 236/9 236/21
237/1

medication [1]230/6
medications (2] 216/20
233/19

medicine [4] 198/5 198/6
198/9 195/8

meeting [3] 52/17 52/22
238/9

melissa [1] 2/5

melrose [2] 103/9 103/10
members [1]204/13
memory [19] 10/23 56/12
103/24 105/1 107/17 110/4
110/5 111/17 112/21 112/24
123/9 140/23 159/21 165/18
176/1 178/16 193/3 193/19
194/19

mental [2] 110/6 112/23

mention {8] 5/21 6/8 25/9
25/16 56/9 66/19 83/6 231/7

59/11 63/9 83/3 93/3 93/4
93/5 120/12 155/13 155/15
155/16 179/6 181/16 195/5
195/7 195/8 195/22 226/10
232/23

minutes' (1] 45/5

mis [5] 16/25 16/25 16/25
17/19 61/18

misconduct [1] 5/7

miss {1] 89/22

7479 75/1 83/8 150/11 161/23 mission [1] 54/11
masspoken [3] 16/21 23/8
61/18

mistake [1] 94/3

24/22 25/20 26/10 78/20
139/9 231/7231/13

mess {13 77/22

message [2] 156/22 158/22
messaged [1} 185/12
messages {1] 138/10

metaboli (1} 231/12

metabohte {1] 231/11 mistakenly {1] 187/19
metabohze [6] 218/18 mistakes [1] 77/23
218/25 219/1 228/22 230/10 musunderstand [1] 73/14

230/25

metabohzes [1] 220/3
metabohizing [1]219/4
method [1] 206/1

miami {1] 198/11

michael [10] 3/12 80/16
80/18 103/1 103/2 103/3
103/7 126/17 127/22 132/21
mid {1]213/19

middle [1] 172/16

misunderstood {1] 73/9
mor [2] 76/23 151/14
152111

mom's [1] 151/14
moment [11] 14/2 21/23

momentum [1]224/21
monday {6] 101/4 101/4
101/6 137/3 155/25 200/21
month [2] 74/18 161/9
months [5] 102/15 125/21
143/22 144/5 15725
morgue {11201/9
morning {11} 5/1 60/12
68/11 68/12 103/5 134/12

52/11

midhne {9] 209/4 209/7
210/8 211/6 211/7 211/18
212/1212/6 21217

110/23 111/16 111/16 112/19238/7

169/23 171/5 173/16 174/7 wmost [1] 203/5

187/18 22125 mother [4} 151/17 151/19
mght've [5] 110/23 111/16 152/3 154/9 155/13 155/21
111/16 112/19 165/23 184/4 184/8

mike [5]) 81/9 106/9 110/14 mother's [4] 151/17 152/3
121/15 121417 155/21 184/8

millititer {4] 217/15 217/17 motor [1] 216/15

218/11 218/12 mouth {2] 92/8 105/5
millditers {13 213/15 move {3]79/6 79/10 84/17

must've [5} 62/3 62/3 62/7
62/7 169/9

mutual {3] 56/2 58/6 59/16
myself [6] 52/23 55/18 78/21
97/21 126/23 17211

N

name [18] 5/2 5/2 68/13
73/22 74/7 95/19 103/5 103/6
103/7 104/16 121/11 132/23
135/12 135/12 147/5 197/9
197/10 217/8 226/20 229/20
name's {2] 68/13 132/23
named [1] 146/7
nanograms {4] 217/15
217/17218/11 21812
nataral [1] 201/14

nature {1] 12/16

near {5} 31/24 34/8 62/16
114/2 129/21

nearest [1] 188/21

29/8 41/10 66/8 84/19 145/24necessarily [3] 70/16 84/13
166/12 171/5 199/13 221/25 218/2

necessary {2} 160/20 180/8
neck [2] 205/4 205/17

need [16] 4/18 27/23 48/9
75/20 78/17 130/16 134/16
140/17 156/16 156/17 166/8
180/5 184/5 184/14 196/12
206/25

needed {1]232/7

needle [2] 203/6 225/10
needs [1] 204/16

nerther {3} 58/15 85/9
239/12

nervous [3] 118/24 118/25
2176

neutral {1] 54/14

nev {1]69/16

never [41]22/8 25/15 26/24
2711 28/24 41/21 42/21 42/22
44/8 44/8 44/25 45/2 46/15
46/15 46/15 46/15 47/16

mitlimeter [3] 209/10 211/20moved [6] 28/24 76/19 79/1647/23 48/13 48/14 49/25 50/1

218/12

mind [5] 65/23 66/11 66/16
72123 87/7

minding [2} 154/19 157/12
minimal {1} 226/11 much [11] 59/8 65/4 85/23
mmute (3] 4/9 37/11 54/3  92/24 131/3 137/21 214/24
107/12 134/12 151/13 151/19225/1 234/12 237/8 238/3
180/21 195/22 multiple [3] 138/13 171/1
minutely [1]49/18 194/6

minutes {34] 10/24 11/6 multiplicity [1] 188/8
11/17 23/14 23/21 26/12 277/1music {2] 102/17 175/16

7925 102/7 172/14
movement {1] 223/15
moving [4] 223/2 223/4
223/7 224/19

56/9 63/18 69/16 69/16 69/17
73/25 74/3 74/6 75/6 15/10
76/10 76/13 94/6 94/6 94/7
94/13 140/12 191/16 192/5
nevertheless [1] 159/8

new [2] 52/22 52/24

nice {2] 95/20 203/25

night [42] 6/17 6/21 6/24
7/16 8/21 10/12 15/5 32/9
34/5 42/3 48/12 49/24 50/4
50/17 51/24 52/1 57/24 58/12

27/6 27/17 45/5 50/22 53/6  must [4] 15/3 33/2 62/3 62/3 58/14 60/7 60/12 61/10 63/24

53/10 55/5 55/12 576 57/15 62/7 62/7 96/15 58/1 169/9

66/2 76/8 101/4 101/4 101/5




102/17 105/12 105/13 106/2487/13 88/19 88/21 88/23 50/255/22 60/14 60/16 60/24 61/6228/4 231/20 233/14 234/5

108/13 108/19 109/3 109/7
109/13 109/23 155/24 162/9
176/1 176/6

nightstand [1] 167/13

nine [8] 71/8 81/10 105/13
105/15 105/16 153/25 154/2
161/8

mnth [6]210/3 210/3 210/5
210/5 210/22 210/23

nipple [2] 205/3 205/13

90/4 90/10 236/25
objection's (4] 80/9 82/5
90/10 236/25

objects [2] 201/25 202/4
observation [1]222/2
ohservations [8] 67/2 67/9
89/18 119/20 196/1 203/13
208/23 221/16

observe [4] 36/4 110/16
209/21 218/7

nobody {61 9/24 50/15 50/18 observed [4] 65/20 73/5

51/9 124/17 171/12 173/24
186/1

nobody's [2] 171/12 173/24
none [5] 77/8 78/24 93/24
125/9 130/13

nonstop {1} 160/7
noontume [1] 52/14
normal [2] 6/13 216/13
notations [2] 207/25 208/2
note {6]202/12 202/21
211/23 212/9 213/25 218/4
noted {2 203/9 227/16
nothing [13) 57/19 74/8
75/13 77/20 78125 87/4

102/21 123719 124/17 126/11161/20 162/3 162/11 162/13 125/3 125/5 125/7 188/10

165/21 213/22 213/22
notice [5] 62/7 80/6 105/24
123/22 213113

noticed {1]61/22

notified [4] 45/6 46/16 47/7
58/5

notify [1179/3

noting {1] 213/12

nowhere [2] 39/25 157/8
number [11] 128/18 139/23

151/13 151/15 151/17 152/3 26/2527/2 27/12 28/18 31/12171/7 174/22 175/17 186/19
155/22 156/24 158/17 182/1333/12 34/17 36/1 36/7 42/23 one (9914/7 4/9 8/14 10/5

22812

pumbering {1] 205/25
pumbers [3] 128/21 219/6
236/11

numerous [1]228/10

nut [1] 153/5

O

o'clock {16]4/11 71/8 78/18
81/10 104/25 105/19 108/22
108/24 109/22 109/23 134/2
161722 179/13 187/5 187/9
237/17

object [2] 235/11 236/23
objecting [2] 87/9 87/10
objection [11) 13/8 13/12
55/7 80/8 80/9 82/2 82/5

206/9213/18

obvious [2] 27/25 202/21
obviously [3]42/7 84/3
141/21

occasion {5] 29/2 100/23
191716 191/17 223/22
occupation {27 103/14
197/12

occupied [1] 12/4
oceurred [1] 175/17
october [1] 199/6

odd [1] 117/5

off [22] 8/6 49/10 94/24

61/24 62/3 62/25 63/6 68/13 234/8 234710 234/11 234/12
68/25 86/7 86/8 87/15 87/17 23573

87/21 87/25 88/3 88/5 88/9 ones [2] 24/20 192/22

88/15 88/17 91/1 91/13 91/18only [23] 19/25 20/9 35/6
95/15 95/16 96/2 98/7 98/10 41122 5076 50/14 53/16 57/12
98/13 98/14 98/18 98/19 99/157/13 62/18 97/12 101/10
99/13 99/1499/21 99/21  104/11 104/22 105/18 105/20
100/6 100/11 127/25 128/5  120/11 122/12 142/10 181/15
129/12 132/24 195/23 195/24191/24 205/23 238/8

221/10 223/20 223/23 226/200nset [11226/5

22713 227/5 22716 227/23  open [35] 23/22 28/22 28/23
officer's [1] 20/25 32/10 32/16 37/5 37/8 44/19
officers [66) 9/25 10/8 10/15 45/19 46/16 47/7 49/21 50/10
10/24 11/20 14/19 14/20  SO/15 51/9 70/9 70/15 71/1
15/16 18/23 18/24 1922 84/14 84/20 85/23 87/24 92/7
19/2520/13 21/21 22/10  92/15 92123 93/1 94/17
22/13 22/25 23/6 23/23 24/4 112/11 112/11 113/21 154/15
24/7 25/23 26/10 27/21 31/20165/5 189/21 193/12 193/20
31/22 31/25 32/6 35/21 38/200pened [19] 9/24 10/15

40/2 4074 42721 44/24 46/24 10/21 13/2 26/24 28/11 49/22
487 S1/155/24 61/11 6212 60/2 71/3 72/6 94/21 97/5
66/15 T1/14 7215 85/22 86/11112/9 112/13 165/3 165/15
86/13 87/17 92/10 95/4 95/10165/22 189/1 190/11

96/1 96/10 97/1 97/798/20 opemng [1] 203/1

106/14 106/17 129/21 157/20109/25 110/16 114/22 12424 opiate [1] 231/16

171/22 174/4 175/12 175/18
180/14 188/9 222/9 231/4
235/10 235/19 235/24

offer [9] 64/17 79/5 90/17

126/13 126/14 168/19 220/17 officials [1] 7817

229/12 233/6
offhand (2] 227/13 231/24

office [68] 1/30 7/16 7/19 8/7older [3] 137/19 137/20

8/11 10/9 14/9 19/10 23/2
23/1525/2225/24 26121

opiates [1]214/25

opinicn [8] 56/25 66/12 73/6
221/1221/15 224/2 22611
229/3

opinions [1] 207/20
opponent {1 54/15

oppor [1] 197/24
opportunity [3] 63/14 90/24
145/11

opposite [1] 141/7

order (6] 4/18 74/14 134/5
198/25 199/3 203/2
organizations [1] 199/11

190/2 192/22 192/23 227/8
228/10

officers' {2] 95/4 188/10
official [1] 239/5

o {1177/16
old [2] 139/6 143/1

137/21
once [7] 14/16 45/15 76/3

44/10 44/11 52/9 52/10 52/1110/8 11/20 21/23 24/16 24/18originaily {1] 46/22

5617 6315 65/20 69/8 12/13

24/19 24119 25/7 27717292 erxlando (2] 29/16 114/1

82/25 85/3 87/20 87/23 88/25259/5 32/8 37/20 38/20 38/23 ertiz {6] 4/6 29/16 37/24

89/1 92/4 93/3 93/17 $3/20
96/20 111/23 113/25 114/1
114/5 11421 114/22 122/21
123/7 123/10 123/12 123/13
124/25 125/4 140/11 145/8
150/15 189/7 196/1 196/3
197/17 167/22 198/11 215/4
23919

officer {91] 1/34 14/13 15/7
16/22 20/9 20/25 21/5 21/14
22/8 24718 33/15 34/5 37/20

37/20 37/20 37/21 37/21 38/6145/24 150/3 161/22 165/14
38/13 39/9 40/11 40/14 40/22167/20 171/5 173/18 184/1

41/1 41712 41/13 42/4 43/3
43/4 43/6 45/14 45/16 46/23
48/20 48/21 49/10 49/11

38/2339/3 4172 45/6 46/25  37/25 114/1 114/4

48/15 50/6 SO/14 55/25 56/21other {441 4/7 10/18 19/3
57/2 58/16 59/14 59/25 60/2 22/1 24/7 28/10 31/2 56/2
60/2 60/3 62/18 63/12 66/8  56/3 56/3 56/4 59/6 59/6
67/20 65/8 70/13 70/14 72/5 62/21 63/20 67/9 73/17 76/8
7719 78/7 83/9 84/1793/17  77/24 94/22 98/19 119/13
93/17 93/20 94/4 94/7 94/21 138/25 139/16 139/17 141/7
96/2 96/3 98/12 105/20 143/8 143/14 156/18 201/7
109/22 118/3 122/12 122/18 203/5205/21 211/19 213/17
124/12 125/14 127/4 132/16 213/18 216/1 216/6 217/19
138/25 141/6 141/23 143/9  218/23 219/3 21%/9 223/22
227/23 229/9 234/11
other's [1159/6

others {17 76/2

otherwise {17 239/15
ourselves [1] 76/1

186/21 186/24 187/5 200/25
203/5 207/5 210/6 214/20
215/22 216/1 221/25 224/15




outcome {1] 239/15
outer [11 165/5 138/4 161/14 202/3 202/11
outs 1} 112/5 214/6 21811

outside [77] 4/17 8/6 10/9  particularly {1] 70/11
10/11 10/20 10/22 10/22 11/1parties [1] 239/13

11725 12/24 14/20 15/14 19/4parts {1] 214/8

70/20 162/24 204/17 221/8
perrotti [53] 3/18 4/14 19/9

particular [9] 7/4 54/15 96/2 permission [6] 15/23 39/13 photographs [5] 200/11

200/12 200/15 204/11 204/15
physical [3] 78/25 78/25

19/18 28/15 29/1 29/10 25/22201/13

30/13 31/16 36/1 36/4 36/10
37/2 37/13 38/4 39/23 40/19

19/10 19/11 24/7 26/25 277/2 pasciucco [25] 1/35 1/36 3/8 41124 45/5 47/7 48/5 48/2]

28/11 30/21 31/15 31/15 32/53/16 3/25 13/12 68/7 68/8
32/6 36/18 43/20 43/25 46/2068/10 68/13 73/17 126/9

50/3 53/3 55/4 55/11 55/15
57/5 60/19 60/20 62/24 63/1

50/1 65/21 66/15 72/6 84/11 126/10 132/14 132/16 132/1863/5 63/14 97/11 97/21
84/13 85/25 86/2 87/23 88/1 132/22 132/23 226/15 226/1'7108/22 130/22 131/6 131/9

88/2 92/25 93/18 95/10 98/21226/20 229/% 237/23 238/1
98/22 98/24 99/5 106/2 238/4

131/11 134/1 135/2 135/7
135/8 135/14 135/15 187/8

111/13 111/14 111/15 111/22passed {4] 38/10 76/23 199/4188/2 188/6 196/17 237/13

112/4 114/4 114/4 115/5 209/22

115/6 115/7 122/5 122/21  passing {1] 219/6

126/23 127/11 140/12 140/24past [4] 31/8 125/20 157/25
140725 142/12 164/19 178/2 197/19

179/5 179/23 180/5 186/21  path [7] 209/17 209/21
187/18 188/22 190/12 191/8 210/17 210/25 212/9 212/13

192/4 200/14 213/7
over [29] 32/11 52/2 56/8  pathologist [2] 198/17
$6/2272/20 115/9 115/12  199/14

perry (1] 4/7

person [15] 18/10 37/21
59/25 77/10 105/18 150/15
161/19 172/5 187/1 215/10
218/19 219/5 222/16 224721
224/22 228/12 228/24 230/2
23173

person's [4] 215/10 218/19
224/21 228/24

115/14 155/22 155/23 155/24 pathology [10] 198/8 198/10 personal [2] 204/4 221/16
162/14 162/15 163/20 164/1 198/18 198/19 198/21 198/22personality [2] 75/25 76/4

184/3 184/6 189/5 190/1
195/23 219/2219/18 223/6
223/9 223/14 228/4 235/2
235/23 236/15

overall [2] 221/23 230/15
overdose (4] 217/24 218/2
219/4 219/7

overdoses [1]217/19
overruled [2] 13/13 55/8
oversight [1] 238/8

own {10] 68/15 68/18 68/20

198/23 198/24 199/1 199/5
patient [2} 77/15 233/22
pause [2] 29/8 187/24
pavement {1} 21/11

pay (2] 82/15 101/17

peace {4} 76/16 76/16 76/17
76/18

people [12] 35/23 36/5 36/7
36/7 76/1 76/2 94/8 106/20

per [4] 217/15 217/17

75157517 154/19 157/12 218/11218/12

175/13 200/11 200/13 percent {3] 110/4 110/23

owned [1] 69/2 114/25

owner [2] 10/10 71/22 percentage {1] 216/9

owners (1] 83/14 perfect [1]203/22
perfor [1] 209/5

P perforated [3]1212/14
212/17212/19

p's [11158/18 perforating (2] 209/20

pages [2] 1/2 145/17 211/14

paid [1} 153/1 perform [3] 78/2 78/22

pain [1] 231/18 200/24

pair {1] 170/23 performance [1]222/4

panel 2] 214/17 215/1 performed [2] 199/18 220/8

paper [3] 45/22 46/2 56/12 pericardial [2] 212/17

paperwork [1] 82/11 212/18

parked {47 33/20 34/8 43/9
127/13 , 63/13 7514 92/20 120/21
parkig (1] 8/1 162/5 182/17 195/5

part [8] 22/5 174/23 174/23 periodically [2] 27/6 86/3
204/24 214/16 215/5221/23 peripheral [1] 215/12
230/15

period [10] 11/19 32/6 45/5

personally [1]77/17
personnel [1}225/22
persons [1]1231/20
perspective [1]21/4

peter {4] 1/35 68/13 132/23
226/20

phone [68] 6/22 18/9 19/12
81/3 108/23 111/10 128/18
133/21 138/7 144/15 144/18

130/19 172/16 174/11 217/21144/20 144/23 144/23 145/5

145/7 145/22 146/1 146/2
147/18 147/18 148/4 148/7
148/8 148/10 148/15 148/18
151/3 151/9 151/13 151/14
152/3 152/10 152/21 153/12
153/12 153/18 154/9 154/18
155/12 155/21 156/3 156/22
156/24 157/6 157/17 158/12
158/14 158/17 159725 160/1

physically {2] 86/18 167/5
physicians [1] 233/14
physics [1]236/6

pick [1] 155/23

picked [1] 153/8

picture [7] 21/10 122/16
167/19 167/24 170/1 170/2
173/4

pictures {S} 152/6 152/6
154/10 167/25 167/25

pieces 2] 159/16 208/12
pmpomt [1] 93/6

pissed [1] 175/18

place [11] 7/16 25/23 26/14
42/9 56/6 72120 172/1 179/12
181/17 192/18 219/7

placed [2] 147/17 171725
plan [114/3

plans {17 102/5

plastic [2] 170/19 170/20
play [5] 16/1 16/11 26/6
39/17 171/10

playmg [27] 16/15 16/18
18/7 19/8 19/14 19/20 20/18
26/8 29/7 29/20 306/11 30/18
31/4 31/10 34/22 35/15 37/18
38/2 39/21 41/7 41/17 48/1
57/14 163/5 163/13 163/23
164/11

pleasure {2] 93/6 133/11
plus [2] 9/24 228/5

pocket [11221/14

pomnt [90] 10/20 19/9 26/22
32/3 34/2537/12 41/19 46/18
48/10 48/11 48/12 54/15
7117 75/1 7715 7915 79/9
81/24 83/5 83/10 83/24 84/1
84/5 85/17 86/11 86/16 87/20
88/25 89/3 89/25 90/15 91/5
91/6 92/18 92/24 95/1 96/25

161/19 180/17 180/20 180/2197/1 107/3 109/24 110/10

182/1 182/6 182/20 184/24
185/2 186/6 186/6 194/5
194/7 194/11 194/22 195/24
195724

phones {1} 145/3

photo [8] 3/32 3/33 3/34
168/1 168/20 170/16 205/8
206/11

111/13 111/22 114/15 114722
115/1 115/14 115/22 124/10
129/5 129/17 129/17 156/2
150/4 150/10 159/4 162/8
163/25 166/1 167/7 167/10
171/18 175/18 177/3 177/21
178/18 179/4 180/12 181/8
186/4 186/10 186/13 186/24

photograph (8] 168/2 168/8 187/11 188/10 188/15 188/18
168/19 2061/15 204/20 204/21188/25 189/4 190/3 192/24

204/25 206/7
photographers [1]200/13
photographing [1] 206/19

19373 194/3 199/20 204/12
205/10212/11 218/17 225/8
238/4




pointed [1] 168/23
pointing [2} 122/7 206/13
points [1] 6/4

pole [3] 26/11 26/17 27/13

positive [6] 76/5216/19

police [202] 6/3 6/5 6/17 7/1 216/23 216/25 217/1 217/15
8/12 8/15 8/16 8/21 8/22 9/11possess {1] 75/9

10/3 10/4 10/8 10/10 10/12
10/24 11/1 11/5 11/12 12/14
12/25 14/12 14/13 15/5 15/6
15/16 16/20 19/22 19/25
22113 22721 24/4 26/4 26/6
26/16 27/3 27/4 32/ 33/6
33/7 34/5 36/13 37/4 37/12

possibihities [1] 235/3
possibility {2} 145/19 236/8
possible [4] 219/17 219/17

224120 236/11

possibly [10] 4/14 4/19
66120 7316 T3/14 14477
17522 203/7 219/13 236/16

37/14 38/13 40/11 41713 42/3posterior [1] 210/5

42/21 4413 44/7 44/24 45/2

postmortem [2] 207/17

45/6 45/11 46/11 47/16 47/20228/23

48/12 48/12 48/17 48/19
49124 49/25 50/16 50/17
50/20 50/25 51/5 51/10 52/1
52/4 53/7 53/11 53/11 55/5
55/16 55/25 56/23 57/8 58/4
59/12 60/7 60/8 60/24 61/4
61/10 62/24 63/5 63/19 64/5
64/13 64/13 64/22 64123

pounds (2] 202/13 214/1
prachee {1 199/7
practiced [1] 197/16
precisely [2] 49/11 164/20
preference [1] 134/19
prelimmary {2] 201/3
203/14

premses {7] 70/3 71/19

65/11 65/15 66/15 66/17 67/176/20 106/20 142/25 179/18

67/23 71/9 71/14 72/3 72/1)
72/13 73/6 73/13 83/2 83/5

192/18
preparation [1] 198/2

83/7 83/10 83/16 84/18 87/15prepare {17 200/17

87/16 87/17 87/2} 88/3 88/5

prepared (1] 134/4

92/25 95/17 97/16 97/19 98/6preparmg {1] 150/10

98712 98/13 98/14 59/20
101/16 107/8 107/8 107/18
107/22 107/25 108/4 108/10
108/12 108/25 109/1 109/11

presence [1] 201/25
present [6] 10/10 11/25
86/14 193/19 215/15 233/2]
presenter {17 172/6

109/24 110/10 110/11 110/16presently {21 135/17 135/21

111/14 111/15 112/6 1132
114/9 114/15 114/22 116/23
116/24 117/3 117/5 117/10
117/11 117/12 117/13 118/1
123720 123721 124/24 125/1
125/3 125/5 12516 127/24
127/25 128/1 128/5 128/6
129/12 129/13 130/7 130/8
130/17 130/20 130/21 13372
152/5 158/23 160/15 162/9
175/23 175725 176/6 176/11
186/7 186/11 186/14 186/16
186/20 188/10 188/20 189/1
195/16 195/23 200/13 227/8
policemen {1} 168/15
policy [2] 70/4 70/18

pool 2] 61/7 62/5

pooled [1]214/13

portion [2] 168/5 215/3
portions [1]208/12

posed {1] 234/20

position 3] 130/20 208/24
211/24

preserve [1] 215/24
president [1] 69/1

pretty [71 110/3 110/3 112/1
149/4 159/3 167/16 214/24
prevent [2] 171/18 176/7
previous [1] 147/20
previously [2] 145/2 168/23
prior [18] 7/12 7/15 44125
50/8 80/5 95/7 99/1 101/7
136/16 144/8 145/11 145/15
158/22 218/17 2271/5 232/8
232/10232/10

probably [23] 8/25 17/10

posttioning [3]223/5 223/18 procedure {6] 137/5 138/5
236/15 o
positions [1]223/11

149/6 159/1 201/2 208/3
proceed [1] 174/7

process [2] 130/23 201/18
produced {1} 193/20
profanity [1] 12/20
professional [3] 198/13
199/7 199/11

program [2] 79/13 80/1
progress [1127/7
projectile [5] 204/1 209/2]
209/22 211/9 212/22
projectiles [3] 201/7 202/1
202/3

prenounced [1]225/21
proaunciation [2] 39/6
229/2

property {91 55/13 68/15

136/14 151/3 184/13 1953/25
196/11 208/22 222/22 226/21
22919 229/14 234/4 234/19
quick [3] 72/1 77/14 132/18
quickly [4] 92/10 218/18
225/1 234/15

quiet {11 6/21

R

radio [6] 26/4 26/16 26/16
166/25 168/7 171/10

raging {5] 5/22 &/4 6/19 6/20
6/23

raised [2] 14/17 118/14
ram's [1} 74/13

ran [5]37/1538/14 115/9
115/14 13115

68/18 69/2 69/18 80/23 82/20randall {18} 3/12 4/6 4/1%

91/12 93/16

proponent [1] 54/15
proposition 1] 54/15
proved [1] 28/9

provided {5} 52/22 192/5
207/6 227111 227/16
psychic [1] 9/23

pull [4] 8/19 12/3 35/17
35/19

pulied {51 12/4 35/4 110/11
129/17 161/20

pulling [2] 163/8 163/9
pulses [1]226/8

pump [1] 122/15

pumps [1] 105/18
punctured {2} 101/19 102/2
purpose [1] 184/8
purposes [3] 168/22 175/3
208/17

pushing [1] 159/19

put [1179/3 66/1 71/12
72/25 95/19 119/8 155/5
172/5 192/10 195/24 225/10
puttmg [1] 105/5

Q

q's (1] 158/19
qualifying [1]215/14

24/9 24/22 61/18 88/14 112/5quantifying [1] 215/13

134/20 136/10 141/23 161/8
194/18 195/22 199/6 199/23
207/2 219/6 219/11 224/24
22815 228/6 232/7 236/12
problem [10] 9/21 30/17
33/572/1 81/9 81/12 179/17
183/6 185/10 238/8
problems [2] 7/1 110/5
procedurai (1] 54/12

quanfitatmg [1]215/10
quantity [1] 229/6

quarter {1} 134/16
quaverly [4] 1/47 239/3
239/8 239/12

guestions [291 9/4 49/16
51/3 53/19 59/1 60/18 68/14

36/4 80/16 80/18 97/12 103/1
103/2 103/3 103/7 11222
125/12 126/17 127/22 127124
132/21 133/10

range {4] 62/6 139/20 140/4
160/10 230723

range's {1} 140/4

ranging [2} 6/7 6/14

rapidly {1] 234/13

vate {11218/25

rates {11 219/1

rather {4] 72/8 72/9 230/23
232/2

ray [1] 201/8

rayed [1]201/6

rays {1]201/24

reach [2].78/9 194/4
reached {1} 195/4

react [2] 67/21 115/8

read [7] 6/10 45/13 45/15
45/15 45122 45/24 129/2
readable [1] 200/16

reading [11] 15/12 15/13
26/4 26/6 103/17 107/8
128/13 149/22 164/18 221/22
226/6

real [3] 34/21 117/4 149/13
realized [3] 8/4 51/25 186/1%
vealm {1} 236/7

rear [1]33/2

reason {6] 5/24 10/14 50/22
92/12 130/14 176/6
reasonable (5] 216/4 221/]
232/4 236/% 236/21

receive (4] 138/7 181/21
182/19 19973

received [12] 74/3 138/13

73/17 75/18 79/5 90/17 90/21149/13 152/3 152/11 154/9
95/3 95/8 118/3 122/5 126/10




155/21 159/4 160/1 186/5  relationship (2] 137/16

202/9215/16 150/3

receives {11 155/12 relative [1] 205/2
recerving (2] 149/2 158/22  relax [1] 231/20

recent [1] 139/10 relevant {1]205/2
recently {1} 125/20 rehable {4) 78/14 78/15
recess [5] 134/12 134/13  215/10215/22

187/6 187/16 237/14 relied {11 207/19
reckon {1] 9/12 relieve {171229/25
recognize [7) 64/9 150/15  rely [1}215/23

151/12 204/20207/10 207/24remam [1] 36/18
208/12 remams [1] 54/14

recollection {5] 157/2 159/12remind [3] 54/8 54/12 54/20 217/25218/9 218/16 219/22

162/24 19377 233/23
record [21]5/1 5/221/10  rent[1] 101/17
26/3 103/6 134/14 135/13  reparr [2] 69/25 70/1
145/16 153721 155/10 159/21 repawrs {1] 77/5

remove (1] 180/10

responsibilities [7] 77/24
78/2 7814 197/23 197/24
198/13 199/24
responsibility [2] 54/13
200/1

rest (1] 116/17

result {12} 69/14 74/20
74/23 91/1 91/13 91/18
125/23 137/7 200/3 216/9
218/1 22017

results (12] 87/24 215/10
215/16 216/5 216/23 217/14

219/23 220/8

resume [3] 187/11 188/2
23711

resumed [1] 198/12

159/22 168/22 175/3 187/17 repeat {3] 65/24 99/4 220/11 resumes [2] 55/1 188/5

197/10208/13215/3 215/5 repeating {2] 184/6 184/6

233/20 239/5 repetitive [2] 184/4 184/4
recorded {3] 15/23 26/12  replaced [2] 180/12 180/14
65/6 report [26] 5/7 48/15 53/6

recording [1}239/6 81/10 156/8 157/6 160/22
records [21] 148/3 148/18  182/10 183/17 200/17 202/8
150/19 151/2 151/4 151723 202/12 206/3 207/1 207/11
152/16 153/18 154/12 155/20207/13 207/17 207/24 208/4
156/3 158/12 158/16 159/12 208/16 208/18 211/13 215/4
180/17 182/1 184/25 194/11 215/6 216/18 231/7

215/2221/21 233/20 reported [4] 60/3 92/17

recovered {2] 228/16 229/1 97/21221/9

recross {1]3/4 reports [4] 145/4 226/6
redfield 1] 1/37 22717 228/16

redirect {2} 3/4 225/19 represent [5] 68/13 73/22
reduce [17231/18 132/23 226/20 229720
refer 2] 148/17 151/3 representation {2] 172/10
reference [4] 26/4 156/20  206/8

157/1 206/25

referencing [1]207/10
referred {1} 146/14
referrmg [8] 46/18 81/18
88/12 128/22 141/8 160/13
174/10 177/11

reflect {2] 76/4 233/20
reflected {1]233/20
refresh [4] 56/12 157/2
162/24 233/23

refreshed [2] 56/8 193/19
refreshes {1] 193/6
regard {9] 91/2 95/4 145/4
203/9 206/13 209/20 219/8

represented [1] 69/9
represents {1] 145/12
request [3] 214/17 216/19
220/9

require [1] 140/14
required [1} 189/7
residence [1] 143/13
residency [1] 198/8
residential [1] 69/23
resolution [1] 72/1

respect {13] 7/5 69/5 7724
80/24 89/18 128/1 128/6

219/22225/4 228/2 228/15
regarding [3] 186/5 129/25 respord [4] 37/ 156/4
208/22 183/12 183/23

regret {1} 94/15

rehab [1} 117/10
related [5] 140/1 179/18
199/11 217/7 239/13
relation {1} 20573

responded (5] 71/15 71/17
158/23 186/7 193/14
responding [1] 186/1
response [5] 10/17 61/13
TSITT 156/12 156/15

retamned {17 201/7

retrieve (1] 169/10
retrieved [2] 168/8 190/6
returned [2] 80/5 181/8
review {3] 159/11 220/25
221720

reviewed [2] 208/17 223/1
reviewing [4] 156/4 193/19
220/8 227/15

rules [2] 54/12 63/22

run {7] 38/16 35/12 40/2
40/4 41/12 115/12 131/9
runmng {29] 33/18 33/22
34/8 34/13 38/24 38/25 39/23
40/9 40/13 42/4 42/10 43/9
43/10 43/16 43/20 44/1 47/10
60/16 61/22 61/23 62/1 62/2
62/2 62/10 99/15 100/2
100/11 100/19 22114

runs {271 37/3 62/10

rusthng (1] 177/8

S

sac [2]1212/17 212/18
safety [1] 73/11

same [36] 10/13 31/3 70/12
98/11 101/4 107/4 113/4
113/5 144/25 145/6 145/18
152/9 154/22 156/19 157/1
157116 166/6 167/17 170/16
170/16 170/16 170/16 171/3
173/3 173/18 175/10 181/17
181/19 192/18 211/19 211/20
213/22 228/7 228/9 231/17
235/10

revising {4122/6 47/11 47/12sample (1] 215/21

47/15
rib [10] 209/24 210/5 210/5

samples {5]201/18 214/6
214/8 214/9 216/19

210/18 210/18210/22 212/16sat [2] 117/11 161/4

212/25213/2 21372

ribs {8] 86/10 91/22 98/9
209/23 210/3 210/23 212/15
212/24 213/3

ribs' [11213/3

rid (1] 183720

righthand [1] 168/12
ronnie's 2] 150/25 157/18
room (44] 3/32 14/24 15/14

saturday [17] 70/13 78/17
78/18 82/7 101/6 109/3
109/18 109/20 109/21 109/22
110/1 137/3 160/21 161/6
161/7 161/8 164/3
saturdays {2] 82/11 109/19
save [1] 72/14

saving {1]225/4

saw [79] 5/6 11/12 14/9

requested {2] 207/19 208/14 17/25 28/20 29/2 29/22 30/2 14/11 14/13 15/2 15/2 15/7

32/4 42/22 46/25 57/18 64/1417/11 17/12 18/20 21/5 21/21

94/11 97/12 114/2 122/6
122/11 122/22 122/23 123/}
123/2 139/3 139/9 139/10
139/12 139/13 141/16 15572

22/2.22/8 23/6 23/6 24/21
25/6 25/6 26/19 38/24 38/24
39/12 40/9 40/10 40/16 42/13
48/8 48/8 60/1 60/14 60/16

157/19 166/17 166/17 167/1260/24 61/5 61/5 61/6 61/6

168/3 168/5 168/5 168/20
169/8 169/13 176/12 196/3

129/12 130/16 130/19 130/21225/7 232/11 232/20

roommate [6] 9/12 104/9

61/11 65/21 72/12 82/17
82/19 83/6 89/9 93/18 93/20
94/16 96/12 97/1 97/9 97/16
97/24 101/9 101/106 161/10

104/11 104/11 104/12 138/18106/16 108/2 115/17 118/4

roommates [2] 8/1 181/16
rothenberg [4] 1/47 239/3
239/8 239/12

round [2] 71/1 203720
routine [11214/23
routinely {1]214/17

118/10 121/12 121/21 125/4
138/1 150/9 152/22 162/2
166/2 173/3 173/4 173/12
173/14 173/1S 174/16 174/20
186/16 196/2 219/22




scared [8] 65/25 67/19 67/21 57/4 57/9 57/13 60/16 76/11 set [11] 136/19 136/22
86/23 113/13 113/14 113/16 76/14 78/21 83/7 83/10 85/25136/25 142/7 160/25 168/10

119/3

sears [2] 200/10 201/13
scary [4] 22/5 12071 120/2
12073

scenario [1] 235/3

scene [13] 7/24 33/15 34/6

86/19 91/15 92/19 93/17

190/15 191/4 191/7 237124

94/24 95/5 95/10 95/13 95/14238/18
95/24 95/24 96/1 96/11 96/19setting [2] 236/12 238/4

96/25 97/9 99/14 100/23
101/7 101/19 105/12 106/6
106/6 106/14 106/15 106/19

38/22 38/23 43/4 61/24 62/16107/6 107/8 109/24 110/15

71/15 95/14 125/5 225/4
236/13

schedule [1] 70/17
scheduled [2]79/2 137/5
scheduling {1] 134/18

111/22 111/25 114/15 115/8
115/15 118/12 115/6 121720
122/7 122/8 123/16 124/4
124/5 127/25 128/5 129/11
13117 137/13 141/3 141/5

school [4] 198/5 198/6 198/7 145/12 147/15 148/5 148/20

198/9

science {17 238/8

seratches [2] 213/20 222/7
scream {1] 75/13
screamed [2] 12/5 12/5
screaming {5] 6/20 43/20
4471 81/23 102/16

screen [3] 214/23 217/12
217/12

search {17 64/3

seat (1] 55/8

secluded 1] 64/14

second {12} 30/2 54/2 145/5
182/16 195/2 209/23 210/18
224/4 224/7 224/11 224/15
224121

20/17 23/8 249 30/2 30/4
30/17 30/17 30/20 43/19
53/16 53/16 57/12 57/13
ST/LS 5917 62/1 89/15 93/5
93/9 97/13 119/10 147/18
147/24 148/8 148/15 151/10

150/22 151/24 152/8 15477
161/15 162/15 162/24 163/8
163/9 163/25 166/2 170/12
182/25 183/3 183/22 186/15
193/6 194/4 196/12 204/16
215/5 218/1222/17 236/7
seeing [3] 10/21 28/11
143/19

seem [1] 143/22

seemed {1] 12/19

seems [2] 226/6 232/4

setup [1] 143/8

seven [6] 103/20 103/21]
128/21 136/10 213/3 219/23
seventeen [1]30/17
several {7] 157/25 203/8
214/8 219/18 223/11 223/24
223/25

severe {2] 110/8 224/10
severity [2]224/9 234/13
shah [17] 3/21 4/6 4/11
133/19 134/23 187/9 187/19
196/15 197/2 197/5 197/11

100/10 115/7 116/1 131/7
131/7 131/13 227/6

show {271 11/16 11/16 14/5
21/10 28/25 34/14 41/1 48/4
56/12 64/9 100/6 107/8
128/11 128/12 128/15 145/2
145/21 145/22 167/24 167/25
172/4 172/5 173/10 183/9
204711 205/2 233/15
showed [12]27/12 34/6
34/16 40/22 53/12 81/16
1067/22 145/6 150/13 16111
161/23 181/14

showing (7] 18/15 39/9
146/1 168/1 204/20 206/7
233/13

shown [1] 168/23

205/10 222/24 225/19 226/16shows {5} 28/9 48/3 204/22

229/18 229/20

shape [1j 63/17

sheet [2])208/7 227/14
sheets [1] 208/6

shaft (3] 33713 43/4 109/22
shufts [1] 77/2

shin [1]203/6

shirt [3) 86/18 86/19222/9

seen (42] 6/20 6/20 7/21 7/23shit [7] 154/19 156/17
14/2 16/16 21/8 23/10 23/10 157/12 157/19 158/19 166/18s1ght {21 30/15 104/22
24/18 24/19 29/3 30/3 42/10 17113

61/24 61/24 62/4 62/7 63/15 shocked [2] 15/13 59/10
71/25 75/11 75/13 76/2 76/9 shoot [2] 60/24 73/14
seconds [46] 13/1 13/3 17/1089/15 92/10 93/4 93/10 95/25shooter [5] 221/9 221/11

96/17 97/21 101/11 101/15
106/8 112/1 116/4 117/15
118/6 120/24 196/7 196/8
217/25

seizure (1] 65/9

seizures {1] 230/6

151/14 151/19 153/24 155/13send [2] 74/19 154/10

155/16 158/14 180/21 182/6
182/12 185/3 185/6 194/14
194/23 195/5 195/8 195/11
195/22 226110

seconds' [1] 147/18
section {6] 16/4 16/12 19/1
130/15 145/4 {45/5
sections [1] 145/17
sedative [1] 159/4

see [136] 6/108/19 11/22
11/25 12/3 13/21 16/9 16/17

sense [4] 28/2 49/19 59/25
96/17

sent {17201/19

separate [1]231/10
separated [3] 63/2 63/23
141/15

separately {1]63/12
separating (3] 20/3 21/11
85/13

september [1] 199/6
sequence [2] 26/22 234/16

16/17 17/11 18/25 19/3 19/18sequestration [1] 4/18
20/12 20/20 21/15 21/18 22/3series {7] 138/7 151/3 156/12131/17 160/7 221/11 222/16
22/1022/1523/1 23/3 23/25 161/24 186/4 186/10 208/22 223/3 224/19 224/25 227/16

25/3 26/17 32/20 33/8 34/14
35/5 35/7 35/17 35/19 35/21

served [2] 52/7 102/9
service [7} 65/18 136/6

221714 234/25 235/1
shooting [13] 42/6 42/9
49/24 60/21 61/11 74/1 82/8
86/4 101/7 129/21 130/4
223/20227/6

shootings [3} 223/23 227/3
227123

shop [4] 22/12 69/24 69/25
70/1

short {1] 234/14

shorter {1] 232/1

shortly [8] 8/6 10/13 10/23
82/24 97/13 105/24 179/12
17925

shot [30]25/10 41/20 41/24

206/4 206/16

sic [15] 9/23 17/19 28/20
29/22 43/3 95/24 157/17
159/4 160/7 183/20 198/12
212/2 221/12 228/17 229/3
side [14] 24/7 41/16 60/23
82/19 83/9 119/13 129/21
141/6 141/7 168/24 169/1
174/25 209/23 212/20

signature {27 64/11 200/5
signed [3] 64/8 64/12 64/16
significance [2] 209/13
217/16

significant [1] 203/5
similar {2] 171/3 178/21
similarly {1] 209/20

simple [2] 9/20 72/4
simultaneous [2] 67/6 180/2
single [1192/8

site {1124/20

sitting (3] 172/2 172/3 17713
situation 5] 9/23 81/10
143/1 179/8 189/22
situations {1} 203/21

six {9} 17/1 §7/17 104/24
105/18 108/21 108/24 109/17
136/10 15115

sixt {11 19/7

41125 45/1 48/18 49/21 60/19sixteen {17 103/11

61/6 61/9 62/6 62/11 62/11
73/6 110/2 115/18 115/19
115/22 115/24 129/5 129/18

23572
shots [18] 40/8 41/21 42/10

38/6 38/16 39/20 39/23 35/25136/7 157/18 158/23 160/22 43/22 43/24 46/19 99/15
40/1 40/14 42/25 43720 43/25161/10

4411 A6/17 47/8 47/19 48/9

99/1% 100/5 100/8 100/9

size [1]1211/19

skinny [4] 43/17 43/18 86/19
99/25

slack [2] 92/9 92/11

stightly {4] 211/16 211/16
213/9 236/16

smack [1] 157/18

small [8] 57/18 122/24 123/1
170/7 170/8 170/9 209/7
213/19




smalier [1] 194712
smashed [3] 169/22 175/13
177/1

smashing {1] 150/25
smoke 2] 17/19 101/17
sober [4] 116/8 116/10
116/14 116/16

socialze [ 1] 146/5

sofas [1] 139/13

soft [1]209/15

sometimes [6} 99/9 201/19
225/11 227/7 22713 227/14
somewhere [4} 77/3 195/9
213/1230/22

som {17 135/20

soon [4] 50/17 51/24 65/12
148/24

sort [3173/12222/19 236/13 150/25 157/18 166/19 177/7

sought [1] 233/24

sound [4] 5/17 6/13 177/15
239/6

sounded [2] 5/10 6/22

sounds [4] 10/5 10/5 127/19 state [12]5/1 71/9 72/23

230/23

space [7] 209/24 210/2 210/4135/12 197/9 200/13 236/9
210/18 212/15 212/15 212/23stated [1] 62/16

speak {7] 63/20 65/5 75/20
137/11 139/10 150/1 161/15
speaker [25] 167/8 167/10
168/9169/18 170/1 170/2
170/5 170/9 170/10 170/16
V717 Y738/9 L7111 171714
171/19 171722 17217 172/11

174/24 175/14 176/25
speakers [31 170/17 170725
1711

specific [13} 67/9 95/15
103/16 110/5 111/17 159/18
166/20 178/16 184/6 206/20
207/1 218/10 223/5

specifically [8] 45/14 201/19 stay {7} 10/9 17/12 131/15

201/25 202/24 206/3 216/9
217/1219/5

specified [1] 198/22
specify [1]219/19
speculating (5] 23/7 129/5
129/6 129/14 129/19
speech [2] 67/7 180/2
spell [4] 5/2 103/6 135/12
197/9

split [11 3372

spoke [10] 5/6 62/24 80/22
110/9 148/1 148/10 156/23
182/7 186/21 186/23
stable {21 7/2 228/25
stacey [1] 1/23

stawrs [8] 139/4 139/5 143/2
172/2 Y72/17 172/19 177/4
1776

starrway [1] 141/12

stand (7] 31/24 55/1 118/7
122/20 122/23 167/17 188/5
standing [21] 18/16 18/24
20/25 22/13 31/22 36/12
36/23 60123 85/22 87/18
94/23 96/3 9712 98/19 114/2
123/6 169/12 172/2 172/3
223/14 235/1

start [8] 9/9 31/3 77/22
134/1 145/23 154/23 164/8
193/10

started {12} 34/8 §0/16

97/22112/10 112/11 11212
112/13 114/3 117/16 123/4
sticker {2] 77/6 161/11

still [23] 7/25 24/7 24/11
33/1136/13 40/8 43/2 63/17
63/18 70/9 70/9 107/17

172/16 224122 232/19
stippling [2] 222/17 222/19
stop [9] 31/25 37/11 38/11
41/10 100/15 163/16 187/5

91/10 102/14 102/16 144/12 187/6 203/3

stopped {3] 13/23 100/11
17717 21212 137/9
starting {4] 43/1 54/16 stopwatch [1] 179/8
184/25 216/23

starts {1 20/15 139/4 141/3

street [8] 1/37 2/7 68/15
103/9 103/18 137/24 138/21
197/17 ’
strike [10] 50/5 111/22
113/23 137/16 151/6 164/8
47/1 73/12 87/15 164/19 186/4 195/1 195/}
staternents [1] 28/5 stroke [2] 125/20 126/3
station [47} 48/19 48/20 63/1struck [1] 174/24

64/13 64/15 64/23 65/5 69/22structure {1] 68/21

74/14 87/16 95/17 98/12 stuff [19] 12/9 33/12 43/4

TH3 777 8717 103/5 129/4

statement [5] 28/9 46/19

24/21 26/13 28/18 48/16 49/Ssupposed [1] 56/7
66/4 66/14 67/10 72/16 72/25surface [1] 236/14
89/15 89/17 95/2 96/13 96/17surgery [1] 156/17

surprised [1] 95/9
surveillance [4] 63/24 64/3
65/593/15

stickers [3] 77/5 77/5 161/12 suspect [1]149/12

suspend [1] 196/17
sustained [8] 80/9 82/5
87/13 88/21 88/23 90/6 50/12

107/18 107/20 107/23 113/18236/25
113/21 139/12 139/13 164/2Ssutures [2] 204/24 205/11

suv [3135/4 35/6 35/17
sweatshirt {11 29/14

switch {1] 151722

sworn [4] 4/23 103/2 135/7
19712

symmetrical {1] 203/20
symmetry [1] 203/25
system [6] 63/25 64/6 217/6

straight [5] 15/19 96/7 139/1229/6 229/22 231/1

T

tab [1] 147/11

table [15] 11/23 89/5 89/12
94/17 94/21 100/24 101/7
111/23 111/24 118/6 148/24
154/14 157/13 168/3 196/5
tackle [2] 72/12 72/15
taking [3] 26/14 134/5
215/11

103/17 104/24 105/14 105/1867/13 78/12 78/24 79/1 81/23talal [7] 3/6 4/23 4/24 5/3
172/25 173/21 174113 174/22108/4 108/21 109/19 113/19 86/10 94/9 98/5 101/18

132/11 117/12 117/13 120/15109/10 119/24 139/15 166/5
120/22 120/24 120/25 122/6 166/8 171/12 176/8

122/14 125/1 125/2 129/22  stupid [2] 17/15 17/17
130/7 130/22 131/24 131725 submutted [1]214/10

132/7 136/18 139/21 141/3 subpoena [2} 52/6 52/7
142/3 150/3 150/5 158/24  subsequently [1] 208/3
160/22 161/10 181/9 subspecialty {11 198/23
substance {5] 16/25 17/20
153/12 155/23 155/24 156/1720/13 48/2 76/3

stayed [7] 7/7 63/7 63/9
95/16 101/5 118/17 118/19

staying [1] 144/12 228122
steal [1] 94/9 sued [1} 69/14
step [3]141/1 41/3 54/2 suggest [1] 55/25

stepping [1] 133/12
steps [9] 54/7 102/25 131/16 suite [1] 1/37

133/14 187/15197/1 200/7  suited [1] 214/6

201/3 237/10 summarize [1] 73/12
stereo {11 173/24 sunday {3] 101/6 109/20

stick [44] 1122 12/1 13/5  155/24
13/9 14/3 14/4 14/9 14/13  super [2] 89/22 89/24
14/17 15/7 16/7 16/8 18/18  superficial [1]213/19

18/20 18/21 18/21 22/14
22/17 23/11 24/10 24/11

superior {1} 187/19
supper [1] 106/24

68/9 73/20 93/13

talk [19] 32/20 53/9 55/12
59/8 63714 90/22 90/23 9220
108/2 111/8 111/11 114/16
114719 114/20 123/18 125/3
125/6 157/18 195/16

talked [13) 5/13 6/21 7/25
10/19 11/1 48/21 59/21 59/22
81/9 97/5 108/6 157/19
182/16

substances [7] 116/9 214/18 talking [31] 8/5 9/25 11/13
216/20 218/23 219/10 228/1522/20 25/22 36/12 53/1 55/18

82/19 83/16 84/6 92/3 92/3
95/1595/21 108/8 109/4
109/5111/10 114/2 114/6

suggested (3] 57/3 58/4 94/8 114/6 130/6 161/5 162/19

165/1192/12 192/14 230/9
230/12 230/13

tall [13} 24/18 24/18 24/19
25/125/4 25/4 34/13 43/17
48/21 95/13 95/20 98/13
98/14 99/25

tank [1] 78/5

tape {3} 27/12 39/17 57/14
tapes {1] 64/3




tattoos [2] 200/10 201/14
tears [1]203/24
techmcians {1] 202/9
teeth [1] 148/23

thereof {1]1239/6

thing [11] 13/1 22/14 24/16
61/22 118/8 144/4 144/25
145/6 145/18 157/1 166/6

telephone [2] 7/15 114/19  third [4] 212/14 212/15
ten [2] 78/18 104/5 212/16 213/2

tenant (1] 125/17 thirty (3] 147/12 151/14
tenants [3] 10/8 139/17 161/22

141/21 thoracotomy [4] 203/1

tending {1 62/25

tends (2] 215/12 215/23
tenth {6] 210/3 210/23
212/23 212/24 212/25 21372
term [1] 14472

terms [45] 12/14 26/2 43/23
65/4 65/8 111/21 113/22
116/3 122/18 134/18 137/23
138/22 139/12 139/16 140/6
143/13 150/2 151/2 155/9
168/1 175/17 180/16 181/12
181/21 182/22 192/23 193/2
198/16 202/6 202/20 205/19

204/24 205/11 225/7
thorn [4] 146/12 162/12

181/13

thorn's [3] 163/12 164/14
181/13

thoroughly [1]1201/15
threaten [2] 15/9 89/9
threatened (5} 13/5 13/9
14/1 14/2 72/18
threatemmg [3] 13/22 23/11
86/17

three [8] 29/3 37/20 57/10

208/16 210/17 211/13 213/1797/13 179/12 198/20 216/12
214/5215/2215/9217/12  219/3

219/10 221/7 221/20 222/2  threshold (3] 20/9 25/2
222/13 225/25 169/16

test [2]231/4232/6 threw [3] 171/11 171/14
tested {1] 214/22 172/11

testified [8] 14/6 67/18 96/1
98/23 99/6 126/19 218/24
224/15

testifies [1] 187/21

testify [2] 49/23 52/6

throw {1] 173/21
thrown [1] 174/22
thursday [1] 70/17
timeline [1] 18/2

times [9] 17/24 29/3 29/5

testimony [19) 5/4 5/5 13/13 48/8 57/10 65/10 194/6 194/9transpired [1] 189/19

21/4 21/21 22/6 2217 34/15  216/12

47711 49/9 56/8 56/11 56/16 timestamp [6] 18/5 29/5
59/12 98/6 99/14 134/8 25/6 30/10 34/21 164/5
175/13 22513 timestamped [1] 163/2
testing [4] 214/5 21477 timestamps [1] 181/12
215/21 216/17 tire [6] 179/20 180/6 180/10
tests [1] 220/8 180/12 180/14 181/}

text [11] 138/10 152/2 tired {3] 149/4 159/3 159/6
152/11 154/9 154/18 155/21 tissue [1]209/15

156/22 160/1 182/19 183/4  tobin [1} 1/36

183/12 today [13] 4/3 4/4 47/11
texted [21] 148/23 149/10  59/24 68/14 114/7 134/20
152721 153/1 153/5 153/7  136/11 145/11 150/10 176/1
153/12 153/15 154/14 155/1 185/23 204/14 226/21

155/6 157/7157/12 157/17  today's [1] 150/10

158/17 160/6 183/20 185/9 together [7] 57/1 59/20 63/1
185/19 185/22 185/25 63/4 63/5 162/19 164/25
texting [1] 150/24 tolerances [1]217/21

texts [S] 76/16 149/16 tomorrow [11] 134/17
154/22 156/12 186/16
thanks {3] 133/8 133/13
187/14 238/14238/19
the [21218/10 218/11 ton [1] 190/15
thereabouts [2] 18/14 107/9 tone [1] 176/14

196/19 237/22 238/5 238/7

162/13 163/12 164/14 164/23toward {1] 169/24

134/18 155/22 155/23 158/18truth [2] 54/10 60/3

tonight [2] 158/19 160/1 trying [25] 8/25 28/5 28/14
tony [1] 56/1 31/24 49/6 54/9 54/10 87/23
top {16]43/1 139/5 167/11  87/24 95/24 110/25 111/20
167/18 168/10 168/13 170/12125/2 130/23 154/23 159/19
200/11 209/2 209/3 209/6  178/22 179/1 180/4 183/13

210/7210/12 211/17 211/25 183720 191/3 192/17 222/9

21272 227/13

total [1] 36/8 tube [1] 203/8

totally {1] 65/13 tuesday {11 109/20

touching [2] 166/25 186/1  turn {67 8/19 17/2 22/2

tow [2] 78/12 78/12 112/12 140/15 200/15
turned [5]20/11 21/8 22/15

towards [11] 19/22 20/11  92/14 95/25

35/24 38/6 38/14 40/4 42/4  turns [1] 164/18

93/4 118/15 164/18 221/14  turtle [1] 78/S

town {1] 78/7

toxicology [10] 207/17
207/24 214/5 214/7 214/17
215/4215/6 215/10 216/18
228/16

track {2] 26/5 209/17
training [3] 204/4 220/25
221/15

trajectory [1}213/7
transaction {17 150/5
transcriber [2] 1/48 239/3
transcript [9] 9/3 47/19
47125 50/25 95/7 128/10

tv [14]) 139/13 139/15 167/2
167/11 167/13 167/17 167/18
167/21 168/3 168/10 168/15
168/24 170/12 171/11
twelve [1] 161/22

twenty (3] 9/9 30/20 180/21
twice [S] 60/25 62/14 129/18
221/11 22716

twin [1] 170723

twao [66]4/11 7/2 9/9 15/16
18/15 18/23 18/24 22/10
22/13 27121 35/23 37/20 62/1
89/15 93/17 93/23 97/1 9717
193/9 193/19 239/10 101/5 105/12 105/15 105/16
transeripts [1] 1/47 115/2 118/3 122/14 122/17
transmssion [3] 26/16 26/16122/18 122/20 122/22 126/19
26/18 126/22 133/1 133/20 133/20
transmussions [1] 26/4 134/2 134/25 145/17 152/23
167/24 167/25 170/17 180/21
transportation [1] 179/19  181/16 187/9 203/15 203/16
trasher {1] 157/17 204/5 204/8 205/3 205/16
treatment [2] 202/22 233/18 205/20 205/23 206/2 206/13
tree [2] 121/21 121/22 210/1216/5218/10 21972
tremont {13 2/7 219/23 219/23 221/17 222/5
trial {3} 1/7 54/17 239/9 222/5224/12 227/20 233/10
tried [9] 10/11 28/20 85/1  type [6] 68/20 143/1 200/4
96/18 157/21 158/14 189/13 222/7 225/24 231/17

189721 194/4 types [3] 202/24 214/22
trooper [15] 4/6 4/7 9/10  222/3

44/9 52/19 52/23 57/20 58/13typical {11 216/11

129/4 129/7 129/10 129/15  typically [3182/10 203/20

128/24 133/20 133/21 205/23

troopers [1] 133/20

trouble [3] 127/25 128/6 U

129/12

truek [2] 62/21 78/12 ultimate [1]207/20
true [4]48/2 51/20 215/24  ultimately [1] 208/10
239/4 unclear [1] 39/6

under [13] 65/11 65/22
66/12 67/4 61/24 76/12 76/14
101/11 116/4 116/8 120/4
159/5 200/4

undergrad [1] 198/4

truthfully [1] 106/21

try [117 8/13 24/3 4624
54/18 122/15 153/19 167/19
190/7 194/3 203/3 232/13




understand [12] 27/20 54/23useful [1] 215/14
56/2 69/22 91/17 92/8 130/19using [5] 12/20 144/22

146/6 154/23 159/21 167/20
172/20

understanding {3]27/24
92/12 179/7

understood [1] 61/17
unfortunately [2] 94/1
184/14

university [2] 198/5 198/5
unlock [6] 44/13 123/25
140/19 140/24 190/7 190/7
unlocked {30] 14/7 28/21
29/25 30/3 37/14 44/7 45/3

144/23 176/7 176/14
usually [18] 5/22 6/7 94/9
105/7 187/21 192/9 200/12
201/8 202/10 205/23 214/8
215/12 215/13 215/23 215/25
219/6 222/19 232/13

A%
value [1]215/24

values [2] 228/25 229/1
various [1] 208/12

45/5 45/13 46/12 46/13 46/13vehicle [10] 35/4 35/19

46/22 46/24 47716 48/13

163/8 163/12 163/20 164/14

voice [5) 5/11 5/12 6/15 6/22 weight [3] 202/7 202/10

176/14
volume [4] 1/1 176/19
176/20 176/21

w

waist {1]1221/14

wait [4] 23/25 107/12 238/7
238/12

waited [1} 57/5

214/1

welcome [2] 66/25 133/9
_whereas [2]203/23 219/2
whether [58] 22/25 27/23
44/3 45/11 66/12 71/3 86/13
91/15 94/4 107/3 107/17
107/18 108/2 110/9 113/23
123/23 126/14 137/4 138/1
139/17 141/25 143/9 144/1
148/1 148/10 149/2 149/13

waiting [10] 11/9 14/23 17/1 149/20 156/23 162/1 162/8

29/1 33/9 57/18 73/5 114/2
150/17 196/3

waiver [1] 64/16

wake [1] 150/25

162/20 166/22 173/18 175/23
181/2 182/5182/16 188/18
189/16 189/20 190/6 192/24
202/21 221/17 223/2 223/5

49/1151/25 55/16 57/11 99/9164/16 181/13 181/14 216/15walk [10] 20/20 85/25 86/2 223/14 223/14 224/4 224/17

99/11 114/8 123/23 124/6
124/13 124/19 124/23 165/5
165/10

unplug [1] 171/10
unplugged [1] 167/2

until [26] 11/17 17/1 32/8

vehieles [1] 35/23

vem {2]214/11 215/11
ventricle [1]212/19
verbally {2] 77/19 206/2
version [1}24/14

very [26] 8/6 10/12 15/12

42124 46/16 47/3 47/5 47/18 45/13 49/10 56/5 56/571/24
47/20 47/23 50/1 50/1 60/12 75/21 78/15 82/24 85/20
63/10 63/23 72/13 74/7 99/1589/20 92/10 97/12 122/24

108/21 121/20 156/5 188/2

154/15 183/13 203/20 203/21

127/14 138/24 139/1 140/3
141/1 141/1 166/2
walked [14] 20/11 20/13

233123 234/5 235/2 235122
235/23 236/10 236/13
whate [5] 34/24 35/19 86/19

24/9 25/128/10 29/22 131/16163/20 202/15

150/4 162/15 162/19 164/25
165/2 165/23 188/10
walking [6] 19/19 20/15
36/15 38/6 163/19 164/1
walks [5] 19/22 20/23 33/11
36/1 43/2

225/8237/22 238/7238/12  203/23 215/1 218/18 226/10 wall [1] 102/2

unusual [1]218/1

237/8 238/3

up {527 6/12 12/4 14/2 20/16 vessel [2] 214/12 215/11

20/2023/1625/1 28/4 28/8
34/6 41/6 42124 50/22 5318
74/18 75/20 76124 T1/16
77122 81/17 85/23 86/21
91/1197/5 107/8 107/22
108/2 108/21 110/11 116/13
118/14 119/8 115/9 121/3
121/6 121/12 121/13 128/15
131/16 139/5 153/8 155/23
156/16 160/2 161/1 161/20
163/9 168/24 181/18 183/15
225/8 235/24

upon [10] 199/15 204/3
207/19 209/2 210/24 213/6
216/6 220/24 221/15 226/7
upper [5] 204/6 208/25
209/25211/14 212/21

upset {3] 112/3 131/11
176/16

upstairs [4] 141/13 177/8
177/10 189/1

vest {1]228/13

vi[l] 1/1

victim [1]228/7

victor [3} 2/4 73/22 229/20
video [53] 14/5 16/5 16/12
18/4 18/7 19/8 19/14 19/20
20/18 28/9 28/25 25/4 29/7

walls [2] 101/18 101/19
wang [4] 3/37 233/9 233/11
233/13

warrant [4] 8/23 8/24 9/13
9/18 9/20

wasted {1] 157/8

watch [5]35/13 89/24
139/15 155/24 158/18
watched [2] 29/4 57/11

29/20 30/11 30/18 31/4 31/10watching [1] 93/6
34/14 34/22 35/15 37/18 38/2waving [2] 18/15 24/10
38/24 39/14 39/20 39/21 41/Tway (31] 12/19 22/15 23/9

41/17 46/17 48/3 48/4 53/12
53/15 57/11 60/1 60/17 64/3
6416 65/5 65/5 93/4 150/9
150/13 162/23 163/2 163/5

33/20 43/10 73/10 76/15
78/16 78/22 81/16 81/21
86/17 88/8 89/10 97/5 97/20
124/2 124/14 130/2 142/10

who've [1] 197/25

whoever [1]227/8

whole [8] 5/16 12/24 44/10
60/1 115/17 141/10 144/11
179/3

why'd {2] 119/17 123/20
wider [2] 172/19 174/19
wife [3] 76/6 76/7 135/20
will [15] 4/11 13/10 45/25
70/14 76/4 77116 78/9 155/24
158/17 160/2 162/24 168/S
206/20 208/17 237/22
willing [1] 64/2

wilmington {47 135/18
135/19 138/5 147/7

window [51]9/24 10/21 11/2
11/1411/25 12/3 12/4 12/6
13/3 18/25 20/5 21/15 21/17
21722 22/1 22/8 22/10 22/11
22/1122/12 22/20 23/1 25/22
25/2526/24 26125 28/11
28/1231/22 33/2 33/3 48/15
7216 85/17 85/20 85/23 86/1

163/13 163/23 164/11 181/14142/22 152/22 155/23 155/2587/18 88/2 91/14 91/18 96/4

196/2 196/8

videos [2] 28/11 161/24
videotape [2] 35/13 57/9
view [5] 53/25 54/16 100/24
162/23 174/19

violent {3] 75/14 76/15

use {9] 9/7 12/1 12/21 140/17101/18

157/13 191/16 191/17 216/4
232/11

used [13177/7 77/8 126/1
139/12 140/9 140/12 157/12
157/13 190/6 230/1 230/3
230/4231/18

violently [1] 75/12

vision [1] 94/24

vitreous [6] 214/15215/18
215/21 215/23 2259/4 229/5
vitriol {11 229/3

205/20 209/4 216/13 21717
220/1 226/8 235/10

ways [2] 77/7 140/7
weaker [1] 76/1

weapon [5] 75/5 76/9 76/11
76/13 88/13

weapons [1] 88/17
wearing [3] 184/4 184/5
222/16

week [3] 70/12 70/15 78/5
weeks [4] 143/22 218/19
219/3 230/23

weighed [1]202/13

86/19 96/20 97/2 9712 97/4
97/598/15 114/16 122/7
windows [1] 141/7

wish [6] 51/16 51/16 51/17
51/19 72/11 72/12

wished [2] 55/16 72/10
within [18] 10/24 62/1
125/20 157/25 210/17 213/14
213/16 219/10 219/11 215/12
219/16 215/24 221/10 229/6
230/22 236/5 236/5 236/6
without [1] 57/14




witness [151] 4/24-18/24 worked [8] 70/16 77/2 86/21
19/10 19/12 24/24 27/20 39/5103/19 136/16 136/24 137/2
39/20 41/2 41/5 46/6 46/8  197/20

54/4 54/6 54/7 55/1 61/16  working [16]} 7/11 56/3 70/8
67/3 67/5 67/8 67/11 67/1S  70/10 70/11 74/12 94/5 104/1
67117 67/20 68/1 68/3 68/5 104/24 105/17 105/18 107/7
68/9 73/20 93/13 102/24 109/21 135/25 180/3 232/19
102/25 103/1103/3 112/25  works [1] 80/18

113/3 113/5 113/7 113/9 worn [1]231/4

117/22 118/9 118/11 118/14 worried [1}237/16

118/17 118/20 118/22 118/24worse [1] 113/1

119/1 119/3 119/5 119/8 worth [1]211/21

119/10 119/12 119/15 115/17wound [35] 203/18 203/19
119/22 119/24 120/1 120/3  204/2 206/5 208/24 209/1
120/6 120/8 120/10 120/14  209/5 209/9 209/12 209/14
120/17 120/19 121/1 121/3  209/16 209/17 209/20 210/9
121/5 121/7121/9 121711 210/25211/10 211/14 211/20
121/13 121/15 121719 121/22211/23 212/2 212/10 212/10
121/25 122/2 124/4 124/6  221/7 222/15 224/4 224/4
126/17 127/22 128/14 128/17224/10 224/14 224/21 224/23
128/21 128/25 129/3 130/6  224/23 224/25 225/1 234/14
132/21 133/11 133/13 133/14234/15

133/16 135/8 145/15 170/2  wounds [32] 199/22 201/16
170/4 170/6 170/8 170/10  203/2 203/15 203/16 203/20
170/12 170/19 170/21 173/23203/23 204/5 204/6 204/8
174/1 174/3 183/25 184/3  204/9 204/22 205/3 205/15
184/11 184/15 184/17 184/19205/20 205/23 206/9 206/14
187/7 187/10 187/12 187/14 208/18 210/7 213/12 220/14
187/15 188/5 188/6 191/6  221/6 221/17 221/18 224/3
191/9 191/11 191/14 191/18 224/12 227/21 227/25 228/6
191/20 191/22 196/19 196/21235/2 235/12

196/23 196/25 197/1 197/4  wrap [2] 134/16 183/15
197/5218/25219/11 219/13 wrestling [2] 177/8 177/15
219/17 222/24 225/19 226/16write [1] 78/10

229/10 229/18 232/13 232/15wniting [1] 208/18

232/18 232/21232/23 233/1 written [2] 64/5 239/4
233/16 233/25237/9 237/10 wrong [9] 26/1 26/22 42/7
witnessed [6] 10/25 12/14  42/15 57/7 58/16 195/18
12/24 60/21 65/9 85/23 195/19 198/6

witnesses [3] 3/4 4/17 wif [1] 148/25

134/19

woburn [3] 1/32 1/41 59/24 Y

woman [5] 40/11 41/12

106/16 186/22 186/24 ya [1] 106/10

won't [1] 46/25 yards {1] 60/25 61/12 62/6
word [2] 92/8 176/22 yards' [2] 60/25 62/6
words [6] 12/13 48/1 105/5 year [12] 55/4 56/5 56/15
115/22 166/20 175/22 57/21 59123 75/4 91/10

work [35] 7/8 8/14 65/16  143/22 144/9 176/2 198/10
70/12 76/25 77/1 79/2 85/4  199/2

85/7 85/9 99/5 103/16 105/7 years [18] 7/2 56/3 7419 75/2
105/8 105/11 105/15 105/16 77/1 77/6 103/11 103/20
109/18 109/20 111/5 130/21 103/21 104/5 136/1 136/10
131/23 135/23 137/7 137/9  136/10 137/22 197/15 197/19
139/21 155/25 160/22 161/14228/5 228/14

162/5 180/4 181/21 189/13  yelled 1] 166/22

198/2 198/16 yeller [2] 75/15 75/24

yelling {8] 130/4 176/17
176/18 176/19 176/21 177/7
177/7 193/13

yet [8] 7/20 70/8 71/1 75124
153/15 166/7 187/25 188/18
younger {1} 137/19

z

Zimmermann [1] 4/16




